THE BIOLOGY AND ECOLOGY OF HAWAIIAN BLACK CORALS (CNIDARIA: ANTHOZOA: HEXACORALLIA: ANTIPATHARIA)

A DISSERTATION SUBMITTED TO THE GRADUATE DIVISION OF THE UNIVERSITY OF HAWAI'I IN PARTIAL FULFILLMENT OF THE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE DEGREE OF

DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

IN

OCEANOGRAPHY (MARINE BIOLOGY)

DECEMBER 2011

By Daniel Wagner

Dissertation Committee:

Robert J. Toonen, Chairperson Jeffrey C. Drazen Mark A. Merrifield Christopher D. Kelley Leslie E. Watling We certify that we have read this dissertation and that, in our opinion, it is satisfactory in scope and quality as a dissertation for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy in Oceanography (Marine Biology).

DISSERTATION COMMITTEE

Chairperson

Copyright © 2011 by Daniel Wagner

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

First and foremost, I would like to express my profound gratitude to my faculty advisor Rob Toonen, for giving me the opportunity to pursue my graduate education in Hawai'i, and for always believing in me. It is only through his continuous guidance and support that I have been able to complete this work. I would also like to thank my committee members Chris Kelley, Jeff Drazen, Mark Merrifield and Les Watling for their time and effort in providing valuable feedback on my research. Special thanks to Dennis Opresko for sparking my interest in black corals, encouraging my research, and providing invaluable feedback along the way. I am further indebted to Tony Montgomery, whose pursuit to study black corals in Hawai'i has been inspirational, and provided a wealth of baseline information from which my research undoubtedly benefited. Rhian Waller provided constant encouragement, guidance, and feedback, for which I am especially thankful. Ruth Gates, Xavier Pochon and Leslie Irwin generously offered their laboratory resources, time and expertise to contribute to the study of *Symbiodinium* within black corals. I also thank Mercer Brugler and Scott France for all their time and efforts in providing molecular sequence data and valuable contributions to the taxonomic study of numerous black coral species. Joshua DeMello provided invaluable logistical and administrative support to this work.

Help with sample collections was provided by the captain and crew of *R/V Kaimikai-o-Kanaloa* and *R/V Hi'ialakai*, and by Terry Kerby, Max Cremer, Tony Montgomery, Jason Leonard, Paul Murakawa, Brett Schuhmacher, Ken Longenecker, Linda Marsh, Joe Heacock, Scott Reed, Peter Ricciardi, Chris Kelley, Yannis Papastamatiou, Randy Kosaki, Kelly Gleason, Greg McFall, Rich Pyle, Kyle Ryan, Ray Boland, John Rooney, Frank Parrish, Cori Kane, Joey DiBattista, Sam Kahng, Jeff Eble, Greg Concepcion, Zach Caldwell, Kydd Pollock, Robin Lee, Jill Quaintance, Kent Bachman, Dave Pence, Kevin Flanagan, Derek Smith, Keoki Stender, Brian Hauk, Kaylyn McCoy, Rhian Waller, Colleen Moriarty, Elizabeth Bates, Brian Bowen, Michelle Gaither, Tonatiuh Trejo, Matt Iacchei and Matt Craig.

I thank the staff of the National Museum of Natural History, Smithsonian Institution, for providing help in accessing material housed in their invertebrate zoology collections, and in particular to Stephen Cairns, Cheryl Bright, Geoff Keel and Bill Moser for their hospitality and support. Special thanks to Holly Bolick for facilitating work with the collections housed at the at Bernice P. Bishop Museum. Dan Luck provided precious assistance with performing a thorough review of the literature, for which I am particularly grateful. Special thanks to Marzia Bo, Tina Molodtsova, Elda Gaino, Karen Miller and Jim Maragos for supplying important information.

Help with the analyses using scanning electron microscopy was provided by Tina Carvalho, Marylin Dunlap and Scott Whittacker. Rhian Waller, Chris Kelley, Miyoko Bellinger, Ryan Macleod and Elizabeth Bates provided assistance with histological preparations. Help with molecular laboratory work was provided by Rob Toonen, Jinchen Guo, Roxanne Havernkort and Michelle Gaither. Thanks to Rob Toonen, Brian Bowen, Ruth Gates, Michael Rappe, Rhian Waller, Tina Carvalho, Les Watling, Vivek Nerurkar

vi

and Rick Grigg for providing space in their laboratories. I am further indebted to the entire staff of the Hawai'i Undersea Research Laboratory (HURL), and in particular to Chris Kelley and Deetsie Chave for help with surveying their archived video/photo records.

Financial support for this research was provided by the National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration (NOAA) Coastal Ocean Program (NA07NOS4780189 to the State of Hawai'i Department of Land and Natural Resources [DLNR]), the NOAA Coral Reef Conservation Program (NA05OAR4301108 to HURL), the NOAA Fisheries Disaster Relief Program (NA03NMF4520452 to the State of Hawai'i/DLNR), the Western Pacific Regional Fishery Management Council (NA09NMF4410038 and NA07NMF4410114 to the University of Hawai'i through NOAA's Coral Reef Conservation Grant Program), the National Science Foundation (OCE-0623678 to RJT), and the National Marine Sanctuary Program (NWHICRER MOA 2005-008/6882). Submersible support was provided by HURL. Finally, I would like to thank the Hawai'i Institute of Marine Biology (HIMB), and in particular Jo-Ann Leong, Malia Rivera and Mark Heckman, for providing me with a graduate assistantship to support my studies.

ABSTRACT

Antipatharians, commonly known as black corals, are treasured by many cultures for medicinal purposes and to produce jewelry. Despite their economic and cultural importance, very little is known about the basic biology and ecology of black corals, because most species inhabit deeper-water environments (> 50 m) which are logistically challenging to study. The objectives of this dissertation were to (1) comprehensively review the literature on the biology and ecology of black corals worldwide, (2) provide a taxonomic guide to the shallow-water (<200 m) antipatharian fauna from the Hawaiian Archipelago, and (3) examine sexual reproductive processes within *Antipathes griggi*, the dominant species targeted by the Hawaiian black coral fishery. The literature review reveals that despite encompassing close to 240 species that are found in diverse environments, there are a number of generalities in the biology and ecology of black corals. Most antipatharian species are found in tropical and subtropical regions below depths of 50 m, on areas with hard substrates, low-light and strong currents. Antipatharians are generally slow-growing and long-lived organisms with longevities ranging from decades to millennia. With the exception of a few predators, antipatharians appear to be little impacted by predation. Like other corals, antipatharians can be habitat engineers of importance to a myriad of associated fish and invertebrates, several of which are adapted to live exclusively on black corals.

A taxonomic guide to the shallow-water (<200 m) antipatharian fauna of the Hawaiian Archipelago was created by examining all available museum specimens from

viii

Hawaiian waters, as well as type material from species collected outside of Hawai'i. Based on these examinations eight species are identified from Hawai'i including (1) *Antipathes griggi* Opresko, 2009, (2) *Antipathes grandis* Verrill, 1928, (3) *Stichopathes echinulata* Brook, 1889, (4) an undescribed *Stichopathes* sp., (5) *Cirrhipathes* cf. *anguina* Dana, 1846, (6) *Aphanipathes verticillata* Brook, 1889, (7) *Acanthopathes undulata* (Van Pesch, 1914), and (8) *Myriopathes* cf. *ulex* (Ellis & Solander, 1786).

The sexual reproduction of *Antipathes griggi* was investigates using histological techniques. The results indicate that *A. griggi* is likely gonochoric with a 1:1 sex-ratio, and spawns continuously between June and December when temperatures are highest. Although, *A. griggi* can be found to depths of 100 m, it is rare below the 75 m depth limit at which commercial harvest occurs in Hawai'i. Thus, the supposed depth refuge from harvest does not really exist, thereby calling into question population models used for the management of the Hawaiian black coral fishery.

ABSTRACT	viii
TABLE OF CONTENTS	x
LIST OF TABLES	xii
LIST OF FIGURES	xiii
CHAPTER 1. INTRODUCTION	
CHAPTER 2. LITERATURE REVIEW	6
Introduction	
Materials and methods	
General morphology	9
Biogeography	
Habitat requirements	
Population densities	
Feeding and nutrition	
Sexual reproduction	
Asexual reproduction	
Growth rates and longevity	
Competition	
Predators and natural mortality	
Associated fauna	
Conclusion	
CHAPTER 3. TAXONOMIC STUDY	
Historical background	
Taxonomic history of Hawaiian black corals	
Materials and methods	
Results	
Systemtatic section	
Family Antipathidae	
Genus Antipathes	
Antipathes griggi	
Antipathes grandis	
Genus Cirrhipathes	
Cirrhipathes cf. anguina	
Genus Stichopathes	
Stichopathes echinulata	
Stichopathes? sp	
Family Aphanipathidae	
Subfamily Aphanipathinae	

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Genus Aphanipathes	
Aphanipathes verticillata	
Subfamily Acanthopathinae	
Genus Acanthopathes	
Acanthopathes undulata	
Family Myriopathidae	
Genus <i>Myriopathes</i>	
Myriopathes cf. ulex	
Species key of Hawaiian shallow-water antipatharians	
Conclusion	
CHAPTER 4. SEXUAL REPRODUCTION STUDY	
Introduction	
Materials and methods	
Sample collections	
Histology	
Results	
Reproductive strategy	102
Mode of reproduction	102
Reproductive cycle	
Minimum size of sexual maturity	107
Maximum depth of sexual reproduction	107
Discussion	109
Reproductive strategy	109
Mode of reproduction	
Reproductive cycle	114
Minimum size of sexual maturity	
Maximum depth of sexual reproduction	
Conclusion	
LIST OF ORIGINAL ARTICLES	
REFERENCES	

LIST OF TABLES

2.1	Published population densities of antipatharians	17
2.2	Published nitrogen stable isotope ratios in black corals	21
2.3	Published information on sexual reproduction of antipatharians	24
2.4	Published growth rate and longevity data of antipatharians	31
2.5	List of symbiotic organisms recorded from antipatharians	45
3.1	Hawaiian antipatharian samples examined for taxonomic study	61
3.2	Morphometric comparison of Hawaiian antipatharian species	65

LIST OF FIGURES

2.1	Different colony morphologies of antipatharians	10
2.2	Map of biogeographical distribution of antipatharians	13
3.1	Antipathes griggi	69
3.2	Antipathes grandis	72
3.3	Cirrhipathes cf. anguina	75
3.4	Stichopathes echinulata	79
3.5	Stichopathes? sp	82
3.6	Acanthopathes verticillata	86
3.7	Acanthopathes undulata	89
3.8	Myriopathes cf. ulex	
4.1	Map showing Antipathes griggi sampling locations for reproductive study	99
4.2	Histological sections of Antipathes griggi polyps	103
4.3	Reproductive output, temperature and photoperiod as a function of time	105
4.4	Gamete reproductive stage as a function of time	106
4.5	Proportion of sexually mature colonies as a function of colony height	108

CHAPTER 1. INTRODUCTION

The Hawaiian Islands are part of the geographically longest and geologically oldest volcanic chains on Earth. Extensive coral reefs exist on every island and shallow bank of the archipelago from the island of Hawai'i past Kure Atoll, over 2000 miles to the northwest (Grigg 1988a; Grigg 1997; Fletcher et al. 2008; Grigg et al. 2008). The vast geographic isolation of the Hawaiian Archipelago has produced a unique biodiversity that is marked by one of the highest levels of marine endemism recorded on Earth (Roberts et al. 2002; DeMartini & Friedlander 2004; Cowie & Holland 2006; Parrish & Baco 2007). While Hawai'i's terrestrial and shallow-water (40 m) marine biodiversity have been well surveyed and documented (Eldredge & Evenhuis 2003; Eldredge 2006), organisms that inhabit Hawai'i's deeper marine ecosystems remain only marginally explored (Baco 2007; Parrish & Baco 2007). Antipatharians, commonly known as black corals, represent one of such particularly undersurveyed taxonomic groups, as evidenced by the high rates of species discoveries from recent deep-water surveys around the Hawaiian Islands (Opresko 2003b; Opresko 2005a; Baco 2007; Parrish & Baco 2007).

The Antipatharia is an anthozoan order within the subclass Hexacorallia encompassing 7 families, 43 genera and over 235 species (Cairns 2007; Daly et al. 2007; Bo 2008). The order is characterized by (1) a skeleton that is primarily proteinaceous and covered with minute skeletal spines, (2) polyps with six unbranched tentacles that are non-retractile, (3) six primary mesenteries, and (4) exclusively colonial organisms (Opresko 1972; Opresko & Baron-Szabo 2001; Daly et al. 2003; Daly et al. 2007; Bo

2008). Black corals occur worldwide in all oceans from polar to tropical regions, and have a wide depth distribution ranging from 2 m for tropical wire corals (Brook 1889; Davis & Cohen 1968; Parrish & Baco 2007; Bo 2008) down to abyssal depths of over 8,600 m for species in the western Pacific (Pasternak 1977; Molodtsova et al. 2008). Despite this wide bathymetric range, black corals are primarily found in deep waters below the photic zone, with over 75% of the currently described species occurring below 50 m (Cairns 2007). At these depths black corals are often abundant and dominant components of the sessile invertebrate fauna (Genin et al. 1986; Opresko & Genin 1990; Chave & Malahoff 1998; Grigg 2001; Rogers et al. 2007; Bo et al. 2009b), and create habitat for a myriad of species and associates (Grigg 1964; Goenaga 1977; Grange 1991; Buhl-Mortensen & Mortensen 2004; Boland & Parrish 2005; Love et al. 2007; Molodtsova & Budaeva 2007; Tazioli et al. 2007). However, because most species are found below the depth limits of conventional SCUBA diving, very little is known about the basic biology and ecology of black corals.

In Hawai'i black corals are of particular importance, not just from an ecological perspective, but also from a cultural and economic one. First, black corals are dominant habitat-forming species on Hawaiian deep reefs (>50 m) (Grigg 1965; Grigg 1976; Chave & Malahoff 1998; Grigg 2001; Grigg 2004; Boland & Parrish 2005; Baco 2007; Kahng & Kelley 2007; Parrish & Baco 2007). Second, black corals are important culturally as they represent the official gemstone of the State of Hawai'i and were traditionally used in Hawaiian culture for medicinal purposes (Kaaiakamanu & Akina 1922; Nagata 1971; Chun 1994). Third, Hawai'i is the only place in the United States, and only one of few

places in the world, where black coral is harvested commercially for the precious coral jewelry industry, a multi-million dollar business that employs close to 650 people statewide (Grigg 2001; Morgan 2005; Parrish & Baco 2007; Grigg 2010; Tsounis et al. 2010). The fishery started in 1958 when large black coral beds were discovered off Lahaina on the island of Maui (Bayer 1961; Weaver 1961; Gage 1962; Grigg 1964). Since its inception, the fishery has been supplied by SCUBA divers that collect the coral at depths between 40-75 m, primarily in the Au'au Channel between the islands of Maui and Lāna'i, and to a lesser extent in the waters off South Kaua'i (Grigg 2001; Parrish & Baco 2007; Grigg 2010). Deep-water surveys (40-110 m) performed in the Au'au Channel in 1975 and 1998, suggested a stability in both recruitment and growth of commercially valuable black coral populations, and thus indicated that the fishery had been sustainable over this time period (Grigg 2001). However, subsequent surveys performed in the channel in 2001 indicated a substantial decline in the abundance of black coral colonies, with likely causes including increases in harvesting pressure and overgrowth of black coral colonies by the invasive octocoral *Carijoa* sp. (Grigg 2003; Grigg 2004; Kahng & Grigg 2005). Together, these factors renewed scrutiny on the black coral fishery and raised questions about whether regulations need to be redefined in order to maintain a sustainable harvest (Grigg 2004). Unfortunately, very little is known about the basic life history of black corals which complicates effective management of the resource (Grigg 2004). Three black coral species have been reported as being targeted by the Hawaiian precious coral fishery: Antipathes griggi Opresko, 2009 (formerly A. dichotoma), Antipathes grandis Verrill, 1928 and Myriopathes ulex (Ellis & Solander, 1786) (formerly Antipathes ulex) (Grigg 1976; Grigg 2001; Boland & Parrish 2005;

Parrish & Baco 2007; Grigg 2010; Wagner et al. 2010; Wagner et al. 2011a). However, over 90% of the coral harvested by the fishery consists of *A. griggi* (Oishi 1990; Parrish & Baco 2007).

As a result of collaborations between scientists and the Hawaiian black coral fishery, antipatharian populations have been well documented in Hawai'i (Grigg 1964; Grigg 1965; Grigg 1976; Grigg & Opresko 1977; Grigg 1993; Montgomery & Crow 1998; Grigg 2001; Montgomery 2002; Grigg 2004; Boland & Parrish 2005; Kahng & Grigg 2005; Kahng & Kelley 2007; Wagner et al. 2010; Wagner et al. 2011a), especially in comparison to most other geographic locations (Etnoyer & Morgan 2005). Consequently some baseline data already exists for this group in Hawai'i, and several specimens have previously been collected in Hawaiian waters and are available for further investigation. Therefore there is a unique opportunity to study black corals in Hawai'i. Furthermore, as a result of the general scarcity of information available on antipatharians, the study of Hawaiian black corals provides the opportunity to learn new things among a widely understudied group.

The purpose of this dissertation is to examine the biology and taxonomy of Hawaiian black corals. As in other parts of the globe, antipatharians are found across a wide depth range in Hawaiian waters, with species reported from subtidal to abyssal depths (Chave & Jones 1991; Chave & Malahoff 1998; Parrish & Baco 2007). Due to logistical constraints of obtaining deep-sea samples, this study is mainly focused on those species found at depths down to 200 m, and includes, but is not limited to, commercially

valuable species. One of the advantages of focusing on the 0-200 m depth range, is that it includes mesophotic coral reef ecosystems, which are light-dependent coral reef ecosystems found below the depth limits of conventional SCUBA diving (40 m), and extending to the deepest portion of the photic zone, which may be over 150 m in some tropical locations with high water clarity (Puglise et al. 2009; Hinderstein et al. 2010; Kahng et al. 2010). Mesophotic coral reef ecosystems are notoriously undersurveyed worldwide, and in some areas they are even less sampled than those systems found in deeper waters (Pyle 1996; Menza et al. 2008; Puglise et al. 2009; Hinderstein et al. 2010; Kahng et al. 2010; Rooney et al. 2010; Wagner et al. 2011a). By focusing on depths containing these understudied systems, this dissertation seeks to address various gaps in our knowledge. Specifically, the objectives of this dissertation are to: (1) review the literature on the biology and ecology of black corals worldwide, (2) taxonomically describe Hawaiian antipatharian species, and (3) examine sexual reproductive processes within the commercially valuable black coral species *A. griggi*.

CHAPTER 2. LITERATURE REVIEW

Introduction

Antipatharians, commonly known as black corals, represent a taxonomic order within the anthozoan subclass Hexacorallia that encompasses 7 families, 43 genera and over 235 species (Daly et al. 2007; Bo 2008). Many black coral species have been treasured by humans due to their presumed ability to fend off evil and ailments. In fact, the name of the order Antipatharia is derived from the Greek words "anti" and "pathos," and literally means against evil or disease (Castorena & Metaca 1979; Kenyon 1984; Romero 1997). Objects or remedies made out of black coral have been used in many cultures. In Indonesian folklore, black coral bracelets have been considered to increase virility and cure rheumatism (Grigg 1984; Tsounis et al. 2010). Around the Red Sea, black corals were used as an aphrodisiac and to cure eye diseases (Castorena & Metaca 1979). In Chinese traditional medicine, black corals are said to relieve pain, reduce fever, stop bleeding, and soften hard mass (Qi et al. 2009; Bai et al. 2011). In ancient Greco-Roman culture, black coral powder was applied to wounds before and after cranial surgery (Mariani-Costantini et al. 2000). In Hawaiian culture, a mixture of black coral powder and various other natural ingredients was used to remedy mouth sores and lung diseases (Kaaiakamanu & Akina 1922; Nagata 1971; Castorena & Metaca 1979; Chun 1994). Besides these therapeutic uses, several black coral species have been used to manufacture jewelry and art, and consequently have been harvested commercially in many regions around the globe, including throughout Asia, Hawai'i, Latin America, the Caribbean, the Mediterranean and the Red Sea (Gage 1962; Grigg 1975; Noome &

Kristensen 1976; Grigg & Opresko 1977; Castorena & Metaca 1979; Olsen & Wood 1980; Humann 1983; Grigg 1984; Kenyon 1984; Kerstitch 1989; Grigg 1993; Romero 1997; Grigg 2001; Maldonado 2003; Padilla & Lara 2003; Warner 2005; Parrish & Baco 2007; Deudin et al. 2010; Huang & Ou 2010; Tsounis et al. 2010. In addition to targeted commercial harvesting, black corals are also inadvertently caught in bottom trawls (Probert et al. 1997; Opresko 1998; Koslow et al. 2001; Häussermann & Försterra 2007; Murillo et al. 2010). As a result of overexploitations of black coral populations in several regions (Noome & Kristensen 1976; Romero 1997; Maldonado 2003; Padilla & Lara 2003), some governments have banned harvesting of antipatharians (Olsen & Wood 1980; Grange 1985; Grange 1988; Moon & Song 2005). Additionally, black corals are regulated on a global scale by the Convention on International Trade in Endangered Species of Wild Flora and Fauna (CITES), an intergovernmental treaty that controls the international trade of animals and plants. Since 1981 all species of black coral have been added to CITES Appendix II, which contains species that are vulnerable to become overexploited, but that are not yet at risk of extinction (Grigg 1984; Romero 1997; Green & Hendry 1999; Bruckner 2001; Reyes & Santodomingo 2002; Harriott 2003; Tsounis et al. 2010).

Despite the importance of black corals in the culture and economy of many societies, very little is known about the basic biology and ecology of these organisms. This is in large part due to the remoteness of the habitats that most species inhabit, but also due to a historical lack of studies focusing on black corals (Brook 1889; Van Pesch 1914; Pax 1918; Hyman 1940; Grigg & Opresko 1977; Pax et al. 1987; Cairns 2007). To

date, the limited information on the biology and ecology of antipatharians has not been comprehensively reviewed, and the majority of summaries on this group are found in taxonomic monographs that were published close to a century ago (Brook 1889; Cooper 1903; Schultze 1903; Roule 1905; Cooper 1909; Van Pesch 1914; Pax 1918; Totton 1923). The purpose of this chapter is to address this lack of a recent synthesis within the Antipatharia, by presenting a comprehensive literature review on the biology and ecology of black corals. This review covers previously published information on black corals worldwide and throughout their entire depth range, from subtidal to abyssal depths. That said, a vast majority of studies involving antipatharians have been conducted in shallow water (< 50 m), the findings from which may not necessarily be consistent with deepwater (>50 m) species. Furthermore, this review does not include information on the taxonomy and systematics of black corals, which can be found in a series of recent taxonomic revisions and summaries (Opresko 2001; Opresko 2002; Opresko 2003b; Opresko 2004; Opresko 2005a; Opresko 2006; Daly et al. 2007; Bo 2008).

Materials and methods

A literature search was performed on any and all information regarding black corals using electronic searches at the libraries of the (1) University of Hawai'i at Mānoa and (2) the Smithsonian Institution. Further articles were identified by searching through reference lists of articles obtained through the above mentioned searches. A total of 407 articles were reviewed for information on the biology and ecology of antipatharians, and included peer-reviewed journal articles, reports from oceanographic expeditions, proceedings from scientific conferences, dissertations, theses and edited book chapters.

General morphology

Antipatharians are exclusively colonial organisms with a wide range of colony morphologies (Figure 2.1). In general, black coral colonies are either unbranched (i.e., wire or whip corals) or branched like a bush, fan, feather or bottle-brush (Figure 2.1). Colony heights range from just a few centimeters for some species within the genus Antipathes, to heights of many meters for wire corals in the genera Cirrhipathes and Stichopathes (Bo 2008). Unlike their close related scleractinians, antipatharian corals do not build reef structures and are thus considered ahermatypic. Colonies are generally firmly attached to the substrate through a basal plate, with the exception of some species within the genera *Bathypathes* and *Schizopathes*, which have a modified, hook-like holdfast for support in soft sediments and mud (Pax 1918; Grigg & Opresko 1977; Pasternak 1977; Grasshoff 1981a; Opresko 1997; Opresko 2002). The skeleton of antipatharians is secreted by axial epithelial tissues of the polyps in concentric layers around a central hollow core, the central canal (Daly et al. 2007). The color of the skeleton ranges from black to golden brown, and is covered with minute skeletal spines. These skeletal attributes give rise to the common names of the order Antipatharia: black corals or thorny corals. Covering the skeleton is a thin layer of tissue, the coenenchyme, from which the polyps arise. Antipatharian tissues do not contain any mineralized structures such as spicules or sclerites, and vary in coloration between brown, red, orange, pink, green, yellow, white and grey (Figure 2.1). Polyps typically range in size from a few millimeters to about one centimeter, and bear six, unbranched tentacles encircling the oral cone and mouth (Opresko & Sanchez 2005; Daly et al. 2007). The polyps are bilaterally symmetrical and possess six primary mesenteries, and zero, four or

Figure 2.1. Different colony morphologies of antipatharians. **a.** bush-like, **b.** fan-shaped, **c.** wire-like, **d.** feather-like and **e.** bottle-brush (Photographs courtesy of **a.** Sam Kahng, **b.** Greg McFall and **c-d**. the Hawai'i Undersea Research Laboratory).



six secondary mesenteries (Opresko & Sanchez 2005; Daly et al. 2007). The muscular system supporting the polyps is only poorly developed in the Antipatharia, so that tentacles can only contract slightly but not retract like other anthozoans (Brook 1889; Van Pesch 1914; Hyman 1940; Goldberg & Taylor 1989a; Daly et al. 2003).

Biogeography

Black corals are restricted to marine ecosystems and are found in all oceans from tropical to polar latitudes; however, they are particularly abundant in tropical and subtropical regions (**Figure 2.2**). To date, black corals have not been found in areas with brackish waters, although some species inhabit areas with decreased salinities such as the fiords of New Zealand (**Figure 2.2**). In addition to their wide geographic range, black corals are found over a wide depth gradient, that spans from waters as shallow as 2-4 m for wire corals in the tropical Pacific (Brook 1889; Davis & Cohen 1968; Parrish & Baco 2007; Bo 2008), down to depths of 8,600 m for *Bathypathes patula* in the in the Northwestern Pacific (Pasternak 1977; Molodtsova et al. 2008). Despite this wide bathymetric range, over 75% of described antipatharian species are restricted to depths below 50 m (Cairns 2007). Additionally, there are no records of black corals from intertidal zones, perhaps reflecting that antipatharians are sensitive to air exposure (Bo 2008).

Studies on the biogeographical distributions of individual species are very scarce within the Antipatharia, because a large proportion of black coral species are only known from their type locality and consequently have very limited known ranges (Roberts &

Hawkins 1999; Opresko 2001; Opresko 2002; Opresko 2003b; Opresko 2004; Molodtsova 2005; Opresko 2005a; Opresko 2006). The restricted known ranges of most species are in part due to the remoteness of antipatharian habitats which make observations and collections logistically challenging, but also due to taxonomic problems within the order Antipatharia (Molodtsova 2005; Cairns 2007; Daly et al. 2007; Bo 2008). Numerous antipatharian species have been described from poorly preserved or incomplete specimens (Opresko 1972; Molodtsova 2005; Opresko & Sanchez 2005; Daly et al. 2007; Bo 2008). Additionally, missing type material and inadequate species descriptions have resulted in numerous species names that cannot be reliably verified (Daly et al. 2007; Bo 2008). Consequently, species identifications are often only tentative within the Antipatharia. The few discussions on the biogeographical distribution of antipatharians are mostly limited to reports from oceanographic expeditions (Dana 1846; Pourtales 1871; Pourtales 1874; Brook 1889; Schultze 1902; Thomson 1905; Cooper 1909; Van Pesch 1914; Totton 1923; Thomson & Rennet 1931; Pasternak 1977; Grasshoff 1981b; Grasshoff 1985; Grasshoff 1989). Additionally, inventories of the antipatharian fauna have been published for several regions around the globe including the waters surrounding East Africa and the Mergui Archipelago (Summers 1910), the Maldive and Laccadive Islands (Cooper 1903), Diego Garcia and the Northern Indian Ocean (Cooper 1909), the Gulf of Manaar (Thomson & Simpson 1905), Japan (Silberfeld 1909; Pax 1932), Korea (Moon & Song 2005; Moon & Song 2008a; Moon & Song 2008b), China (Zou & Zhou 1982; Zhou & Zou 1984; Zou & Zhou 1984; Zhou & Zou 1987; Zhou & Zou 1992), Indonesia and the Moluccan Archipelago (Schultze 1896a; Schultze 1896b; Bo 2008), Antarctica (Thomson 1905; Thomson & Rennet 1931), the





Mariana Islands (Paulay et al. 2003; Parrish & Baco 2007), the Hawaiian Archipelago (Grigg & Opresko 1977; Chave & Malahoff 1998; Parrish & Baco 2007), the Aleutian Islands (Heifetz et al. 2005), Alaska (Heifetz 2002) the Gulf of Mexico (Opresko 2009a), the Caribbean (Opresko & Sanchez 2005), Brazil (Echeverria 2002; Loiola & Castro 2005), Madeira (Johnson 1899), the Canary Islands (Brito & Ocaña 2004), the Bay of Biscay (Roule 1905; Hickson 1907; Grasshoff 1981b), and the Mediterranean (Bo 2008; Bo et al. 2008). Antipatharians are also important faunal components on seamounts throughout the world (Grasshoff 1985; Genin et al. 1986; Molodtsova 2005; Baco 2007; Rogers et al. 2007), and a checklist of the antipatharian fauna of seamounts is presented by Rogers et al. (2007).

Habitat requirements

Despite the great geographic and bathymetric range of antipatharians (**Figure 2.2**), there are a number of generalities in terms of the physical habitats of black corals. First, the vast majority of antipatharians require hard substrates to which they can firmly attach, with the exception of some species within the genera *Bathypathes* and *Schizopathes*, which have a modified holdfast for support in soft sediments and mud (Pax 1918; Grigg & Opresko 1977; Pasternak 1977; Grasshoff 1981a; Opresko 1997; Opresko 2002). Second, because black corals are suspension feeders (see below), they require areas with strong and temporally dependent currents (Grigg 1964; Grigg 1965; Goenaga 1977; Warner 1981; Grigg 1984; Genin et al. 1986; Grange & Singleton 1988; Moffitt et al. 1989; Opresko & Genin 1990; Grigg 1993; Chave & Malahoff 1998; Ocaña et al.

2006; Bright 2007; Parrish & Baco 2007; Tazioli et al. 2007; Bo 2008). Consequently, colonies are typically found in areas where the surrounding topography accelerates currents, such as on the crest of seamounts, pinnacles and knobs (Genin et al. 1986; Opresko & Genin 1990; Mortensen et al. 2007; Parrish & Baco 2007). Third, black corals are typically absent in areas that are surrounded by high sediment cover (Fraser & Sedberry 2008). Unlike other cnidarians, antipatharian tissues have no structural protection against abrasive forces, and muscular systems are only poorly developed, so that tentacles can only contract slightly but not retract into a groove like other anthozoans (Hyman 1940; Goldberg & Taylor 1989a; Kim et al. 1992; Daly et al. 2003; Bo 2008). As a result, sediments suspended in currents can be detrimental to the soft tissues of antipatharians (Grigg 1964; Grigg 1965). Fourth, despite their wide depth range (2-8,600 m), black corals are predominantly found in low-light environments below the photic zone. Over 75% of antipatharian species are found at depths below 50 m (Cairns 2007), and when antipatharians do occur in shallower water (< 50 m), they are found in areas where light intensities are substantially reduced, such as inside caves or crevices, underneath overhangs, on steep vertical walls, or in areas with high water turbidity (Grigg 1964; Grigg 1965; Goreau & Goreau 1973; Goenaga 1977; Grange & Singleton 1988; Oakley 1988; Ramsay & Mason 1990; Sanchez et al. 1998; Sanchez 1999; Vega et al. 2002; Opresko & Sanchez 2005; Warner 2005; Sink et al. 2006; Parrish & Baco 2007; Tazioli et al. 2007; Lam & Morton 2008; Monteiro et al. 2008). In particular, the fjords of New Zealand contain some of the shallowest (> 4 m) populations of black corals on the planet, because of a tannin-rich low salinity layer (3-4 m deep) that substantially reduces light levels (Grange & Singleton 1988; Grange 1991; Miller 1997; Kregting & Gibbs

2006). Interestingly, the requirement for low light does not appear to affect antipatharians throughout their entire growth. In several shallow-water (<40 m) regions, black corals are usually attached to the substrate in shaded microenvironments such inside crevices, however, the colonies frequently grow towards the light (Grigg 1964; Grigg 1965; Goenaga 1977; Oakley 1988). Based on these observations it has been speculated that antipatharians have negatively phototactic larvae (Grigg 1964; Grigg 1965; Goenaga 1977; Oakley 1988). However, to date there is only a single study reporting direct observations of larvae (Miller 1996), and it remains unknown whether black coral larvae move away from light.

Population densities

In areas with favorable conditions, some species of antipatharians can attain particularly high population densities (see **Table 2.1**), and build monotypic aggregations that extend over large areas. Such dense aggregations are commonly referred to as black coral beds, some of which are of economic importance to humans, because they contain species that are used to manufacture jewelry. Furthermore, black coral beds represent important reservoirs of biodiversity, because they typically host distinct communities inhabited by a myriad of organisms (Grigg 1964; Boland & Parrish 2005; Yoklavich & Love 2005; Tissot et al. 2006; Bright 2007; Bo 2008; Bo et al. 2008; Bo et al. 2009b). The highest densities among antipatharians have been recorded for several species of wire corals (*Stichopathes* spp. and *Cirrhipathes* spp.). In particular, *Stichopathes spiessi* populations can reach densities of up to 20 colonies/m² on deep-water (550-1150 m)

Species	Family	Location	Depth (m)	Population density (colonies / m ²)	Reference(s)
Antipates cf. atlantica	Antipathidae	Providencia Island, Caribbean	30-50	≤ 1.47	(Sanchez et al. 1998)
Antipathes atlantica	Antipathidae	Caribbean coast off Colombia	15-50	0-0.5	(Sanchez 1999)
Antipathes caribbeana	Antipathidae	Providencia Island, Caribbean	30-50	≤ 2.19	(Sanchez et al. 1998)
Antipathes caribbeana	Antipathidae	Caribbean coast off Colombia	15-50	0-0.9	(Sanchez 1999)
Antipathes cf. dichotoma	Antipathidae	Palau	6-75	≤ 0.25	(Grigg 1975)
Antipathes gracilis	Antipathidae	Caribbean coast off Colombia	15-50	0-0.1	(Sanchez 1999)
Antipathes grandis	Antipathidae	Hawaiʻi	40-146	0-1.5	(Grigg 1974)
Antipathes grandis, Antipathes griggi	Antipathidae	Hawaiʻi	35-110	0-1.0	(Grigg 2001; Grigg 2004)
Antipathes griggi	Antipathidae	Hawaiʻi	40-70	0.05 (mean)	(Grigg 1976)
Antipathes griggi	Antipathidae	Hawaiʻi	58-70	0-0.047	(Wagner et al. 2011a)
Stichopathes paucispina	Antipathidae	Eastern North Pacific seamounts	>1000	<<1	(Opresko & Genin 1990)
Stichopathes spiessi	Antipathidae	Eastern North Pacific seamounts	550-1150	≤ 20	(Genin et al. 1986; Opresko & Genin 1990)
Stichopathes spp.	Antipathidae	Caribbean coast off Colombia	15-50	0.1-3.8	(Sanchez 1999)
Stichopathes spp.	Antipathidae	Providencia Island, Caribbean	30-50	≤ 7.32	(Sanchez et al. 1998)
Stichopathes spp. (N=2)	Antipathidae	Puerto Rico	15-70	≤ 0.5	(Goenaga 1977)
Antipathrian spp. (N=16)	Antipathidae, Aphanipathidae, Myriopathidae	Indonesia	5-45	≤ 0.5	(Tazioli et al. 2007)
Antipatharian spp. (N=7)	Antipathidae, Myriopathidae	Jamaica	≤ 35	0.1-2.5	(Warner 2005)
Antipathes caribbeana, Stichopathes lutkeni, Plumapathes pennacea	Antipathidae, Myriopathidae	Cozumel, Mexico	20-75	0.07 (mean)	(Padilla & Lara 2003)
Antipathes caribbeana, Stichopathes lutkeni, Plumapathes pennacea	Antipathidae, Myriopathidae	Banco Chinchorro, Mexico	20-75	0.5 (mean)	(Padilla & Lara 2003)
Aphanipathes salix	Aphanipathidae	St. Croix	15-46	0.0092-0.0314	(Olsen & Wood 1980)
Antipathella subpinnata	Myriopathidae	Mediterranean	≤ 100	≤ 5.2	(Bo 2008; Bo et al. 2008; Bo et al. 2009b)
Antipathella spp.	Myriopathidae	New Zealand	4-40	0.25 (mean)	(Grange 1985)
Myriopathes ulex	Myriopathidae	Hawaiʻi	58-70	0-0.690	(Wagner et al. 2011a)
Plumapathes pennacea	Myriopathidae	St. Croix	15-46	0.0087-0.0175	(Olsen & Wood 1980)
Plumapathes pennacea	Myriopathidae	Caribbean coast off Colombia	15-50	0-0.6	(Sanchez 1999)
Leiopathes sp.	Leiopathidae	Hawaiʻi	375-450	0.002-0.003	(Grigg 1988b)

 Table 2.1. Previously published data on population densities of antipatharians.

seamounts in the eastern North Pacific (Genin et al. 1986; Opresko & Genin 1990). Such dense aggregations of wire corals are also common in many deep-water (> 150 m) environments around Hawai'i, although population densities have not yet been reported (Chave & Malahoff 1998; Parrish et al. 2002). Dense populations of *Stichopathes* spp. are also widespread throughout several shallower (< 50 m) locations in the Caribbean (see **Table 2.1**), with maximum densities of up to 7.32 colonies/ m^2 (Sanchez et al. 1998). In the Mediterranean, Antipathella subpinnata forms massive aggregations of up to 5.2 colonies/m² at depths ranging between 70-100 m (Bo 2008; Bo et al. 2008; Bo et al. 2009b). In slightly shallower-water (5-70 m), dense black coral populations exist in several locations around the globe including in Indonesia, New Zealand, Palau, Hawai'i and the Caribbean, with densities ranging between 0-2.5 colonies/m² (Table 2.1). On the other end of the spectrum, several black coral species do not form massive aggregations (Grigg 1988b; Chave & Jones 1991; Chave & Malahoff 1998). Although, population densities are typically not reported for antipatharian species with low population densities (Table 2.1), several of these occur in deeper water (>300 m), and include several species in the family Leiopathidae and Schizopathidae (Grigg 1988b; Chave & Jones 1991; Chave & Malahoff 1998). Taken together, the available information suggests that densities are highly variable among antipatharian corals, but that at least some species can reach particularly high densities to the point of becoming ecologically dominant.

Feeding and nutrition

Several studies have made inferences about the feeding biology of antipatharians based on the occurrence and orientation of colonies in relation to the dominant flow

regime (Grigg 1964; Warner 1981; Genin et al. 1986; Tazioli et al. 2007). Black corals are typically found in areas with strong and temporally dependent currents (see above). The limited field observations suggest that black corals are suspension feeders with direct interception being the dominant mode of food capture, and that zooplankton is the major component of their diet (Grigg 1964; Goenaga 1977; Warner 1981; Goldberg & Taylor 1989b; Ocaña et al. 2006; Carlier et al. 2009). In areas where current direction is primarily uni-directional, fan-shaped antipatharians are common and oriented perpendicular to currents (Grigg 1964; Grigg 1965; Warner 1981; Grange 1988; Opresko & Sanchez 1997; Tazioli et al. 2007; Peccini & MacDonald 2008), an orientation that maximizes contact between feeding surfaces and suspended food (Grigg 1972). Additionally, polyps usually face the downcurrent side of fans, which may be because food particles are more readily caught in turbulent eddies on the leeward side of fans than in the direct current flow (Warner 1981). Alternatively, polyp orientation may not be related to food capture, but rather controlled by abrasive forces which can be detrimental to exposed antipatharian tissues (Grigg 1964; Grigg 1965; Kim et al. 1992; Tazioli et al. 2007).

Several studies have described the feeding behavior of antipatharians in aquarium cultures (Grigg 1964; Goenaga 1977; Lewis 1978). Grigg (1964) noted that the presence of food caused *Antipathes griggi* (as *A. grandis*) to guide ciliary currents towards its mouth, and that the mouth was capable of expanding to up to three times its normal size in order to ingest larger food particles such as amphipods, copepods and chaetognaths. Additionally, Grigg (1964) noted that *A. griggi* polyps expanded throughout the day and

concluded that feeding is thus not restricted to specific hours. Lewis (1978) studied the feeding behavior of three shallow-water (<40 m) species from the West Indies, and made similar observations to those of Grigg (1964). Polyps expanded throughout the day and the presence of food caused polyp expansion, tentacle extension and wide mouth opening (Lewis 1978). Additionally, black corals produced mucus nets over their body surfaces which were used to trap food particles, and were subsequently moved into mouths via ciliary currents (Lewis 1978). Furthermore, polyps ingested food particles by thrusting tentacles towards their mouths, and caught live zooplankton with the use of nematocysts (Lewis 1978). Goenaga (1977) studied the feeding behavior of two *Stichopathes* spp. in Puerto Rico. In contrast to previous studies (Grigg 1964; Lewis 1978), he noted that colonies expanded more fully and fed more actively during the night. Such nocturnal feeding behavior has also been reported in the field for *Cirrhipathes* spp. in Indonesia, where tentacles contracted throughout the day and completely expanded at night (Tazioli et al. 2007).

Several authors report finding various zooplankton items in the guts of antipatharians, suggesting that carnivorous feeding is important (Goenaga 1977; Warner 1981; Goldberg & Taylor 1989b; Ocaña et al. 2006; Carlier et al. 2009). While phytoplankton feeding has not been reported among antipatharians, it has been documented among various octocoral species from the Red Sea (Fabricius et al. 1995a; Fabricius et al. 1995b; Fabricius et al. 1998), in areas that are also inhabited by black corals (**Figure 2.2**). Given the indiscriminate method of food capture among antipatharians (Lewis 1978), phytoplankton and detritus may also be consumed, but is

Table 2.2. Summary of previously published information on nitrogen stable isotope ratios in black corals, with implications on trophic levels.

Species	Family	Collection location	Collection depth (m)	δ ¹⁵ N _{air} (‰)	$\delta^{15}\!N$ relation to other organisms in study	Reference(s)
Antipathes sp.	Antipathidae	Saudi Arabia	2-8	4.5-6.5	No other organisms analyzed; δ^{15} N enriched in locations that were historically exposed to sewage	(Risk et al. 2009)
Antipathes sp.	Antipathidae	Palau	5	6.4	Similar to octocorals	(Williams & Grottoli 2010)
Leiopathes glaberrima	Leiopathidae	SE United States	307-679	7.7-8.6	No other organisms analyzed	(Williams et al. 2006; Williams et al. 2007)
Leiopathes glaberrima	Leiopathidae	Mediterranean	520	7.3	Lower than most gorgonians and scleractinians; similar to bivalve Delectopecten vitreus	(Carlier et al. 2009)
Leiopathes sp.	Leiopathidae	Hawaiʻi	400-500	9.3 ± 0.6	Higher than zoanthid Gerardia sp.	(Roark et al. 2009)
Bathypathes arctica	Schizopathidae	Newfoundland & Labrador	750-1300	10.76 ± 1.16	Higher than octocoral <i>Paragorgia arborea</i> and <i>Primnoa</i> resedaeformis; lower than several alcyoneceans, pennatulaceans and scleractinians.	(Sherwood et al. 2008)
Rhipidipathes sp.	Stylopathidae	Palau	26	5.8-7.0	Similar to octocorals	(Williams & Grottoli 2010)

less readily found in guts because it is usually not identified. More recently, a number of studies have examined the ratios of nitrogen stable isotopes among various black corals (**Table 2.2**), which is a useful tool to estimate the relative trophic position in food webs because δ^{15} N values increase at every trophic level (Kling et al. 1992; Hobson et al. 1994; Post 2002). Carlier et al. (2009) examined the relative trophic position among various deep-water (520-700 m) invertebrates from the Mediterranean including the black coral Leiopathes glaberrima. In relation to other deep-sea gorgonians and scleractinians, L. *glaberrima* had lower δ^{15} N values, suggesting a lower trophic level (**Table 2.2**; Carlier et al. 2009). Additionally, at one site L. glaberrima had the same δ^{15} N value as the suspension-feeding bivalve Delectopecten vitreus suggesting a similar trophic position (Carlier et al. 2009). Williams & Grottoli (2010) examined stable isotope compositions among various genera of shallow-water (5-105 m) octocorals and antipatharians from Palau, and noted similar δ^{15} N values for both groups indicating a similar trophic level (Table 2.2). Sherwood et al. (2008) examined stable isotope ratios among several deepwater (47-1433) corals from the Newfoundland and Labrador region. Bathypathes *arctica*, the only antipatharian in the study, had a higher δ^{15} N value than the sympatric octocorals Paragorgia arborea and Primnoa resedaeformis, suggesting a higher trophic level (Table 2.2; Sherwood et al. 2008).

Endosymbiotic dinoflagellates within the genus *Symbiodinium*, commonly known as zooxanthellae, provide photosynthetically derived nutrients to a diverse array of corals (Baker 2003; Knowlton & Rowder 2003). To date, however, a mutualistic association between *Symbiodinium* and a black coral has only been reported for one shallow-water (<40 m) wire coral species from Indonesia (Bo 2008; Bo et al. 2011), although *Symbiodinium* cells have been discovered in low densities in several species (Brook 1889; Van Pesch 1914; Pax 1918; Buchner 1921; Wagner et al. 2011b). Collectively, this suggests that endosymbiotic dinoflagellates are generally not essential in the nutrition of antipatharians.

Sexual reproduction

With the exception of a few studies on shallow-water species (< 50 m), most information on the sexual reproduction of antipatharians is derived from scarce notes on the anatomy of reproductive tissues accompanying taxonomic descriptions (Wagner et al. 2011c). Even though the majority of this information is derived for the examination of a limited number of specimens, previously published data on sexual reproduction exists for at least 56 nominal species, representing > 20% of the described antipatharian fauna (Table 2.3). Based on the published information available to date, there appear to be a number of generalities within the order Antipatharia (reviewed by Wagner et al. 2011c). First, of the six primary mesenteries only the two in the transverse plane bear the filaments and gametes (**Table 2.3**). Second, individual polyps are strictly gonochoric because polyps with both oocytes and spermatocysts have not been found within any antipatharian species examined to date (Table 2.3). Third, entire colonies are either female or male, with the exception of *Stichopathes saccula* which has mixed colonies with both male and female polyps (Pax et al. 1987). Fourth, there is no evidence for internal fertilization within the Antipatharia, indicating that fertilization and larval
Table 2.3. Summary of previously published information on the sexual reproduction of antipatharians (N/A = not applicable; G = gonochoric; G^* = gonochoric based on the study of a limited number of specimens collected over a short time span; Seq. H = sequential hermaphrodite; Sim. H = simultaneous hermaphrodite; PTM = primary transverse mesenteries; APSM = anterior pair of secondary mesenteries; T = tentacle; - = values not reported).

а. .		F "		Collection	G	Gonad	Oocyte size	Spermato- cyst size	
Species	Authority (Prook 1980)	Family Antipathidaa	Collection location	depth (m)	Sex C*	DTM	(µm)	<u>(μm)</u>	(Prook 1880)
Antipaines assimilis	(DIOOK, 1889)	Antipathidae	Strait of Magenan	320	0.	PIN	-	224	(BIOOK 1889)
Antipathes contorta	(Brook, 1889)	Antipathidae	Strait of Magellan	320	G*	-	340	-	(Brook 1889)
Antipathes dichotoma	Pallas, 1766	Antipathidae	Mediterranean	201-256	G*	PTM	250	100	(Brook 1889; Van Pesch 1914)
Antipathes dubia	(Brook, 1889)	Antipathidae	Japan	-	G*	PTM	80-120	-	(Pax 1932)
Antipathes ericoides	(Milne-Edwards, 1857)	Antipathidae	Indonesia, East Timor	5-34	G*	PTM	65	-	(Van Pesch 1914)
Antipathes grandis	Verrill, 1928	Antipathidae	Hawaiʻi	28-111	G*	PTM	13-125	-	(Wagner et al. 2011c)
Antipathes griggi	Opresko, 2009	Antipathidae	Hawaiʻi	23-99	G*	PTM, T	16-131	-	(Grigg 1976; Wagner et al. 2011c)
Antipathes minor	(Brook, 1889)	Antipathidae	Strait of Magellan	320	G*	PTM	-	-	(Brook 1889)
Antipathes plana	Cooper, 1909	Antipathidae	Indonesia	113	G*	-	-	40-60	(Van Pesch 1914)
Antipathes spp.	N/A	Antipathidae	Indo-Pacific		G	PTM, T	-	-	(Schmidt & Zissler 1979)
Cirrhipathes anguina	(Dana, 1846)	Antipathidae	Indonesia	36	G*	PTM	-	-	(Van Pesch 1914)
Cirrhipathes cf. anguina	(Dana, 1846)	Antipathidae	Indonesia, Hawai'i	10-35	G*	РТМ	12-137	≤120	(Gaino et al. 2008; Gaino & Scoccia 2008: Wagner et al. 2011c)
Cirrhipathes contorta	(Van Pesch, 1914)	Antipathidae	Indonesia	9-45	G*	PTM, APSM	-	-	(Van Pesch 1914)
Cirrhipathes propinqua	Brook, 1889	Antipathidae	New Guinea	7	G*	PTM	-	-	(Brook 1889)
Cirrhipathes rumphii	(Van Pesch, 1914)	Antipathidae	Indonesia, East Timor	30-113	G*	PTM	-	55	(Van Pesch 1914)
Cirrhipathes sp.	N/A	Antipathidae	Indonesia	40	Seq. H	PTM	40-200	-	(Bo 2008)
Cirrhipathes sp.	N/A	Antipathidae	Indo-Pacific	-	G	PTM, T	-	-	(Schmidt & Zissler 1979)
Cirrhipathes spiralis	(Blainville, 1834)	Antipathidae	Arafura Sea, Indonesia	32-469	G*	PTM	-	-	(Van Pesch 1914)
Pseudocirrhipathes mapia	Bo et al. 2009	Antipathidae	Indonesia	17-32	G*	-	80-140	-	(Bo et al. 2009a)
Pteropathes fragilis	Brook, 1889	Antipathidae	St. Paul's Rocks	18-146	G*	PTM	-	-	(Brook 1889)
Stichopathes ceylonensis	Thompson & Simpson, 1905	Antipathidae	Arafura Sea	984	G*	РТМ	-	-	(Van Pesch 1914)
Stichopathes echinulata	Brook, 1889	Antipathidae	Hawaiʻi	129-130	G*	PTM	16-101	-	(Wagner et al. 2011c)
Stichopathes gracilis	(Gray, 1857)	Antipathidae	Indonesia, Morocco	73	G*	PTM	-	-	(Schultze 1903; Van Pesch 1914)
Stichopathes sp.	N/A	Antipathidae	Hawaiʻi	10-59	G*	PTM	7-132	-	(Wagner et al. 2011c)
Stichopathes spp. (N=2)	N/A	Antipathidae	Puerto Rico	15	G	PTM	≤150	-	(Goenaga 1977)

Succion	Authority	Family	Collection location	Collection	Sov	Gonad	Oocyte size	Spermato- cyst size	Defenence (c)
Stichopathes paucispina	(Brook, 1889)	Antipathidae	Eastern North Pacific	> 1000	G*	-	(µm) –	(µm) –	(Opresko & Genin 1990)
Stichopathes pourtalesi	Brook, 1889	Antipathidae	Caribbean	82-1606	G*	-	-	-	(Brook 1889)
Stichopathes richardi	Roule, 1905	Antipathidae	NE Atlantic	540-1557	G*	PTM	-	-	(Roule 1905)
Stichopathes saccula	Van Pesch, 1914	Antipathidae	Indonesia	560	Sim. H	РТМ	-	120	(Van Pesch 1914; Pax et al. 1987)
Stichopathes semiglabra	Van Pesch, 1914	Antipathidae	Indonesia	55-94	G*	PTM	-	-	(Van Pesch 1914)
Stichopathes solorensis	Van Pesch, 1914	Antipathidae	Indonesia	113	G*	PTM	250	-	(Van Pesch 1914)
Stichopathes sp.	N/A	Antipathidae	Indo-Pacific	-	G	PTM, T	-	-	(Schmidt & Zissler 1979)
Stichopathes spiessi	Opresko & Genin, 1990	Antipathidae	Eastern North Pacific	450-990	G*	-	-	-	(Opresko & Genin 1990)
Stichopathes variabilis	(Van Pesch, 1914)	Antipathidae	Indonesia, Borneo	15-567	G*	PTM, T	-	70	(Van Pesch 1914)
Aphanipathes verticillata	Brook, 1889	Aphanipathidae	Hawaiʻi	88-130	G*	PTM	21-181	-	(Wagner et al. 2011c)
Heliopahtes americana	Opresko, 2003	Cladopathidae	Jamaica	2200	G*	-	-	-	(Opresko 2003b)
Heliopathes pacifica	Opresko, 2005	Cladopathidae	North Pacific	3563-4511	G*	-	-	-	(Opresko 2005b)
Hexapathes alis	Molodtsova, 2006	Cladopathidae	Fiji	400-407	G*	-	-	-	(Molodtsova 2006)
Hexapathes australiensis	Opresko, 2003	Cladopathidae	Tasmania	520	G*	-	-	-	(Opresko 2003b)
Hexapathes hivaensis	Molodtsova, 2006	Cladopathidae	Marquesas	416-430	G*	-	-	-	(Molodtsova 2006)
Sibopathes gephura	Van Pesch, 1914	Cladopathidae	East Timor	1224	G*	PTM	≤200	-	(Van Pesch 1914)
Leiopathes sp.	N/A	Leiopathidae	Hawaiʻi	382	G*	PTM	51-242	-	(Wagner et al. 2011c)
Antipathella subpinnata	(Ellis & Solander, 1976)	Myriopathdae	Mediterranean	51-247	G*	РТМ	≤150	-	(Brook 1889; Gaino & Scoccia 2010)
Antipathella fiordensis	(Grange, 1990)	Myriopathidae	New Zealand	9-22	G	PTM	15-140		(Miller 1996; Parker et al. 1997)
Cupressopathes pumila	(Brook, 1889)	Myriopathidae	Indonesia	30	G*	PTM	-	50-300	(Gaino & Scoccia 2009)
Myriopathes lata	(Silberfeld, 1909)	Myriopathidae	Korea	10-45	G*	-	300	-	(Moon & Song 2008b)
Myriopathes ulex	(Ellis & Solander, 1786)	Myriopathidae	Indonesia	113	G*	PTM, T	-	120	(Van Pesch 1914)
Bathypathes alternata	Brook, 1889	Schizopathidae	Hawaiʻi	1327	G*	PTM	45-370	-	(Wagner et al. 2011c)
Bathypathes patula	Brook, 1889	Schizopathidae	Indo-Pacific	450-2796	G*	PTM	105	-	(Cooper 1909; Van Pesch 1914)
Parantipathes euantha	(Pasternak, 1958)	Schizopathidae	Kurile-Kamchatka Trench	1080	G*	PTM	75-125	-	(Molodtsova & Pasternak 2005)
Parantipathes larix	(Esper, 1790)	Schizopathidae	Bay of Naples	99	G*	PTM	-	-	(Von Koch 1878; Brook 1889; Pax 1914)
Bathypathes alternata	Brook, 1889	Schizopathidae	Hawaiʻi	1327	G*	PTM	45-370	-	(Wagner et al. 2011c)
Schizopathes affinis	Brook, 1889	Schizopathidae	Indonesia	1573-2796	G*	PTM	< 500	-	(Cooper 1909; Van Pesch 1914)
Tylopathes crispa	Brook, 1889	Stylopathidae	Sarmiento Channel	732	G*	PTM	-	-	(Brook 1889)

development likely occurs externally in the water column and not internally within polyps.

Very little is known about the larval biology and reproductive seasonality of antipatharians. To date, larvae have only been observed for members of the species Antipathella fiordensis in laboratory cultures (Miller 1996). The ciliated planulae were 200 µm in length and developed within 36 hours of fertilization (Miller 1996). These larvae were negatively buoyant, weak swimmers, likely non-feeding and stayed alive for a maximum of 10 days, but none settled (Miller 1996). The few studies that have examined the reproductive seasonality of black corals, have all been conducted in shallow water (<70 m) (Grigg 1976; Goenaga 1977; Schmidt & Zissler 1979; Parker et al. 1997; Bo 2008; Gaino & Scoccia 2010). All of these studies report seasonal appearances and disappearances of gametes, which at least in some cases have been correlated to seasonal temperature fluctuations (Schmidt & Zissler 1979; Parker et al. 1997; Gaino & Scoccia 2008). Grigg (1976) performed histological observations on Antipathes griggi specimens collected in Hawai'i in both July and March. All female samples collected in March contained immature oocytes, whereas those sampled in July contained both mature and immature oocytes, suggesting an annual reproductive cycle culminating in the summer months (Grigg 1976). Goenaga (1977) studied the sexual reproduction of two *Stichopathes* spp. in Puerto Rico, and concluded that reproduction occurred almost year round, although there were slight temporal differences in the appearance of mature gametes between species. Parker et al. (1997) report that Antipathella fiordensis has an annual gametogenic cycle that is highly synchronous both

within and between colonies, and spawns in the month of March coinciding with the warmest temperatures in New Zealand. Bo (2008) monitored polyp fecundities of *Cirrhipathes* sp. in Indonesia, and inferred spawning by the disappearance of gametes which occurred multiple times throughout a year. Gaino & Scoccia (2010) examined *Antipathella subpinnata* from the Mediterranean, and found no fertile colonies in September-November when water temperatures were low (14°C), and fertile colonies in August when temperatures were higher (16°C). Schmidt & Zissler (1979) noted that several tropical Indo-Pacific antipatharians reproduced in the summer during a period of approximately two months. Collectively, these studies suggest that the reproductive cycle of various shallow-water (<70 m) antipatharian species is seasonal, and that at least in some cases it correlates to seasonal temperatures fluctuations with peak maturity occurring when water temperatures are higher.

Asexual reproduction

Asexual reproduction is of vast importance to cnidarians (Campbell 1974; Shick et al. 1979; Richmond & Hunter 1990; Fautin 2002), and antipatharians are no exception to this trend (Miller & Grange 1995; Miller 1997; Miller 1998). Modes of asexual reproduction that have been reported for black corals include (1) budding of new polyps (Pax et al. 1987), (2) breakage of fragments which can subsequently reattach to the substrate (Grigg 1964; Grigg 1976; Grigg 1984; Grigg 1993; Bo et al. 2009c), and (3) production of asexual larvae in aquaria under stressful conditions (Miller & Grange 1995; Parker et al. 1997). The two latter modes of asexual reproduction result in the formation of new colonies, whereas the former leads to new polyps on existing colonies. As

exclusively colonial organisms (Daly et al. 2007; Bo 2008), all black corals rely on budding of new polyps as part of their growth. Budding regularly occurs in the spaces between polyps, and leads to small polyps interspersed within branches containing larger polyps (Pax et al. 1987; Wagner et al. 2010; Wagner et al. 2011c). In addition to budding within interpolypar spaces, new buds may also form directly on existing polyps within several antipatharian species (Pax et al. 1987).

Terminal branches of the Hawaiian black corals *Antipathes griggi* and *A. grandis* often break away from colonies, however, this phenomenon is rarely successful in producing new colonies because broken portions hardly ever reattach to the substrate (Grigg 1964; Grigg 1976; Grigg 1984; Grigg 1993). Signs of colony fracture are also common on skeletons of *Stichopathes* cf. *maldivensis* and *Cirrhipathes* cf. *anguina* from Indonesia, suggesting that breakage of the corallum occurs often (Bo 2008; Bo et al. 2009c). However, regeneration of anchorages has not been observed in broken portions, suggesting that this mode of asexual reproduction is rarely successful (Bo 2008; Bo et al. 2009c). The artificial transplantation of black coral fragments has been attempted for *Antipathes* sp. in Cuba (Gonzalez et al. 1997), *Stichopathes* cf. *maldivensis* and *Cirrhipathes* griggi in Hawai'i (Montgomery 2002), with mean survival rates of 93%, 80%, 68% and 45%, respectively. Collectively, these high survival rates indicate that asexual reproduction via fragmentation can be successful under favorable conditions.

A type of polyp bailout has also been reported for *Antipathella fiordensis* in aquaria under stressful conditions, where parts of polyps (presumably tentacles) separate from colonies, and then form highly mobile and ciliated planulae (Miller & Grange 1995; Parker et al. 1997), a strategy also known from various other hexacorals (Sammarco 1982; Harrison & Wallace 1990; Richmond & Hunter 1990). This phenomenon has never been observed in the field, and it is therefore unknown whether it occurs naturally. However, molecular studies on the population genetic structure of *A. fiordensis* in New Zealand suggest that asexual reproduction is both common and geographically widespread within this species, because genetic clones have been reported to occur frequently and over long geographic distances (Miller & Grange 1995; Miller 1997; Miller 1998).

Growth rates and longevity

Several methodologies have been used to estimate growth rates and longevities of antipatharians, including (1) time-series measurements of colony fragments in aquaria, (2) time-series measurements of tagged colonies in the field, (3) measurements of colonies on artificial structures of known age, (4) growth ring counts, (5) analysis of size-frequency distributions, and (6) radioisotope dating techniques (**Table 2.4**). Studies that have tracked black coral growth report either changes in colony height over time (i.e., vertical growth rate) or changes in the diameter of the main stem over time (i.e., radial growth rate). The latter is particularly useful when colony height is difficult to estimate due to the flexibility of branches (Olsen & Wood 1980), however, it requires more precise measurements because radial growth is much smaller than vertical growth (**Table**

2.4). Most of the studies that have validated the periodicity of growth rings via other methods, report that the formation of rings is roughly annual (Grigg 1976; Grange & Goldberg 1993; Williams et al. 2006; Love et al. 2007; Risk et al. 2009; Prouty et al. 2011). In contrast, Noome & Kristensen (1976) counted ~2000 growth rings within a *Stichopathes gracilis* colony that had settled on an artificial structure that was 6 years old, and concluded that growth rings are formed daily by this species.

The fastest growing antipatharians are shallow-water (10-36 m), tropical wire corals, with vertical growth rates ranging between 3-7 cm/yr for Stichopathes spp. from Puerto Rico (Goenaga 1977), to up to 159 cm/yr for *Stichopathes* cf. *maldivensis* from Indonesia (Bo et al. 2009c). Longevities have not been reported for these wire coral species (Table 2.4); however, individual colonies have been monitored for over 2-3 years with no signs of senescence, suggesting lifespans exceeding these time periods (Goenaga 1977; Bo 2008). Slightly slower growth rates have been reported for various species with the genus Antipathes (Table 2.4). Grigg (1964) monitored growth of fragments of the Hawaiian species Antipathes griggi (as A. grandis) kept in aquaria, and reported vertical extensions of 1.2 cm/yr. Subsequent studies using time-series measurements of tagged colonies in the field, yielded faster vertical growth rates ranging between 4.0-11.6 cm/yr for Antipathes griggi, and between 2.92-6.12 cm/yr for its sympatric congener A. grandis (Grigg 1974; Grigg 1976; Montgomery 2006). Assuming constant growth rates throughout the lifespan of corals, Grigg (1974) estimated longevities of 40 and 100 yr for these two species, respectively. These ages are consistent with those obtained for A. griggi using radiocarbon dating techniques (12-32 yr; Roark et al. 2006). Longevities on

Species	Family	Study location	Study depth (m)	Vertical growth rate (cm/yr)	Radial growth rate (mm/yr)	Longevity (yrs)	Method	Reference
Antipathes dendrochristos	Antipathidae	California	106	1.5	0.121	140	Growth ring counts, ²¹⁰ Pb and ¹⁴ C dating	(Love et al. 2007)
Antipathes grandis	Antipathidae	Hawaiʻi	-	2.92	-	100	Time-series measurements of tagged colonies	(Grigg 1974)
Antipathes grandis	Antipathidae	Hawaiʻi	45-58	6.12	-	-	Time-series measurements of tagged colonies and growth ring counts	(Grigg 1976)
Antipathes griggi	Antipathidae	Hawaiʻi	-	5.86	-	40	Time-series measurements of tagged colonies	(Grigg 1974)
Antipathes griggi	Antipathidae	Hawaiʻi	45-58	6.42	-	-	Time-series measurements of tagged colonies	(Grigg 1976)
Antipathes griggi (as A. grandis)	Antipathidae	Hawaiʻi	Laboratory	1.2	-	-	Time-series measurements of branches in the aquaria	(Grigg 1964)
Antipathes griggi	Antipathidae	Hawaiʻi	50	-	0.13-1.14	12-32	¹⁴ C dating	(Roark et al. 2006)
Antipathes griggi	Antipathidae	Hawaiʻi	_	4.0-11.6	N/A	-	Time-series measurements of tagged colonies	(Montgomery 2006)
Antipathes sp.	Antipathidae	Red Sea	2-8	-	0.05	81	Growth ring counts verified by bomb ¹⁴ C	(Risk et al. 2009)
Antipathes sp. (as A. dichotoma)	Antipathidae	Palau	24-34	4.52-9.32	-	-	Measurements of colonies on artificial structure of known age	(Grigg 1975)
Cirrhipathes cf. anguina	Antipathidae	Indonesia	20	≤ 159	-	-	Time-series measurements of tagged colonies	(Bo et al. 2009c)
Stichopathes cf. maldivensis	Antipathidae	Indonesia	20	≤ 15.6	-	-	Time-series measurements of tagged colonies	(Bo et al. 2009c)
Stichopathes lutkeni	Antipathidae	Jamaica	18	76.65	-	-	Measurements of colonies on artificial structure of known age	(Warner 2005)
Stichopathes spp. (n=2)	Antipathidae	Puerto Rico	22-36	3-7	_	_	Time-series measurements of tagged colonies	(Goenaga 1977)
Stichopathes gracilis	Antipathidae	Curacao	> 10	46.8-84.76	-	-	Time-series measurements of tagged colonies, measurements of colonies on artificial structures of known age and growth ring counts	(Noome & Kristensen 1976)
Aphanipathes salix	Aphanipathidae	St. Croix	15-46	_	0.7	-	Time-series measurements of tagged colonies	(Olsen & Wood 1980)
Leiopathes sp. (as L. glaberrima)	Leiopathidae	Hawaiʻi	450	-	0.005	2377	¹⁴ C dating	(Roark et al. 2006)
Leiopathes sp.	Leiopathidae	Hawaiʻi	400-500	-	0.005-0.013	350-4250	¹⁴ C dating	(Roark et al. 2009)
Leiopathes sp.	Leiopathidae	SE United States	304-317	-	0.008-0.022	530-2100	¹⁴ C dating and growth rings counts	(Prouty et al. 2011)
Leiopathes glaberrima	Leiopathidae	SE United States	307-697	_	0.014-0.015	198-483	²¹⁰ Pb dating and growth ring counts	(Williams et al. 2006; Williams et al. 2007)
Antipathella fiordensis (as Antipathes aperta)	Myriopathidae	New Zealand	5-25	3.9	-	-	Colony size-frequency distributions	(Grange & Singleton 1988)
Antipathella fiordensis	Myriopathidae	New Zealand	-	1.3-1.8	0.0984	300	Growth ring counts and time series measurements of tagged colonies	(Grange & Goldberg 1993)
Antipathella fiordensis (as undescribed sp.)	Myriopathidae	New Zealand	5-35	2.9	-	-	Growth ring counts	(Grange 1985)
Plumapathes pennacea	Myriopathidae	Gulf of Mexico	38	2.92	_	_	Measurements of colonies on artificial structure of known age	(Boland & Sammarco 2005)
Plumapathes pennacea	Myriopathidae	Jamaica	30	5.7	0.92	35	Measurements of colonies on artificial structure of known age	(Oakley 1988)
Plumapathes pennacea	Myriopathidae	St. Croix	15-46	-	0.81	-	Time-series measurements of tagged colonies	(Olsen & Wood 1980)
Stauropathes arctica	Schizopathidae	Newfoundland & Labrador	812-876	1.22-1.36	0.033-0.066	33-66	Bomb ¹⁴ C	(Sherwood & Edinger 2009)

Table 2.4. Previously published growth rate and longevity data for various antipatharian species (- = values not reported).

a similar order have also been reported for *Stauropathes arctica* from the Newfoundland and Labrador region (33-66 yr; Sherwood & Edinger 2009), *Plumapathes pennacea* from Jamaica (35 yr; Oakley 1988), *Antipathes* sp. from the Red Sea (81 yr; Risk et al. 2009), and *Antipathes dendrochristos* from California (140 yr; Love et al. 2007) (**Table 2.4**). Slightly longer lifespan estimates have been reported for *Antipathella fiordensis* from New Zealand, with maximum longevities of up to 300 yr (Grange & Goldberg 1993), and vertical growth rates ranging between 1.3-3.9 cm/yr (Grange 1985; Grange & Singleton 1988; Grange & Goldberg 1993) (**Table 2.4**).

The slowest growing antipatharians belong to the genus *Leiopathes*, with radial growth rates ranging between 0.005-0.022 mm/yr (Roark et al. 2006; Williams et al. 2007; Roark et al. 2009; Prouty et al. 2011). Radioisotope techniques have been used to date various colonies within this genus, with estimates ranging from centuries to millennia (**Table 2.4**). In particular, *Leiopathes* sp. samples from off Hawai'i (Roark et al. 2006; Roark et al. 2009) and the Southwestern United States (Prouty et al. 2011) have yielded maximum longevity estimates ranging between 2377-4250 yr (**Table 4**), thus making these the longest living colonial organisms examined to date. Collectively, the available information suggests that antipatharians are generally slow-growing and long-lived organisms, with longevities varying on the order of decades to millennia (**Table 4**).

Competition

Most of the published notes on competitive interactions involving antipatharians, are limited to descriptions of the physical habitats that black corals occupy and are avoided by other organisms. Coral reef ecosystems exhibit a similar pattern of dominant organisms with depth, that is dominated by obligate photosynthetic fauna (e.g. algae and zooxanthellate corals) in shallow-water (<50 m), and then gives rise to nonphotosynthetic or facultatively photosynthetic fauna in deeper waters (reviewed by Kahng et al. 2010). Antipatharians start becoming dominant in this transition zone (~50 m) in many regions around the globe, suggesting that black corals escape competition with obligate photosynthetic fauna by being more abundant at depth (Grigg & Opresko 1977; Kuehlmann 1983; Rezak et al. 1990; Sanchez et al. 1998; Sanchez 1999; Vega et al. 2002; Paulay et al. 2003; Singh et al. 2004; Armstrong et al. 2006; Kahng & Kelley 2007; Tazioli et al. 2007; Bo 2008). As sessile organisms, black corals have limited abilities to dynamically interact with organisms in order to compete for resources. The only exception to this trend, is the formation of sweeper tentacles, a defensive adaptation well known among anthozoans (Fautin & Mariscal 1991; Williams 1991). Sweeper tentacles are exceptionally long and form in response to competitive interactions with nearby organisms, and have been reported for Antipathella fiordensis in New Zealand (Goldberg et al. 1990; Grange 1990) and *Pseudocirrhipathes mapia* in Indonesia (Bo et al. 2009a). In A. fiordensis, sweeper tentacles form in response to encrusting fauna such as the octocoral Alcyonium aurantiacum and the red algae Epymenia sp. and Lithothamnion sp. (Goldberg et al. 1990; Grange 1990). Similarly, in P. mapia sweeper tentacles form on branches with settlement of tube polychaetes, and on portions of

colonies that are in contact with corals of the genus *Acropora* (Bo et al. 2009a). Another strategy to compete with nearby organisms is the use of secondary metabolites, a strategy well documented among anthozoans (Sammarco & Coll 1992; Rossi & Snyder 2001). Compounds with deterrent effects have been isolated from several black coral species (Morse et al. 1978; Guerriero et al. 1988; Aiello et al. 1991; Aiello et al. 1992; Wilsanand et al. 1999; Encarnacion et al. 2000; Qi et al. 2009; Al-Lihaibi et al. 2011; Bai et al. 2011), however, their ecological functions have not yet been investigated. Some field observations suggest that black corals may make use of allelopathy for space competition. In particular, Goenaga (1977) noted that scleractinian corals like *Mycetophyllia lamarkiana* avoid contact with *Stichopathes* spp. from Puerto Rico by growing around antipatharian colonies in a u-shape.

Predators and natural mortality

There is very limited information on any animals preying on antipatharians. While this is at least in part due to the remoteness of antipatharian habitats, which make direct observations challenging, it may also reflect that predation is less widespread among this taxonomic order. The limited studies that have monitored black coral populations over a prolonged time, note that predation in not an important ecological factor (Grigg 1964; Grigg 1965; Grigg 1976; Goenaga 1977; Grange & Singleton 1988; Tazioli et al. 2007; Bo 2008). Additionally, several studies on the chemical components of antipatharian tissues suggest that various species contain deterrent compounds (Morse et al. 1978; Guerriero et al. 1988; Aiello et al. 1991; Aiello et al. 1992; Wilsanand et al. 1999; Encarnacion et al. 2000; Qi et al. 2009; Al-Lihaibi et al. 2011; Bai et al. 2011).

Furthermore, the antipatharian skeleton is composed primarily of chitin and protein, and is nearly inert chemically (Goldberg 1976; Goldberg 1978; Goldberg 1991; Holl et al. 1992; Kim et al. 1992; Schwartzman & Opresko 1992; Goldberg et al. 1994; Nowak et al. 2005; Juarez-de la Rosa et al. 2007; Nowak et al. 2009). Multiple proteolytic enzymes, acids, bases and reducing agents have practically no effect in solubilizing the antipatharian skeleton, indicating that it is almost certainly of low nutritional value (Goldberg 1976).

There are few observations of fish occasionally biting on antipatharian colonies, including various parrotfishes on *Stichopathes* spp. in Puerto Rico (Goenaga 1977), the butteflyfish *Chaetodon aculeatus* on *Antipathes* sp. in St. Croix (Neudecker & Lobel 1982) and the butterflyfish *Chaetodon bennetti* on shallow-water (5-45 m) antipatharians in Indonesia (Tazioli et al. 2007). Additionally, in aquarium cultures the butterflyfish *Chaetodon tinkeri* occasionally bites on various shallow-water (< 50 m) black corals from Hawai'i (Montgomery & Crow 1998). There is also one report of the black coral *Bathypathes arctica* being recovered from the stomach of a shark (Lütken 1872). Collectively, the sporadic nature of these reports suggests that black corals are not regular components of the diet of these fishes. In contrast, the green sea turtle *Chelonia mydas* regularly consumes *Antipathes galapagensis* in the Gulf of California (Seminoff et al. 2006). Green sea turtles have repeatedly been observed feeding on black corals (Seminoff et al. 2006), and fragments of the black coral are regularly found in fecal and esophageal samples of turtles (Seminoff et al. 2002).

In contrast to the sporadic nature and scarcity of records of vertebrate predation on antipatharians, numerous invertebrates appear to be specialized predators of black corals, including various species within the molluscan families Muricidae and Ovulidae. The muricids *Rhizochilus* sp., *R. antipathum* and *R. teramachii* all been reported to feed on antipatharians throughout the Indo-Pacific and Red Sea (Totton 1923; Rees 1969; Okamura & Habe 1976; Poorman 1981; Vega et al. 2002). Additionally, the muricid Coralliophila kaofitorum lives in strict association with Antipathes wollastoni in the Canary Islands, suggesting that it likely feeds on its black coral host (Vega et al. 2002; Brito & Ocaña 2004). The ovullid *Phenacovolva weaveri* is a specialized predator of *Cirrhipathes* spp. and *Antipathes* spp. in Indonesia, and mimics the color and shape of the polyps of its antipatharian prey (Schiaparelli et al. 2005; Tazioli et al. 2007). Another ovullid, *Phenacovolva carnepicta* lives in association with *Antipathes* sp. throughout the Pacific, and likely preys on the tissues of its antipatharian host (Rehder & Wilson 1975). A number of different decapods occasionally feed on shallow-water (<40 m) antipatharians in the Cape Verde Islands, especially when other food sources are scarce (Wirtz & d'Udekem-d'Acoz 2001). In Indonesia, Tazioli et al. (2007) observed thousands of unidentified caprellid amphipods feeding on *Antipathes* sp., which eventually lead to the death of an entire colony. This phenomenon was only observed on a single occasion and it was not clear whether the *Antipathes* sp. colony had been previously stressed, suggesting that such massive predation events are not common occurrences among shallow-water (5-45 m) black coral populations in Indonesia (Tazioli et al. 2007).

A number of other sources of natural mortality besides predation have been reported for black corals. In species that grow to large heights, mortality commonly occurs as colonies become too massive for the holdfast to support and consequently topple over (Grigg 1976; Grange & Singleton 1988; Chave & Jones 1991). This process may be aided by boring organisms such as sponges that weaken the holdfasts (Grigg 1984). Based on size frequency distributions of colonies, natural rates of mortality have been calculated for Antipathes griggi in Hawai'i (Grigg 1976; Grigg 1984) and Aphanipathes salix in St. Croix (Olsen & Wood 1980), with annual mortality rates of 7% and 4.13%, respectively. Only a few reports note black coral mortality as a result of natural disturbances (Olsen & Wood 1980; Grange & Singleton 1988). Olsen & Wood (1980) observed substantial damages to shallow-water (15-46 m) populations of Aphanipathes salix and Plumapathes pennacea in St. Croix, which they attributed to a hurricane. Also in shallow-water (5-25 m), Grange & Singleton (1988) noted that black coral populations in the fords of New Zealand are frequently impacted by terrestrial landslides that bring down boulders and trees onto the submarine habitats where black corals grow. These landslides can directly tear submarine fauna from the substrate, or produce sediment clouds that settle over delicate organisms such as black corals (Grange & Singleton 1988).

Associated fauna

Like other corals, antipatharians represent important habitats for a myriad of associated organisms including polychaetes, barnacles, ophiuroids, copepods, crabs, shrimp, anemones, zoanthids, hydroids, crinoids, bryozoans, snails, bivalves, tunicates

and fish (Table 2.5). Associated species can inhabit four different microhabitats within black corals, including (1) surfaces of living branches, (2) surfaces of dead branches or colonies, (3) cavities inside tissues or skeletons, or (4) free spaces between branches (Buhl-Mortensen & Mortensen 2004). Many organisms use black corals opportunistically or transiently, and therefore are not true symbionts. In particular, numerous mobile organisms like fish occasionally hide behind branches of antipatharians (Grigg 1964; Aburto-Oropeza & Balart 2001; Boland & Parrish 2005; Parrish 2006; Sink et al. 2006; Tissot et al. 2006; Tazioli et al. 2007). Additionally, many organisms like sponges, bryozoans, amphipods, hydroids and algae opportunistically overgrow already dead colonies (Grigg 1964; Chave & Jones 1991; Love et al. 2007; Bo et al. 2009b), and are therefore also not true symbionts. However, defining symbioses involving black corals is often difficult, because many antipatharian associates are only known from limited observations (Table 2.5). Consequently, the term symbiont is exclusively used here for those organisms where a long-term association with living black coral colonies has been documented. In these cases, the symbiosis is further categorized in terms of the dependence (i.e., obligate or facultative) and relation (i.e., commensal, mutualistic or parasitic), where possible (Buhl-Mortensen & Mortensen 2004).

Arthropods are the most common symbionts of antipatharians in terms of the number of species, and generally form commensal associations with black corals (**Table 2.5**). Among arthropod symbionts, barnacles, crabs, shrimp and copepods are particularly widespread (**Table 2.5**). Barnacles are frequently firmly attached to the skeleton of black corals, and in some cases the coenenchyme of the host even covers the stalk and valves of

barnacle symbionts (Ellis & Solander 1786; Warner 1981; Jones et al. 2000; Yoklavich & Love 2005; Bo 2008). Furthermore, in some symbioses the spines that cover the peduncle of barnacles are produced by both the symbiont and the antipatharian host, indicating an intimate association (Newman 1972; Bo 2008). While many barnacles exhibit some degree of facultative dependence on their hosts, the family Oxynaspididae, and in particular the genus Oxinaspis, contains members that are almost exclusively found on black corals (Newman 1972; Rosell 1981; Jones et al. 2000). Decapod shrimps and crabs are also commonly associated with black corals (Table 2.5). Several reports note decapods crawling on the branches of colonies, where they feed on material trapped by the mucus secreted by black corals, or perch on the top of colonies facing into the current to feed (Wirtz & d'Udekem-d'Acoz 2001; Bright 2007; Tazioli et al. 2007; Le Guilloux et al. 2010). These associations therefore benefit the decapods involved, because symbionts obtain protection from predators, feed on particles collected by their hosts and get off the benthic boundary layer where catching prey is more difficult (Angel & Boxhall 1990). However, in most cases it is unknown whether antipatharians experience any fitness benefits or detriments from hosting decapods. Symbiotic decapods occasionally feed on antipatharian tissues, and some of these associations might therefore be parasitic (Wirtz & d'Udekem-d'Acoz 2001). On the contrary, decapods may help their antipatharian hosts by cleaning them from encrusting fauna (Le Guilloux et al. 2010), or by protecting them from predators, as has been documented in symbioses between decapods and shallowwater corals (Glynn 1980; Zann 1987; Pratchett 2001). Many symbiotic decapods of antipatharians also inhabit other hosts and substrates, however, some groups may be specialized to antipatharians (**Table 2.5**). In particular, the decapods *Chirostylus*

dolichopus, *Dasycaris zanzibarica*, *Nematopagurus longicornis*, *Periclimenes wirtzi*, *Pontonides unciger* as well as several species within the genus *Quadrella* apparently are obligate associates of antipatharians (**Table 2.5**).

Copepods are also commonly associated with black corals, where they inhabit either the external surfaces of living branches, or cavities within tissues (Table 2.5). In the latter case, copepods may subsist within antipatharians by ingesting mucus or tissues of their hosts (Goenaga 1977; Humes & Goenaga 1978). However, this may not necessarily imply a parasitic association. For instance, *Calonastes imparipes* lives within Stichopathes spp. from Puerto Rico, without inflicting damages to its black coral host even in the most heavily infested colonies (Goenaga 1977; Humes & Goenaga 1978). Similarly, endosymbiotic copepod nauplii develop within mesenterial filaments of Cirrhipathes cf. anguina from Indonesia, without inflicting any apparent damages to the antipatharian host (Scoccia & Gaino 2010). Like copepods, polychaete symbionts also inhabit either external surfaces of living branches, or are found within the tissues or skeletons where they typically build worm runs (Pourtales 1874; Silberfeld 1909; Totton 1923; Pettibone 1989; Molodtsova & Budaeva 2007; Bo 2008). In many polychaete symbioses there are no apparent visible damages to black corals, suggesting a commensal relationship (Brook 1889; Van Pesch 1914; Pettibone 1989; Pettibone 1991). However, some polychaete associates cause substantial growth anomalies to their black coral hosts (Pourtales 1874; Pax 1918; Totton 1923; Molodtsova & Budaeva 2007). In most cases the degree of dependence of polychaete symbioses with black corals is unknown,

although the species *Bayerpolynoe floridensis*, *Benhamipolynae antipathicola* and *Brychionoe karenae* all appear to be obligate associates of black corals (**Table 2.5**).

Molluscan associates of black corals include both bivalves within the genus *Pteria*, as well as several ovullid and muricid gastropods (**Table 2.5**). The former are commonly attached to either living or dead branches of various black coral species, and use the black corals to position themselves for more effective filter feeding in the water column (Weaver 1961; Grigg 1964; Rees 1969; Opresko 1976; Tazioli et al. 2007; Bo 2008; Bo et al. 2008). Gastropod symbionts are generally predators of antipatharians, some of which exhibit specialized adaptations to live on black corals, such as camouflage or mimicry (Grigg 1964; Schiaparelli et al. 2005; Tazioli et al. 2007). Within cnidarian associates of black corals, hydroids and zoanthids are most abundant (Table 2.5). Hydroids are frequently found on the main stem of living colonies, or covering dead branches or colonies (Ralph 1958; Grigg 1964; Chave & Jones 1991; Yoklavich & Love 2005; Tazioli et al. 2007; Bo 2008; Di Camillo et al. 2008; Henry et al. 2008). In many cases, epibiotic hydroids settle after antipatharian colonies are already dead (Chave & Jones 1991; Henry et al. 2008). On the contrary, Bo et al. (in press) described a commensal association between Antipathella subpinnata and the hydroid Ectopleura sp., in which the epibiont is covered by the tissues and skeleton of its host, indicating that there are intimate associations between antipatharians and hydroids. Epizoism on antipatharians is also a common trait of zoanthid cnidarians, although zoanthids generally parasitize black corals by progressively overgrowing and smothering living tissues (Chave & Malahoff 1998; Sinninger et al. 2005; Reimer et al. 2008; Sinninger et al.

2008; Mastrototaro et al. 2010). Parasitic zoanthids are generally facultative symbionts on antipatharians (**Table 2.5**), although *Savalia* sp. exclusively parasitizes *Tanacetipathes cavernicola* in the Cape Verde Islands (Sinninger et al. 2005).

A number of different fish use black corals as habitat (Grigg 1964; Davis & Cohen 1968; Donaldson & Colin 1989; Kerstitch 1989; Okiyama & Tsukamoto 1989; Colin & Arneson 1995; Aburto-Oropeza & Balart 2001; Greenfield & Randall 2004; Boland & Parrish 2005; Parrish 2006; Tissot et al. 2006; Herler 2007; Tazioli et al. 2007; Bo et al. 2009b). The level of usage ranges from fish occasionally hiding among black coral branches, to fish being residents of specific colonies but also using other habitats, to fish never leaving individual colonies. The latter is particularly common among various goby species within the genus *Bryaninops*, which live in association with *Antipathes* spp. and *Cirrhipathes* spp. throughout the Pacific and the Red Sea (Davis & Cohen 1968; Okiyama & Tsukamoto 1989; Colin & Arneson 1995; Greenfield & Randall 2004; Herler 2007; Tazioli et al. 2007). Additionally, some fish lay their eggs on black coral colonies, including *Amblyglyphidodon aureus* on shallow-water (5-45 m) antipatharians in Indonesia (Tazioli et al. 2007), and *Scyliorhinus* sp. on *Antipathella subpinnata* in the Mediterranean (Bo 2008; Bo et al. 2009b).

One of the best documented symbioses among black corals is the mutual association between the ophiuroid *Astrobrachion constrictum* and *Antipathella fiordensis* from New Zealand (Grange 1991; Stewart 1996; Stewart 1998). The ophiuroid gains protection and food, whilst enhancing the survival of its antipatharian host by removing

silt and debris that can smother polyps. Individual ophiuroids have been observed on the same antipatharian colony for over five years, indicating a long-lived and intimate relationship. Furthermore, *A. constrictum* has never been recorded from any other host or free-living, suggesting an obligate symbiosis (Grange 1991).

Very little is known about microorganisms associated with black corals. Van Pesch (1914) reported unicellular parasites from the tissues of various black coral species, however, he did not provide any further descriptions. More recently, a few studies examined the bacterial communities associated with antipatharians (Park et al. 2002; Penn et al. 2006; Santiago-Vazquez et al. 2007). Park et al. (2002), studied the abundance of microorganisms on various marine invertebrates from South Korea, including an *Antipathes* sp. collected at 22 m. The bacterial abundance of *Antipathes* sp. was significantly higher than seawater, and similar to those of sympatric octocorals (Park et al. 2002). Penn et al. (2006) and Santiago-Vazquez et al. (2007) characterized the bacterial community of black corals. The mirobiota of an unidentified black coral collected from deep-waters (1100-1950 m) off Alaska was dominated by alphaproteobacteria (Penn et al. 2006), whereas a shallow-water (45 m) wire coral sampled off Florida hosted mostly gammaproteobacteria, alphaproteobacteria and actinobacteria (Santiago-Vazquez et al. 2007). Additionally, in both cases the bacterial communities from black corals were substantially different from that of surrounding seawater, indicating a distinct microorganism community associated with black corals (Penn et al. 2006; Santiago-Vazquez et al. 2007).

Endosymbiotic dinoflagellates within the genus Symbiodinium provide photosynthetically derived nutrients to a diverse array of coral hosts (Baker 2003; Knowlton & Rowder 2003). Due to the predominant occurrence of black corals in lowlight environments that do not support photosynthesis (Cairns 2007), the absence of Symbiodinium within black corals has generally been inferred rather than empirically demonstrated, and the whole taxonomic order has been considered azooxanthellate (see Wagner et al. 2011b). That said, Brook (1889) and Van Pesch (1914) both noted round bodies within the tissues of several black coral species, which they interpreted as symbiotic algae. However, these reports have been largely overlooked, or dismissed as questionable (Bo 2008). Supporting the questionable nature of these early reports, several more recent studies using histological techniques (Grigg 1964; Grigg 1976; Goenaga 1977), spectrophotometric chlorophyll measurements (Shick & Dykens 1985; Santiago-Vazquez et al. 2007) and molecular approaches (Santiago-Vazquez et al. 2007), have failed to detect *Symbiodinium* within black corals. In contrast, Wagner et al. (2011b) detected very low densities (0-92 cells/mm³) of endosymbiotic Symbiodinium within the majority of black coral species from Hawai'i. While the physiological role of the symbiont cells was not determined, their low densities coupled with the extreme depths at which they were recorded (\leq 396 m), argue that they do not provide their antipatharian hosts with photosynthetic products, and thus suggest an either parasitic or commensal association (Wagner et al. 2011b). Bo (2011) recorded endosymbiotic Symbiodinium in the shallow-water (40 m) *Cirrhipathes* sp. from Indonesia (Bo 2011). In contrast to other reports (Brook 1889; Van Pesch 1914; Wagner et al. 2011b), Bo (2011) noted very high densities of *Symbiodinium* cells within *Cirrhipathes* sp. ($\leq 10^6$ cells/mm³), and showed

Table 2.5. List of symbiotic organisms recorded from antipatharians (LB = surfaces of living branches; DB = surfaces of dead branches; IT = inside tissues; BB = spaces between branches; O = obligate, F = facultative; M = mutualistic; C = commensal; P = parasitic; - = values not reported).

Symbiont species	Host species	Symbiont microhabitat	Depen- dence	Relation	Locality	Depth (m)	Comments	Reference(s)
KINGDOM: ANIMALIA								
PHYLUM: ANNELIDA								
Class: Polychaeta								
Aciculomarphysa comes	Antipatharian	LB	_	_	-	-	-	(Molodtsova & Budaeva 2007)
Antipathipolyeunoa nuttingi	Tanacetipathes tanacetum	LB, IT	-	С	Caribbean	70-91	Living on external surface of antipatharian and also found in hollow tubes along the main stem	(Pettibone 1991; Molodtsova & Budaeva 2007)
Bayerpolynoe floridensis	Stylopathes columnaris	LB	0	С	Florida	237	Obligate commensal on coral	(Pettibone 1991; Martin & Britayev 1998; Buhl-Mortensen & Mortensen 2004; Molodtsova & Budaeva 2007)
Benhamipolynae antipathicola	Antipathidae and Myriopathidae spp., Parantipathes tenuispina	LB, IT	0	С	Indo-Pacific, Florida	128- 600	Lives in latticed tunnels	(Pettibone 1989; Pettibone 1991; Martin & Britayev 1998; Buhl- Mortensen & Mortensen 2004; Molodtsova & Budaeva 2007)
Bollandiella antipathicola	Antipathes sp.	LB	-	-	Okinawa	52-61	Species described from antipatharian associates	(Glasby 1994; Martin & Britayev 1998; Molodtsova & Budaeva 2007)
Brychionoe karenae	Leiopathes sp.	LB	0	С	Tasman Sea	-	-	(Martin & Britayev 1998; Buhl- Mortensen & Mortensen 2004)
Eunice antipathum	Distichopathes filix, Elatopathes abietina	LB	-	-	-	-	-	(Molodtsova & Budaeva 2007)
Eunice kristiani	Antipathidae and Myriopathidae spp.	IT	-	-	Indo-Pacific	300- 600	Symbionts cause skeletal spine modifications in host	(Molodtsova & Budaeva 2007)
Eunice marianae	Antipathidae and Myriopathidae spp.	IT	-	-	Indo-Pacific	300- 600	Symbionts cause skeletal spine modifications in host	(Molodtsova & Budaeva 2007)
Filograna implexa	Antipathella subpinnata	LB	-	_	Mediterranean	<100	Found on live colonies	(Bo 2008)
Filograna spp.	Antipathella subpinnata	LB	-	-	Mediterranean	<100	Found on live colonies	(Bo et al. 2009b)
Marphysa antipathum	Distichopathes filix	IT	-	_	-	-	Polychaete builds tube along stem of antipatharian	(Totton 1923)
Neohololepidella antipathicola	Elatopathes abientina	LB	-	-	-	-	-	(Molodtsova & Budaeva 2007)
Pilargidae sp.	Stichopathes spp.	LB	-	-	Puerto Rico	15-70	Relation of polychaete to coral unknown	(Goenaga 1977; Humes & Goenaga 1978)
Polynoidae sp.	Antipathes dendrochistos	LB	-	-	California	106	Ubiquitous on live but not on dead colonies	(Love et al. 2007)
Polynoidae sp.	Hexapathes hivaensis	LB	-	-	Marquesas	400- 430	Found on antipatharian	(Molodtsova 2006)
Serpulidae sp.	Antipathes griggi	LB	_	-	Hawaiʻi	<50	Common epibiont	(Grigg 1964)
Spionidae sp.	Antipathes griggi	LB	-	_	Hawaiʻi	<50	Common epibiont	(Grigg 1964)
Tottonpolynoe symantipatharia	Parantipathes sp.	LB	F	С	New Zealand	787- 1684	Found in groove along main stem of antipatharian and on gorgonian	(Pettibone 1991)
PHYLUM: ARTHROPO	DA							
Class: Malacostraca Subclass: Eumalacostraca	I							

Symbiont species	Host species	Symbiont microhabitat	Depen- dence	Relation	Locality	Depth (m)	Comments	Reference(s)
Anachlorocurtis commensalis	Myriopathes japonica, Antipathes spp.	LB	-	С	Japan	8-15	Commensal on coral	(Hayashi 1975)
Balssia gasti	Antipathella wollastoni, A. subpinnata, Tanacetipathes spinescens	LB	F	_	Azores, Cape Verde	38-41	Collected on antipatharians and other hosts	(d'Udekem-d'Acoz 2001; Wirtz & d'Udekem-d'Acoz 2001)
Calappa granulata	Stichopathes gracilis	LB	F	-	Canary Islands	130- 300	Crab lives in bottoms dominated by <i>S. gracilis</i> and urchins	(Gonzalez et al. 2000)
Calcinus tubularis	Antipathella wollastoni	LB	F	_	Azores	-	Facultative relationship with antipatharians	(d'Udekem-d'Acoz & Wirtz 2002)
Calocarcinus africanus	Antipathes sp.	LB	F	-	Norfolk Ridge	400- 460	Also collected on gorgonians and scleractinians	(Castro 1997b)
Chyrostylus affinis	Parantipathes sp., Antipathes sp.	LB	-	М	Ireland	620- 700	Antipatharians often associated with large numbers of spider crabs	(Wienberg et al. 2008)
Chirostylus dolichopus	Rhipidipathes sp.	LB	0	С	Indonesia	5-45	Always observed on Rhipidipathes sp.	(Tazioli et al. 2007)
Chirostylus ortmanni	Antipatharian	LB	F	-	NR	-	Found within antipatharian but also on gorgonian	(Tirmizi & Khan 1979; Osawa 2007)
Chirostylus stellaris	Antipatharian	LB	F	-	Japan	15-30	Found on antipatharians and octocorals, mostly at night	(Osawa 2007)
Chirostyrus dolichopus	Antipathes spp.	LB	_	-	Japan	-	_	(Hayashi 1975)
Dasycaris ceratops	Antipatharian	LB	-	-	Australia	35	-	(Bruce 1982; Spotte et al. 1994)
Dasycaris zanzibarica	Cirrhipathes spp., C. anguina,	LB	0	С	Indo-West Pacific	5-45	Associated with antipatharian	(Bruce 1982; Bruce 1983; Spotte et al. 1994; Tazioli et al. 2007)
Eualus occultus	Antipathella wollastoni	LB	-	-	Azores	40	-	(d'Udekem-d'Acoz & Wirtz 2002)
Galathea intermedia	Antipathella subpinnata, Tanacetipathes spinescens	LB	-	-	Cape Verde	-	_	(Wirtz & d'Udekem-d'Acoz 2001)
Gastroptychus formosus	Bathypathes sp., Leiopathes sp.	LB	F	-	Ireland	600- 1200	Adults also found on gorgonians. Lobsters possibly feed on mucus of antipatharian thereby cleaning it	(Le Guilloux et al. 2010)
Hippolyte varians	Antipathella wollastoni	LB	-	-	Azores	32-41	Not clear if living on black coral or algae covering coral	(Fransen & Wirtz 1997; d'Udekem-d'Acoz & Wirtz 2002)
Macropodia sp.	Antipathella wollastoni	LB	_	-	Azores	40-41	-	(d'Udekem-d'Acoz & Wirtz 2002)
Micropisa ovata	Antipathella subpinnata, Tanacetipathes spinescens	LB	_	-	Cape Verde	-	_	(Wirtz & d'Udekem-d'Acoz 2001)
Miopontonia yongei	Cirrhipathes anguina	LB	F	-	Japan	20	Also found on gorgonian	(Okuno 1998)
Miropandalus hardingi	Cirrhipathes sp. C. anguina	LB	-	-	Indo-West Pacific	-	_	(Bruce 1983; Okuno 1998)
Naxiodes taurus	Antipathes sp., Rhipidipathes sp.	LB	F	С	Indonesia	5-45	Walk on antipatharian, especially at night	(Tazioli et al. 2007)
Nematopagurus longicornis	Antipathella wollastoni	LB	0	-	Azores	40-41	Only found on antipatharians	(d'Udekem-d'Acoz & Wirtz 2002)
Neopericlimenes thornei	Cirrhipathes sp., Stichopathes sp.	LB	_	-	Turks & Caicos Islands	40	Associated with antipatharian	(Heard et al. 1993; Spotte et al. 1994)
Neopontonides beaufortensis	Stichopathes gracilis	LB	-	-	Caribbean	3-25	_	(Criales 1984)
Neopontonides principis	Stichopathes gracilis	LB	-	-	Caribbean	3-25	-	(Criales 1984)
Pagurus sp.	Parantipathes sp., Antipathes sp.	LB	-	М	Ireland	620- 700	Antipatharians often associated with large numbers of crabs	(Wienberg et al. 2008)
Palaemonella atlantica	Antipathes sp., Antipathella subpinnata, Tanacetipathes spinescens	LB	F	-	Cape Verde	<60	Also found on anemone	(Fransen & Wirtz 1997; Wirtz & d'Udekem-d'Acoz 2001)
Palaemonidae sp.	Stichopathes lutkeni, Stichopathes sp.	LB	-	-	Puerto Rico	25-75	External symbiont	(Humes & Goenaga 1978)

Symbiont species	Host species	Symbiont microhabitat	Depen- dence	Relation	Locality	Depth (m)	Comments	Reference(s)
Periclimenes antipathophilus	Antipathes gracilis, Plumapathes pennacea, Antipathes spp.	LB	-	-	Caribbean	17-45	Associated with antipatharian	(Spotte et al. 1994; De Grave & Anker 2009)
Periclimenes arabicus	Antipathes sp.	LB	-	-	Maldives	50	Associated with antipatharian	(Duris 1990)
Periclimenes granulimanus	Antipatharian	LB	F	-	Madagascar	24	Associated with antipatharian, also found on hydroids	(Bruce 1982; Spotte et al. 1994)
Periclimenes infraspinis	Antipathes galapagensis	LB	_	-	Eastern Pacific	3-76	Lives on branches of coral	(Kerstitch 1989)
Periclimenes iridescens	Stichopathes gracilis, S. lutkeni	LB	F	-	Caribbean	3-183	Also found on sand, algae and anemones	(Criales 1984; Spotte et al. 1994; De Grave & Anker 2009)
Periclimenes lepidus	Antipatharian	LB	_	-	Kenya, Madagascar	-	Associated with antipatharian	(Spotte et al. 1994)
Periclimenes murcielagensis	Myriopathes panamensis	LB	-	-	Caribbean	25	Associated with antipatharian	(Vargas 2000)
Periclimenes nevillei	Cirrhipathes sp.	LB	_	_	Vanuatu	8	Shrimp described from antipatharian associates	(Bruce 2010)
Periclimenes nilandensis	Antipatharian	LB	-	-	Kenya, Maldives, Madagascar, Indonesia	-	Associated with antipatharian	(Spotte et al. 1994)
Periclimenes pedersoni	Plumapathes pennacea	LB	_	-	Netherlands Antilles	12	Associated with various cnidarians	(Spotte 1996)
Periclimenes platalea	Antipathella subpinnata, Tanacetipathes spinescens	LB	-	-	Cape Verde	15-30	Collected on antipatharian	(Wirtz & d'Udekem-d'Acoz 2001)
Periclimenes psamanthe	Antipathes cf. plana, Antipatharians	LB	F	С	Indo-Pacific	5-45	Occasional associate of antipatharians	(Spotte et al. 1994; De Grave 2000; Tazioli et al. 2007)
Periclimenes sagittifer	Antipathllas wollastoni	LB	_	-	Azores	29-40		(d'Udekem-d'Acoz & Wirtz 2002)
Periclimenes sp.	Antipatharian	LB	-		Madagascar, Australia	-	Associated with antipatharian	(Spotte et al. 1994)
Periclimenes wirtzi	Antipathella subpinnata, A. wollastoni, Tanacetipathes spinescens	LB	0	С	Cape Verde, Azores and Canary Islands	29-54	Obligatory commensal	(Fransen & Wirtz 1997; Wirtz & d'Udekem-d'Acoz 2001; d'Udekem-d'Acoz & Wirtz 2002)
Pontonidae sp.	Antipathes griggi	LB	_	_	Hawaiʻi	<50	_	(Grigg 1964)
Pontonides aff. unciger	Cirrhipathes sp., Cirrhipathes anguina	LB	_	_	Australia, Hawaiʻi	23	Associated with antipatharian	(Bruce 1982; Heard 1986; Spotte et al. 1994)
Pontonides asperulatus	Cirrhipathes sp.	LB	_	-	Papua New Guinea	16	-	(Marin 2006)
Pontonides cf. maldivensis	Cirrhipathes sp.	LB	-	-	Hawaiʻi	-	-	(Heard 1986)
Pontonides loloata	Cirrhipathes sp.	LB	-	-	Papua New Guinea	5	-	(Marin 2006)
Pontonides sp.	Cirrhipathes sp., Antipathes griggi, A. grandis	LB	-	-	Indo-West Pacific	20	Shrimp species needs redescription	(Grigg 1964; Castro 1971; Okuno 1998)
Pontonides sympathes	Antipathes galapagensis	LB	-	-	Galapagos	-	Associated with antipatharian	(Spotte et al. 1994)Heard 196
Pontonides unciger	Cirrhipathes spp, C. cf. anguina, Pseudocirrhipathes mapia	LB	0	С	Indo-West Pacific	5-45	Shrimps coloration pattern matches host	(Davis & Cohen 1968; Heard 1986; Spotte et al. 1994; De Grave 2000; Tazioli et al. 2007; Bo et al. 2009a; Bo et al. 2009c)
Pseudocoutierea conchae	Stichopathes gracilis	LB	-	_	Caribbean	15-25	Associated with antipatharian	(Criales 1984; Spotte et al. 1994)
Pseudocoutierea edentata	Stichopathes gracilis	LB	-	_	Caribbean	-	Associated with antipatharian	(Spotte et al. 1994)
Pseudocoutierea wirtzi	Stichopathes lutkeni	LB	-	-	Cape Verde Islands, Azores	29-54	Associated with antipatharian	(Wirtz & d'Udekem-d'Acoz 2001; Marin 2006)

Symbiont species	Host species	Symbiont microhabitat	Depen- dence	Relation	Locality	Depth (m)	Comments	Reference(s)
Pseudopontonides plumosus	Antipathes sp.	LB	-	-	Curacao	29	Species described from antipatharian associates	(Snijders & Fransen 2010)
Pseudopontonides principis	Stichopathes spp, S. gracilis, Cirrhipthes spp., Antipathes gracilis, Plumapathes pennacea	LB	F	_	Caribbean	-	Also found with Virgularia sp.	(Heard 1986; Spotte et al. 1994)
Quadrella lewinsohni	Antipatharian	LB	-	-	Marquesas	10-15	Found on antipatharian	(Castro 1997a)
Quadrella maculosa	Antipathes sp., A. abies, Parantipathes sp., Antipatharian	LB	0	С	Indo-West Pacific	5-45	Associations in genus <i>Quadrella</i> are almost obligate with antipatharians	(Colin & Arneson 1995; Shih & Mok 1996; Castro 1997b; Tazioli et al. 2007)
Quadrella reticulata	Antipathes sp.	LB	-	-	Moluccas	18-25	Collected on antipatharian	(Castro 1999)
Quadrella spp.	Cirripathes abies, Antipathes spp.	LB	0	С	Indonesia	5-45	Associations in genus <i>Quadrella</i> are almost obligate with antipatharians	(Tazioli et al. 2007)
Rapipontonia platalea	Antipatharians	LB	F			-	Also found on gorgonian	(De Grave & Anker 2009)
Tozeuma armatum	Antipathes spp.	LB	-	С	Indonesia	5-45	Lives on antipatharian	(Tazioli et al. 2007)
Waldola schmitti	Myriopathes panamensis	IT	-		Caribbean	-	found within the colony	(Vargas 2000)
Xenocarcinus spp.	Antipathes spp.	LB	-	С	Japan	-	Color matches that of host. No apparent damage to host	(Hayashi 1975)
Xenocarcinus tuberculatus	Cirrhipathes spp.	LB	-	С	Indonesia	5-45	Firmly attached to antipatharian	(Tazioli et al. 2007)
Class: Maxillopoda Subclass: Copepoda								
Asteropontius bandicola	Cupressopathes abies, Tanacetipathes cf. spinescens	LB	_	_	Moluccas, Madagascar	-	Collected on antipatharian	(Humes 1992)
Asteropontius bifurcatus	Myriopathes japonica	LB	-	-	Korea	-	Species described from antipatharian associates	(Kim & Je 2000)
Asteropontius latus	Antipathes sp.	LB	_	_	Philippines	-	Collected on antipatharian	(Humes 1992)
Calonastes imparipes	Stichopathes lutkeni, Stichopathes sp.	IT	-	С	Puerto Rico	25-75	No damage to host even in heavy infestations	(Goenaga 1977; Humes & Goenaga 1978)
Camotesia bullifera	Antipathes sp.	LB	-	-	Philippines	30	Collected on antipatharian	(Humes 1990)
Lichomolgus insectus	Tanacetipathes cf. spinescens, Myriopathes myriophyllia and Cupressopathes abies	LB	-	-	Madagascar	23-25	-	(Humes 1969)
Orecturus grandisetiger	Antipathes sp., A. longibrachiata, Arachnopathes ericoides, Rhipidipathes reticulata	LB	-	_	Madagascar, Moluccas, Phillippines	_	Collected on antipatharian	(Humes 1992)
Paramolgus constrictus	Cupressopathes abies, Arachnopathes ericoides	LB	-	-	Madagascar	24-35	Collected on antipatharian	(Humes 1969; Humes & Stock 1973; Humes 1979)
Paramolgus delicatulus	Antipathes sp.	LB	-	-	Philippines	-	Collected on antipatharian	(Humes 1992)
Paramolgus insectus	Antipathes sp., Tanacetipathes. cf. spinescens, A. abies, Myriopathes myriophylla , Cirrhipathes anguina	LB	-	-	Madagascar, Moluccas, Phillippines	-	Collected on antipatharian	(Humes 1969; Humes & Stock 1973; Humes 1979; Humes 1992)
Saphellidae sp.	Antipathes sp.	LB	_	_	Philippines	30	Collected on antipatharian	(Humes 1990)
Thamnomolgus nodulus	Antipathes sp.	LB	-	-	Philippines	30	Collected on antipatharian	(Humes 1990)

Symbiont species	Host species	Symbiont microhabitat	Depen- dence	Relation	Locality	Depth (m)	Comments	Reference(s)
Thamnomolgus robustus	Antipathes sp., Cupressopathes abies, Myriopathes myriophylla, Tanacetipathes cf. spinescens, Arachnopathes ericoides	LB	-	-	Madagascar, Phillipines	20-30	Collected on antipatharian	(Humes 1969; Humes 1979; Humes 1990; Humes 1992)
Vahinius petax	Stichopathes echinulata and Antipathes longibrachiata	IT	-	Р	Madagascar	30	Copepods recovered after throroughly washing antipatharian with preservative, suggesting that they live internally within antipatharian	(Humes 1967; Humes 1969; Humes 1979; Humes 1992)
Vahinius verbericolus	Cupressopathes abies	LB	-	Р	Moluccas	-	Collected on antipatharian	(Humes 1979)
Visayasia lobura	Antipathes sp.	LB	-	-	Philippines	-	Collected on antipatharian	(Humes 1992)
Visayasia subterna	Antipathes sp.	LB	-	_	Philippines	-	Collected on antipatharian	(Humes 1992)
Class: Maxillopoda Subclass: Thecostraca Infraclass: Ascothoracida								
Synagoga mira	Parantipathes larix	LB	F	Р	Naples harbor	-	Ascothoracida crustaceans commonly parasitize echinoderms and cnidarians. Not host specific.	(Grygier 1983)
Class: Maxillopoda Subcalss: Thecostraca Infraclass: Cirripedia								
Calantica graphica	Antipatharians	LB	-	-	Philippines	193- 205	Attached to antipatharian	(Jones et al. 2000)
Conopea cymbiformis	Antipatharians	LB	F	-	Indo-West Pacific	<403	Attached to coenosarc of antipatharians and gorgonians	(Jones et al. 2000)
Conopea dentifer	Antipatharians	LB	F	-	Indonesia, Philippines, Japan, Tonga	26-266	Embedded in coenosarc of antipatharians and gorgonians	(Jones et al. 2000)
Conopea granulatus	Antipatharians	LB	F	-	Japan, China, Taiwan, Philippines	90-200	Embedded in coenosarc of antipatharians and gorgonians	(Jones et al. 2000)
Conopea sinesis	Antipatharians	LB	_	_	South China Sea	-	_	(Jones et al. 2000)
Heteralepas cornuta	Antipathes sp.	LB	_	_	St. Vincent, West Indies	-	-	(Rosell 1981)
Heteralepas smilius	Antipatharians	LB	-	-	South and East China Sea	167- 217	Attached to antipatharian	(Jones et al. 2000)
Lepas minima	Antipathes sp.	LB	-	-	NR	NR	Attached to antipatharian	(Thompson 1835)
Megalasma minus	Antipathes sp.	LB	F	-	Philippines	484- 448	Also found on sea urchin spines	(Rosell 1981)
Megalasma striatum	Antipathes sp.	LB	-	-	Indo-West Pacific	125- 984	Attached to antipatharian	(Jones et al. 2000)
Octolasmis warwickii	Antipatharians	LB	F	-	Indo-West Pacific	14-100	Also attached to mollusks, decapods, sea snakes and fishes	(Jones et al. 2000)
Octolasmis weberi	Antipathes sp.	LB	-	-	Philippines	448- 484	Attached to antipatharian	(Rosell 1981; Jones et al. 2000)
Oxynaspis aurivillii	Antipatharians	LB	_	_	South China Sea	10-453	Attached to antipatharian	(Jones et al. 2000)
Oxynaspis bocki	Antipatharians	LB	-	-	Japan, China, Philippines	150- 300	Attached to antipatharian	(Rosell 1981; Jones et al. 2000)

Symbiont species	Host species	Symbiont microhabitat	Depen- dence	Relation	Locality	Depth (m)	Comments	Reference(s)
Oxynaspis celata	Antipathella wollastoni, antipatharians	LB	_	С	Atlantic, Pacific and Indian	15- 1425	Attached to antipatharian; coral host covers barnacle valves	(Johnson 1899; Totton 1923; Jones et al. 2000; Jones 2003; Brito & Ocaña 2004; Wirtz et al. 2006)
Oxynaspis connectens	Antipathes sp., Antipatharians	LB	-	-	Philippines, Indonesia	183- 245	Attached to antipatharian	(Rosell 1981; Jones et al. 2000)
Oxynaspis faroni	Antipathes lentipinna	LB	-	-	Red Sea, China	20	Attached to antipatharian	(Jones et al. 2000)
Oxynaspis granti	Antipatharians	LB	_	_	South of Penang	NR	Attached to antipatharian	(Jones et al. 2000)
Oxynaspis reducens	Myriopathes japonica, Cirrhipathes anguina	LB	-	-	Hong Kong, China	12	Attached to antipatharian	(Jones et al. 2000)
Oxynaspis rossi	Antipathes sp., A. dendrochistos, antipathrian	LB	0	-	Southern and Baja California	55-183	Spines may be of dual origin of both host and symbiont	(Newman 1972; Love et al. 2007)
Oxynaspis sp.	Antipathella aperta	LB	_	_	New Zealand	128	Attached to antipatharian	(Totton 1923)
Oxynaspis terrae-novae	Lillipathes lilliei	LB	F	-	New Zealand	128	Chance association	(Totton 1923)
Pachylasma scutistriata	Antipatharians	LB	F	_	Indo-West Pacific	104- 2050	Also attached to crinoids	(Jones et al. 2000)
Solidobalanus ciliatus	Myriopathes japonica	LB	F	-	Indo-West Pacific	13-220	Also attached to octocoral	(Jones et al. 2000)
Solidobalanus hawaiensis	Antipatharians	LB	F	-	Philippines, Japan, Hawaiʻi	184- 193	Also found on algae	(Rosell 1981; Jones et al. 2000)
PHVI UM, PPVOZOA								
Class: Cymnolaemata								
Smittinidae spp	Antipatharians	LB	-	-	Hawaiʻi	_	Commonly attached to antipatharians	(Soule & Soule 1972)
Sintumate Spp.	. intiputiui uno	20			110/01/1		commonly attached to antipatianities	(Soure de Soure 1972)
PHYLUM: CHORDATA								
Class: Actinopterygii								
Bryaninops sp.	Cirrhiapthes sp.	LB	0	С	Palau	20	Gobies live and lay eggs on antipatharian	(Colin & Arneson 1995)
Bryaninops tigris	Antipathes sp.	LB	0	С	Throughout Pacific	5-53	Gobies bite coenenchyme of host to prepare nest	(Greenfield & Randall 2004; Tazioli et al. 2007)
Bryaninops yongei	Cirrhipathes spp.	LB	0	С	Red Sea to Hawai'i	5-158	Coloration of gobies matches host	(Davis & Cohen 1968; Okiyama & Tsukamoto 1989; Greenfield & Randall 2004; Herler 2007; Tazioli et al. 2007)
Centropyge potteri	Antipathes grandis, A. griggi, Myriopathes ulex	BB	F	С	Hawaiʻi	50-73	Fish are residents of specific trees	(Boland & Parrish 2005)
Dascyllus albisella	Antipathes grandis, A. griggi, Myriopathes ulex	BB	F	С	Hawaiʻi	50-73	Fish are residents of specific trees	(Boland & Parrish 2005)
Oxycirrhites typus	Antipathes grandis, A. griggi, Myriopathes ulex	BB	F	С	Red Sea, throughout Pacific	3-100	Lives on antipatharian branches, but also on gorgonians	(Donaldson & Colin 1989; Kerstitch 1989; Aburto-Oropeza & Balart 2001; Boland & Parrish 2005; Tazioli et al. 2007)
Class: Ascidiacea	And in what the main in the investor	LD			Maditamanaa	<100		(D - 2008; D+ -1, 2000)
Clavellia dellavallei	Antipathella subpinnata	LB	-	-	Mediterranean	<100	-	(Bo 2008; Bo et al. 2009b)
PHVI UM, CNIDADIA								
Class: Anthozoa								

Symbiont species	Host species	Symbiont microhabitat	Depen- dence	Relation	Locality	Depth (m)	Comments	Reference(s)
<i>Carijoa</i> sp.	Antipathes griggi, A. grandis	LB, DB	F	Р	Hawaiʻi	50-110	Octocoral overgrows tissues and skeleton of antipatharians	(Grigg 2003; Grigg 2004; Boland & Parrish 2005; Kahng & Grigg 2005)
Epizoanthus sp.	Leiopathes glaberrima	LB, DB	F	Р	Mediterranean	671- 790	Zoanthid parasite found on antipatharian colonies and on scleractinian <i>Madrepora oculata</i>	(Mastrototaro et al. 2010)
Gerardia savaglia	Antipathes sp.	LB	F	Р	Madeira	<60	Zoanthid overgrows tissues and skeleton of antipatharians	(Wirtz 1998)
Nemanthus sp.	Antipathes sp.	LB	F	Р	Indonesia	5-45	Frequently observed on dead colonies	(Tazioli et al. 2007)
Parazoanthus sp.	Antipatharian	LB	-	Р	Cape Verde	-	Associated with antipatharians	(Sinninger et al. 2008)
Parazoanthus sp.	Antipathes galapagensis	LB	-	Р	Galapagos	12-35	Zoanthids may overgrow and kill host	(Reimer et al. 2008)
Savalia sp.	Tanacetipathes cavernicola	LB	0	Р	Cape Verde	-	Exclusively found on black corals	(Sinninger et al. 2005)
Zoanthus sp.	Antipathes spp., Cirrhipathes spp.	LB	-	Р	Indonesia	5-45	Settle on bare parts of skeleton	(Tazioli et al. 2007)
Class: Hydrozoa								
Bougainvillia sp.	_	-	-	_	Mediterranean	<100	Common epibiont	(Bo 2008)
Ectopleura sp.	Antipathella subpinnata	LB, DB	F	С	Mediterranean	<100	Causes no apparent damage to host, also found on gorgonians	(Bo et al. in press)
Lafoea gracillima	Antipathella aperta	_	_	_	New Zealand	55	Commonly found on antipatharian	(Ralph 1958)
<i>Obelia</i> sp.	Antipathella subpinnata	-	-	-	Mediterranean	<100	Common epibiont	(Bo 2008)
PHYLUM: ECHINODEF	RMATA							
Class: Crinoidea								
Cenometra bella	Various antipatharians	LB	F	С	Guam	30-45	Species clings to antipatharians and gorgonians	(Kirkendale & Messing 2003)
Class: Ophiuroidea		I D	P	2	. .			
Asterogordius cacaotica	Antipathes sp.	LB	F	C	Jamaica	-	-	(Buhl-Mortensen & Mortensen 2004)
Asteropora annulata	Elatopathes abietina, Antipathes sp.	LB	F	С	Jamaica	-	-	(Buhl-Mortensen & Mortensen 2004
Astrobrachion constrictum	Antipathella fiordensis	LB	0	М	New Zealand	10-30	Ophioroid cleans host and gets protection and food. Symbiont never found on any other host or free living	(Grange 1991; Stewart 1996; Stewart & Mladenov 1997; Stewart 1998)
Ophiothrix sp.	Antipathes griggi	LB	-	С	Hawaiʻi	<50	Holds on to black coral to feed on plankton	(Grigg 1964)
PHYLUM: MOLLUSCA								
Class: Bivalvia								
Pteria sp.	Antipathes griggi	LB, DB	F	С	Hawaiʻi	<50	-	(Weaver 1961; Grigg 1964)
Pteria spp.	Antipathes griggi	LB, DB	F	С	Indonesia	5-45	Settle on bare parts of skeleton	(Rees 1969; Tazioli et al. 2007)
Pteria hirundo	Antipathella subpinnata	LB, DB	F	С	Mediterranean	<100	Common epibiont	(Bo 2008; Bo et al. 2008)
Pteria sterna	Myriopathes panamensis, Arachnopathes ericoides	LB, DB	F	-	Gulf of Panama	10-25	Coral branches provide substrate for bivalves	(Opresko 1976)
~ ~								
Class: Gastropoda	And in rate 11 m and 11	ID	0	D	Company L 1 1	15 500	Durane an his de a sui la set	(Vers et al. 2002 D. ' 0. 0
Coralliophila kaofitorum	Antipathella wollastoni	LB	0	Р	Canary Islands	15-520	Preys on black coral host	(vega et al. 2002; Brito & Ocaña 2004)
Cypraea helvola	Antipathes griggi	LB	F	С	Hawaiʻi	<50	Live at the bases of colonies	(Grigg 1964)

Symbiont species	Host species	Symbiont microhabitat	Depen- dence	Relation	Locality	Depth (m)	Comments	Reference(s)
Cypraea sulcidentata	Antipathes griggi	LB	F	С	Hawaiʻi	<50	Live at the bases of colonies	(Grigg 1964)
Cypraea tesselata	Antipathes griggi	LB	F	С	Hawaiʻi	<50	Live at the bases of colonies	(Grigg 1964)
Neosimnia sp.	Antipathes griggi	LB	F	С	Hawaiʻi	<50	Color of gastropod matches antipatharian host	(Grigg 1964)
Phenacovolva carnepicta	Antipathes sp.	LB	-	Р	Marquesas	59	Likely preys on antipatharian host	(Rehder & Wilson 1975)
Phenacovolva weaveri	Antipathes spp., Cirrhipathes spp.	LB	0	Р	Indonesia	5-45	Mimics its antipatharian host on which it preys	(Schiaparelli et al. 2005; Tazioli et al. 2007)
Rhizochilus antipathum	Arachnopathes ericoides, Antipathes griggi	LB	0	Р	Red Sea, Hawai'i	<50	Preys on antipatharian host	(Totton 1923; Grigg 1964; Rees 1969; Okamura & Habe 1976)
Rhizochilus teramachii	Myriopathes japonica	LB	-	Р	Japan	30-50	Likely preys on antipatharian host	(Okamura & Habe 1976)
Rhizochilus sp.	Antipatharian	LB	_	Р	Mexico	-	Preys on antipatharian host	(Poorman 1981)
Vermetus enderi	Antipathes spp.	LB	F	Р	Maldives, Philippines, Indonesia	15-20	Forms dense aggregation on antipatharian host, also found on gorgonians	(Schiaparelli & Metivier 2000)
KINGDOM: PROTOZO	DA							
PHYLUM: MYZOZOA								
Class: Dinophyceae								
Symbiodinium spp.	Cirrhipathes sp.	IT	_	M	Indonesia	15-40	Symbionts enclosed by symbiosome	(Bo 2008; Bo et al. 2011)
Symbiodinium spp.	Various antipatharians	IT	F	C/P?	Hawaiʻi	10-396	Low densities exclude mutualism	(Wagner et al. 2011b)

that symbionts were enclosed by a symbiosome, a specialized structure that allows for mutualistic interactions between endosymbiont and host cells (Wakefield et al. 2000; Wakefield & Kempf 2001). Together, these observations provide strong evidence for a mutualistic relationship between *Symbiodinium* and *Cirrhipathes* sp. (Bo 2011). To date, this remains the only report of a mutualistic relationship between *Symbiodinium* and a black coral (**Table 2.5**).

Conclusion

Antipatharians are of great cultural and economic importance to many societies, however, because most species inhabit deep environments (> 50 m), very little in known about their basic biology and ecology. The literature review presented here reveals several generalities in the biology and ecology among the order Antipatharia. Black corals occur throughout all oceans and from subtidal to abyssal depths, however, they are particularly common in tropical and subtropical regions at depths below 50 m. Antipatharians are generally found on hard substrates, in areas with low-light intensities and strong currents. Under favorable conditions, black corals can form dense aggregations to the point of being ecologically dominant. Zooplankton appears to be a major component of the diet of black corals, which feed as suspension feeders and use mucus and nematocysts to capture their prey. Unlike other corals, zooxanthellae are generally not important to the nutrition of antipatharians. Reproduction occurs through both sexual and asexual processes, which have mostly been studied for a few shallowwater species (< 50 m). In general, polyps and colonies are strictly gonochoric, and fertilization and larval development likely occurs externally; however, to date

antipatharian larvae have only been observed for a single species. Antipatharians are generally slow-growing and long-lived organisms with maximum longevities ranging from decades to millennia, and contain the longest living colonial organism known on the planet (≤ 4250 yr). Black corals avoid competition with obligate photosynthetic fauna by being more abundant with depth, and may compete for space by using sweeper tentacles and secondary metabolites. With the exception of a few specialized gastropod predators and green sea turtles, antipatharians appear to be little impacted by predation. Like other corals, antipatharians are of great importance to a myriad of associated species, several of which are adapted to exclusively live on black corals.

One of the main conclusions of this review is that studies dedicated to the biology and ecology of antipatharians have traditionally been very scarce, and have for the most part been conducted in shallow water (< 50 m). Consequently, future studies targeting deeper black coral populations will be needed to verify whether the same patterns observed in shallow-water (< 50 m), also hold true in deeper water (> 50 m). In particular, future deep-water collections will be needed to determine whether antipatharian species have limited biogeographical distributions, or whether this has simply been an artifact of low sampling efforts and/or taxonomic uncertainties. Additionally, studies on reproductive processes, feeding preferences and associated organisms will have to increase sample sizes, because at present most information is derived from the examination of a limited amount of specimens. Given the remoteness of the environments that most black corals inhabit, our understanding of these organisms will certainly depend on our ability to effectively sample them. Many important

biological observations have already been made using aquarium cultures of black corals. Given the inaccessibility of antipatharian habitats, our understanding of their biology and ecology may well depend on our ability to successfully maintain them in laboratory cultures.

CHAPTER 3. TAXONOMIC STUDY

Historical background

In 1725, Marsilli produced the first description and illustration of an antipatharian coral. Even though Marsilli (1725) believed that the organism he was illustrating was a plant, he highlighted its skeletal spines, one of the key features that characterizes antipatharians. Linnaeus (1758) recognized that antipatharians were actually animals, and grouped them with gorgonians based on the fact that both groups possess a skeletal axis that is surrounded by a layer of tissue. Later, Pallas (1766) separated these two taxa, because unlike gorgonians, antipatharians possess skeletal spines and lack calcareous spicules in their tissues. Dana (1846) recognized further differences in the morphology of the tentacles between these two groups, which are branched in gorgonians and unbranched in antipatharians. As a result, Dana (1846) grouped antipatharians with anemones, which also possess unbranched tentacles. Milne-Edwards and Haime (1857) were the first to recognize the Antipatharia as a distinct taxonomic order, and proposed an antipatharian classification scheme based entirely on skeletal features. Brook (1889) revised the antipatharian order by adding features of polyps as classifying characters, in particular the number of mesenteries, the size and position of tentacles around the mouth, and the arrangement of polyps around the axis. Schultze (1896a; 1896b) used the number of mesenteries to separate antipatharian families, a classification system that was expanded by Van Pesch (1914), who added polyp morphology as the main character to distinguish amongst genera, and skeletal spine morphology as the main character to differentiate amongst species.

Complicating the classification of the Antipatharia at the time, were different interpretations on the systematic placement of Gerardia and Dendrobranchia (see below), two genera that were originally grouped with antipatharians despite notable morphological differences (Verrill 1869; Brook 1889; Bell 1891; Schultze 1896a; Schultze 1896b; Van Pesch 1914). Gerardia polyps possess 24 unbranched tentacles and Dendrobranchia polyps have eight branched tentacles, whereas all other antipatharians have polyps with six branched tentacles. Pourtales (1871), Schultze (1896b) and Pax (1918) all recognized that these two groups should be removed from the Antipatharia to homogenize the order. However, this was not completed until Carlgren (1895) identified Gerardia as a zoanthid, and Opresko and Bayer (1991) recognized Dendrobranchia as a gorgonian octocoral. The latter identification proved to be particularly difficult because species within the genus *Dendrobranchia* lack calcareous spicules, one of the main octocoral features, but possess a spiny proteinaceous axis like antipatharians (Opresko & Bayer 1991; Lopez-Gonzalez & Cunha 2010). The number and morphology of the tentacles was the key characteristic to separating *Dendrobranchia* from antipatharians and grouping them with gorgonian octocorals (Opresko & Bayer 1991), a systematic placement which has since been corroborated by molecular analyses (Berntson et al. 1999; Strychar et al. 2007). With the removal of Gerardia and Dendrobranchia from the Antipatharia, the order is now considered a morphologically homogenous group within the anthozoan subclass Hexacorallia that encompasses 7 families, 43 genera and over 235 species (Daly et al. 2007; Bo 2008). The order is characterized by (1) a spiny, proteinaceous skeleton, (2) polyps with six unbranched, non-retractile tentacles, (3) six

primary mesenteries, and (4) exclusively colonial organisms (Opresko & Baron-Szabo 2001; Daly et al. 2003; Opresko & Sanchez 2005; Daly et al. 2007; Bo 2008).

Taxonomic history of Hawaiian black corals

The taxonomic study of Hawaiian antipatharians began in 1928 when Verrill described Antipathes grandis and Antipathes irregularis. However, only the A. grandis nomen remains valid, because Grigg and Opresko (1977) later identified A. irregularis as a gorgonian. In 1958, large black coral beds of A. grandis and a second antipatharian species (see below) were discovered off West Maui at depths between 30-90 m, a discovery that eventually lead to the establishment of local black coral fishery (Weaver 1961; Gage 1962; Grigg 1964; Grigg 1965). In 1961, specimens of this second antipatharian species collected off Lahaina, Maui, were tentatively identified as Antipathes dichotoma Pallas, 1766 (Bayer 1961), a species originally described from off Marseilles in the Mediterranean Sea (Opresko 2003a). In 1977, Grigg and Opresko published a taxonomic study of Hawaiian black corals based on colony branching pattern that included species descriptions and a taxonomic key to 14 species found in 30-570 m. Since the study of Grigg and Opresko (1977), skeletal spine morphology has become an increasingly important character in antipatharian taxonomy (Opresko 1972; Opresko 2001; Opresko 2002; Opresko 2003b; Opresko 2004; Opresko 2005a; Opresko 2006; and references therein), because this character is thought to be largely independent of environmental cues, as compared to other morphological characters (Lapian et al. 2007; Wagner et al. 2010). However, Molodtsova and Budaeva (2007) examined the morphology of antipatharians within the families Antipathidae and Myriopathidae, and

found that the morphology of both the skeletal spines and the corallum is influenced by the presence of symbiotic polychaetes. Despite these exceptions, the high-resolution capability of scanning electron microscopy (SEM) has aided in the use of skeletal spine morphology as a taxonomic character for antipatharians by allowing visualization of minute spine features that may be diagnostic of individual families, genera and species (Opresko 1972; Opresko 1998; Opresko 2001; Opresko 2002; Opresko 2003b; Opresko 2004; Opresko 2005a; Opresko 2006; Lapian et al. 2007; Wagner et al. 2010). As a result of this technological advance, type specimens of numerous antipatharian species throughout the world have recently been reevaluated and redescribed (Grange 1988; Opresko & Genin 1990; Opresko & Cairns 1994; Opresko & Baron-Szabo 2001; Opresko 2003a; Molodtsova & Pasternak 2005; Opresko & Sanchez 2005; Ocaña et al. 2006), including two species from Hawaiian waters (Opresko 2009b; Wagner et al. 2010).

Unlike many other parts of the world, antipatharian populations have been well documented in Hawai'i (Grigg 1976; Grigg & Opresko 1977; Grigg 1984; Grigg 1988b; Grigg 1993; Montgomery & Crow 1998; Grigg 2001; Grigg 2002; Montgomery 2002; Grigg 2003; Grigg 2004; Boland & Parrish 2005; Etnoyer & Morgan 2005; Kahng & Grigg 2005; Kahng & Kelley 2007; Parrish & Baco 2007; Grigg 2010; Wagner et al. 2010; Wagner et al. 2011a). This is in large part due to a black coral fishery that has operated in Hawai'i since the late 1950's (Gage 1962; Grigg 1965; Grigg 2001), and has led to many black coral surveys in Hawaiian waters. However, many previous surveys in Hawai'i did not identify black corals to the species level, in large part due to the absence of detailed taxonomic studies until recently, as well as difficulties in differentiating
species *in situ* or from video data alone (Opresko 2009b; Wagner et al. 2010). The purpose of this chapter is to provide a taxonomic guide to the shallow-water black coral fauna from the Hawaiian Islands using (1) skeletal spine morphology, (2) polyp morphology, (3) branching pattern, and (4) *in situ* photographs. For this purpose, type material of species previously reported from Hawai'i were reexamined where available, and compared to specimens collected from Hawaiian waters. This study is mostly limited to those species found at depths shallower than the top of the thermocline in the Main Hawaiian Islands (~120 m; Grigg 1984; Grigg 1993; Kahng & Grigg 2005; Kahng & Kelley 2007), because of the scarcity of specimens available from deeper waters. Additionally, this depth also represents the lower limit for several Hawaiian antipatharian and thus serves as a logical cutoff point for this study (Grigg 1984; Grigg 1993; Kahng & Kelley 2007; Wagner et al. 2010).

Materials and methods

A total of 161 antipatharian samples were examined as part of this study, and included museum specimens deposited at (1) the Bernice P. Bishop Museum in Honolulu, Hawai'i (BPBM), (2) the National Museum of Natural History, Smithsonian Institution in Washington, D.C. (USNM), (3) the Museum of Comparative Zoology in Cambridge, Massachusetts (MCZ), and (4) specimens recently collected using conventional SCUBA, mixed-gas technical diving and the Hawai'i Undersea Research Laboratory (HURL) manned submersibles *Pisces IV* and *V* (**Table 3.1**). Museum samples ranged from whole colonies to colony fragments of various sizes, and included type material of *Antipathes grandis*, *A. griggi, Stichopathes echinulata, Aphanipathes verticillata* and *Acanthopathes* **Table 3.1.** Antipatharian samples examined as part of this study. Samples listed in bold represent holotypes (BPBM = Bernice P. Bishop Museum; F = Personal collection of D. Wagner; USNM = National Museum of Natural History; MCZ = Museum of Comparative Zoology at Harvard University; HURL = Hawai'i Undersea Research Laboratory submersible dive; – = data not available).

Species	Family	Sample number	Date	Collector	Depth (m)	Locality	Latitude	Longitude
Antipathes grandis	Antipathidae	BPBM 102	-	-	-	Maui	-	-
Antipathes grandis	Antipathidae	F-027	12/8/2007	HURL P4-200	92	Maui	20.942	-156.759
Antipathes grandis	Antipathidae	F-030	12/8/2007	HURL P4-200	97	Maui	20.943	-156.758
Antipathes grandis	Antipathidae	F-031	12/8/2007	HURL P4-200	96	Maui	20.943	-156.758
Antipathes grandis	Antipathidae	F-032	12/8/2007	HURL P4-200	96	Maui	20.943	-156.758
Antipathes grandis	Antipathidae	F-033	12/8/2007	HURL P4-200	91	Maui	20.943	-156.758
Antipathes grandis	Antipathidae	F-035	12/11/2007	HURL P4-202	62	Kauai	21.856	-159.433
Antipathes grandis	Antipathidae	F-046	4/3/2008	HURL P4-204	95	Maui	20.936	-156.767
Antipathes grandis	Antipathidae	F-047	4/3/2008	HURL P4-204	95	Maui	20.936	-156.768
Antipathes grandis	Antipathidae	F-049	4/3/2008	HURL P4-204	96	Maui	20.936	-156.768
Antipathes grandis	Antipathidae	F-051	4/3/2008	HURL P4-204	96	Maui	20.936	-156.770
Antipathes grandis	Antipathidae	F-058	4/4/2008	HURL P4-205	95	Maui	20.951	-156.753
Antipathes grandis	Antipathidae	F-059	4/4/2008	HURL P4-205	88	Maui	-	-
Antipathes grandis	Antipathidae	F-060	4/4/2008	HURL P4-205	91	Maui	20.951	-156.753
Antipathes grandis	Antipathidae	F-061	4/4/2008	HURL P4-205	90	Maui	20.951	-156.753
Antipathes grandis	Antipathidae	F-067	4/5/2008	HURL P4-206	91	Maui	20.942	-156.757
Antipathes grandis	Antipathidae	F-068	4/5/2008	HURL P4-206	96	Maui	20.943	-156.758
Antipathes grandis	Antipathidae	F-070	4/5/2008	HURL P4-206	90	Maui	20.943	-156.756
Antipathes grandis	Antipathidae	F-071	4/5/2008	HURL P4-206	94	Maui	20.942	-156.757
Antipathes grandis	Antipathidae	F-072	4/5/2008	HURL P4-206	102	Maui	20.943	-156.757
Antipathes grandis	Antipathidae	F-197	4/4/2008	HURL P4-206	90	Maui	20.951	-156.753
Antipathes grandis	Antipathidae	F-199	5/28/2008	T. Montgomery	52	Maui	20.879	-156.747
Antipathes grandis	Antipathidae	F-200	5/28/2008	T. Montgomery	52	Maui	20.879	-156.746
Antipathes grandis	Antipathidae	F-201	5/28/2008	T. Montgomery	52	Maui	20.879	-156.747
Antipathes grandis	Antipathidae	F-204	5/28/2008	T. Montgomery	54	Maui	20.879	-156.747
Antipathes grandis	Antipathidae	F-205	5/29/2008	T. Montgomery	58	Maui	20.884	-156.724
Antipathes grandis	Antipathidae	F-249	10/31/2009	D. Wagner	28	Kaua'i	21.928	-159.661
Antipathes grandis	Antipathidae	F-365	2/22/2009	HURL P5-716	100	Maui	20.941	-156.761
Antipathes grandis	Antipathidae	F-442	4/7/2009	HURL P5-739	127	Maui	20.941	-156.761
Antipathes grandis	Antipathidae	F-445	4/7/2009	HURL P5-739	102	Maui	20.941	-156.761
Antipathes grandis	Antipathidae	F-446	4/7/2009	HURL P5-739	102	Maui	20.941	-156.761
Antipathes grandis	Antipathidae	USNM 99812	7/16/1902	R/V Albatross	48-91	Hawaiʻi	19.783	-155.074
Antipathes griggi	Antipathidae	USNM 52436	July 1961	H. Hall	45	Maui	-	-
Antipathes griggi	Antipathidae	F-019	7/17/2007	T. Montgomery	37	Ni'ihau	22.030	-160.102
Antipathes griggi	Antipathidae	F-028	12/8/2007	HURL P4-200	95	Maui	20.943	-156.761
Antipathes griggi	Antipathidae	F-029	12/8/2007	HURL P4-200	93	Maui	20.943	-156.761
Antipathes griggi	Antipathidae	F-034	12/11/2007	HURL P4-202	62	Kaua'i	21.856	-159.433
Antipathes griggi	Antipathidae	F-036	12/11/2007	HURL P4-202	62	Kaua'i	21.856	-159.433
Antipathes griggi	Antipathidae	F-037	12/11/2007	HURL P4-202	62	Kaua'i	21.856	-159.433
Antipathes griggi	Antipathidae	F-038	12/11/2007	HURL P4-202	62	Kaua'i	21.856	-159.433
Antipathes griggi	Antipathidae	F-039	12/11/2007	HURL P4-202	62	Kaua'i	21.856	-159.433
Antipathes griggi	Antipathidae	F-040	12/11/2007	HURL P4-202	62	Kaua'i	21.856	-159.433
Antipathes griggi	Antipathidae	F-041	12/11/2007	HURL P4-202	62	Kaua'i	21.856	-159.433
Antipathes griggi	Antipathidae	F-042	12/11/2007	HURL P4-202	62	Kaua'i	21.856	-159.433
Antipathes griggi	Antipathidae	F-053	4/4/2008	HURL P4-205	90	Maui	20.952	-156.749
Antipathes griggi	Antipathidae	F-055	4/4/2008	HURL P4-205	99	Maui	20.950	-156.753
Antipathes griggi	Antipathidae	F-352	2/4/2009	D. Wagner	30	Kaua'i	21.889	-159.583
Antipathes griggi	Antipathidae	F-448	4/7/2009	HURL P5-739	93	Maui	20.942	-156.759
Antipathes griggi	Antipathidae	F-526	6/13/2009	T. Montgomery	58	Kaua'i	22.173	-159.755
Antipathes griggi	Antipathidae	F-530	6/15/2009	T. Montgomery	52	Kaua'i	21.857	-159.433
Antipathes griggi	Antipathidae	F-561	8/1/2009	D. Wagner	35	Maui	20.885	-156.730
Antipathes griggi	Antipathidae	F-571	8/1/2009	D. Wagner	56	Maui	20.777	-156.620

Species	Family	Sample number	Date	Collector	Depth (m)	Locality	Latitude	Longitude
Antipathos ariagi	Antinathidae	F-580	8/15/2009	D Wagner	58	Lawcan	25 726	-171 824
Antipathes griggi	Antipathidae	F-606	8/27/2009	D. Wagner	70	Laysan	25.720	-171.810
Antipathes griggi	Antipathidae	F-610	8/30/2009	D. Wagner	58	Necker	23.634	-164 742
Antipathes griggi	Antipathidae	F-611	8/30/2009	D Wagner	58	Necker	23.634	-164 741
Antipathes griggi	Antipathidae	F-072b	8/28/2008	D Wagner	23	Oʻahu	21 593	-158 111
Antipathes griggi	Antipathidae	F-029b	11/22/2006	D. Wagner	10	Oʻahu	21.260	-157.709
Cirrhipathes cf. anguina	Antipathidae	F-045	1/1/2006	D. Wagner	30	Oʻahu	21.280	-157.860
Cirrhipathes cf. anguina	Antipathidae	F-212	10/29/2008	D. Wagner	10	Oʻahu	21.260	-157.709
Cirrhipathes cf. anguina	Antipathidae	F-213	10/29/2008	D. Wagner	10	Oʻahu	21.260	-157.709
Cirrhipathes cf. anguina	Antipathidae	F-250	10/31/2008	D. Wagner	24	Kaua'i	21.928	-159.661
Cirrhipathes cf. anguina	Antipathidae	F-252	11/6/2008	D. Wagner	10	Oʻahu	21.282	-157.678
Cirrhipathes cf. anguina	Antipathidae	F-353	2/4/2009	D. Wagner	30	Kaua'i	21.889	-159.583
Cirrhipathes cf. anguina	Antipathidae	F-354	2/4/2009	D. Wagner	30	Kaua'i	21.889	-159.583
Cirrhipathes cf. anguina	Antipathidae	F-403	3/4/2009	D. Wagner	23	Kaua'i	21.887	-159.602
Cirrhipathes cf. anguina	Antipathidae	F-404	3/4/2009	D. Wagner	23	Kaua'i	21.887	-159.602
Cirrhipathes cf. anguina	Antipathidae	F-405	3/4/2009	D. Wagner	23	Kaua'i	21.887	-159.602
Cirrhipathes cf. anguina	Antipathidae	F-410	3/4/2009	D. Wagner	30	Kaua'i	21.889	-159.583
Cirrhipathes cf. anguina	Antipathidae	F-483	5/4/2009	D. Wagner	30	Kaua'i	21.889	-159.583
Cirrhipathes cf. anguina	Antipathidae	F-484	5/4/2009	D. Wagner	30	Kaua'i	21.889	-159.583
Cirrhipathes cf. anguina	Antipathidae	F-490	5/4/2009	D. Wagner	15	Kaua'i	21.881	-159.492
Cirrhipathes cf. anguina	Antipathidae	F-523	6/2/2009	D. Wagner	12	Kaua'i	21.907	-159.629
Cirrhipathes cf. anguina	Antipathidae	F-524	6/2/2009	D. Wagner	12	Kaua'i	21.907	-159.629
Cirrhipathes cf. anguina	Antipathidae	F-525	6/2/2009	D. Wagner	12	Kaua'ı	21.907	-159.629
Cirrhipathes cf. anguina	Antipathidae	F-569	8/1/2009	D. Wagner	35	Maui	20.885	-156./30
Cirrhipathes cf. anguina	Antipathidae	F-619	8/1/2009	D. Wagner	82	Lehua	20.777	-130.020
Cirrhipathes cf. anguina	Antipathidae	F-620	9/5/2009	D. Wagner	82	Lehua	22.018	160.102
Cirrhipathes cf. anguina	Antipathidae	F-621	9/5/2009	D Wagner	82	Lehua	22.018	160.102
Cirrhipathes cf. anguina	Antipathidae	F-622	9/5/2009	D. Wagner	82	Lehua	22.018	160.102
Cirrhipathes cf. anguina	Antipathidae	F-636	7/2/2010	D. Wagner	10	Oahu	21.260	-157.709
Cirrhipathes cf. anguina	Antipathidae	BPBM 361	August 1961	-	11	Hawaiʻi	_	_
Cirrhipathes cf. anguina	Antipathidae	USNM 91845	7/18/1902	-	44-152	Hawai'i	-	-
Cirrhipathes cf. anguina	Antipathidae	USNM 99918	-	R.A. Kinzie	9	-	-	-
Cirrhipathes cf. anguina	Antipathidae	F-235a	4/24/2010	D. Wagner	43	Palmyra	5.864	-162.137
Cirrhipathes cf. anguina	Antipathidae	F-269a	8/17/2010	D. Wagner	30	French	23.635	-166.186
						Shoals		
Cirrhipathes cf. anguina	Antipathidae	F-166a	8/14/2009	D. Wagner	59	Laysan	25.710	-171.806
Cirrnipatnes ci. anguina Stichonathes achimulata	Antipathidae	F-2090	9/4/2009	D. wagner	27	Mouritine	22.022	-160.097
Stichopathes echinulata	Antipathidae	E-001	-	HURI PA-173	120	Maui	-	-
Stichopathes echinulata	Antipathidae	F-362	2/22/2009	HURL P5-716	130	Maui	- 20.941	-156 761
Stichopathes echinulata	Antipathidae	F-441	4/6/2009	HURL P5-738	129	Maui	20.735	-156 655
Stichopathes echinulata	Antipathidae	USNM 99705	10/23/1970	R/V Cromwell	108-198	Hawaiʻi	19.772	-156.109
Stichopathes echinulata	Antipathidae	USNM 99817	10/27/1967	R/V Cromwell	183	Lānaʻi	20.751	-156.843
Stichopathes echinulata	Antipathidae	P4-221-0010	11/20/2009	HURL P4-221	120	Maui	-	-
Stichopathes echinulata	Antipathidae	P4-223-0040	11/23/2009	HURL P4-223	160	Maui	-	-
Stichopathes echinulata	Antipathidae	F-073a	12/11/2007	HURL P4-202	172	Kaua'i	21.853	-159.434
Stichopathes sp.	Antipathidae	P4-226-9	12/1/2009	HURL P4-226	332	Ni'ihau	21.817	-160.071
Stichopathes sp.	Antipathidae	F-211	10/29/2008	D. Wagner	10	Oʻahu	21.260	-157.709
Stichopathes sp.	Antipathidae	F-251	10/31/2008	D. Wagner	27	Kaua'i	21.928	-158.339
Stichopathes sp.	Antipathidae	F-399	3/4/2009	D. Wagner	23	Kaua'i	21.887	-159.602
Stichopathes sp.	Antipathidae	F-400	3/4/2009	D. Wagner	23	Kaua'i	21.887	-159.602
Stichopathes sp.	Antipathidae	F-408	3/4/2009	D. Wagner	30	Kaua'i	21.889	-159.583
Stichopathes sp.	Antipathidae	F-409	3/4/2009	D. Wagner	30	Kaua'i	21.889	-159.583
Stichopathes sp.	Antipathidae	F-488	5/4/2009	D. Wagner	15	Kaua'i	21.881	-159.492
Suchopathes sp.	Antipathidae	F-489	5/4/2009	D. wagner	15	Kaua'i Maui	21.881	-159.492
Suchopathes sp.	Antipathidae	F-570	8/30/2009	D. Wagner	58	Necker	20.685	-150./50
Stichonathes sp.	Antipathidae	F-618	8/30/2009	D Wagner	58	Necker	23.634	-164 741
Stichopathes sp.	Antipathidae	F-637	7/2/2010	D. Wagner	10	Oʻahu	21.260	-157.709

Species	Family	Sample number	Date	Collector	Depth (m)	Locality	Latitude	Longitude
Stichopathes sp.	Antipathidae	F-213b	9/4/2009	D. Wagner	27	Ni'ihau	22.022	-160.097
Acanthopathes undulata	Aphanipathidae	USNM 100409	-	R/V Siboga	113	Indonesia	-	-
Acanthopathes undulata	Aphanipathidae	P4-223-0041	11/23/2009	HURL P4-223	160	Maui	-	-
Acanthopathes undulata	Aphanipathidae	USNM 99801	7/11/1902	R/V Albatross	130-269	Hawai'i	20.008	-155.879
Acanthopathes undulata	Aphanipathidae	USNM 77103	5/16/1902	R/V Albatross	144-238	Laysan	25.865	-171.786
Acanthopathes undulata	Aphanipathidae	USNM 99581	12/6/1968	T.A. Clarke	30-37	Oʻahu	-	-
Acanthopathes undulata	Aphanipathidae	USNM 99584	10/23/1970	R/V Cromwell	108-198	Hawai'i	19.784	-156.108
Acanthopathes undulata	Aphanipathidae	USNM 99807	10/30/1976	R/V Cromwell	165	-	-	-
Acanthopathes undulata	Aphanipathidae	P4-226-2	12/1/2009	HURL P4-226	263	Niʻihau	21.824	-160.069
Acanthopathes undulata	Aphanipathidae	BPBM 966	3/7/1983	HURL M83-151	259	Oʻahu	-	-
Aphanipathes verticillata	Aphanipathidae	MCZ 68	-	R/V Siboga	-	Mauritius	-	-
Aphanipathes verticillata	Aphanipathidae	F-048	4/3/2008	HURL P4-204	96	Maui	20.937	-156.765
Aphanipathes verticillata	Aphanipathidae	F-050	4/3/2008	HURL P4-204	113	Maui	20.953	-156.736
Aphanipathes verticillata	Aphanipathidae	F-054	4/4/2008	HURL P4-205	101	Maui	20.951	-156.769
Aphanipathes verticillata	Aphanipathidae	F-056	4/4/2008	HURL P4-205	111	Maui	20.950	-156.753
Aphanipathes verticillata	Aphanipathidae	F-057	4/4/2008	HURL P4-205	99	Maui	20.951	-156.752
Aphanipathes verticillata	Aphanipathidae	F-064	4/5/2008	HURL P4-206	93	Maui	20.942	-156.759
Aphanipathes verticillata	Aphanipathidae	F-065	4/5/2008	HURL P4-206	103	Maui	20.941	-156.760
Aphanipathes verticillata	Aphanipathidae	F-069	4/5/2008	HURL P4-206	114	Maui	20.943	-156.758
Aphanipathes verticillata	Aphanipathidae	F-363	2/22/2009	HURL P5-716	88	Maui	20.941	-156.761
Aphanipathes verticillata	Aphanipathidae	F-364	2/22/2009	HURL P5-716	114	Maui	20.940	-156.761
Aphanipathes verticillata	Aphanipathidae	F-366	2/22/2009	HURL P5-716	113	Maui	20.941	-156.761
Aphanipathes verticillata	Aphanipathidae	F-367	2/22/2009	HURL P5-716	126	Maui	20.940	-156.761
Aphanipathes verticillata	Aphanipathidae	F-368	2/22/2009	HURL P5-716	130	Maui	20.941	-156.761
Aphanipathes verticillata	Aphanipathidae	F-443	4/7/2009	HURL P5-739	127	Maui	20.941	-156.761
Aphanipathes verticillata	Aphanipathidae	F-444	4/7/2009	HURL P5-739	91	Maui	20.942	-156.759
Aphanipathes verticillata	Aphanipathidae	F-447	4/7/2009	HURL P5-739	88	Maui	20.941	-156.761
Aphanipathes verticillata	Aphanipathidae	F-449	4/7/2009	HURL P5-739	92	Maui	20.941	-156.761
Aphanipathes verticillata	Aphanipathidae	F-450	4/7/2009	HURL P5-739	121	Maui	20.942	-156.759
Aphanipathes verticillata	Aphanipathidae	USNM 99727	11/14/1981	R.F. Bolland	79	Okinawa	26.500	127.848
Myriopathes cf. ulex	Myriopathidae	F-066	4/5/2008	HURL P4-206	96	Maui	20.943	-156.758
Myriopathes of ulex	Myriopathidae	F-596	8/17/2009	D. Wagner	61	Pearl & Hermes	27.762	-175.983
<i>Myriopaines</i> ci. <i>utex</i>	Mynopatiidae	F-397	8/1//2009	D. wagner	01	Hermes	27.762	-1/3.985
Myriopathes cf. ulex	Myriopathidae	F-598	8/17/2009	D. Wagner	61	Pearl & Hermes	27.762	-175.983
Myriopathes cf. ulex	Myriopathidae	F-599	8/17/2009	D. Wagner	61	Pearl & Hermes	27.762	-175.983
Myriopathes cf. ulex	Myriopathidae	F-600	8/17/2009	D. Wagner	61	Pearl & Hermes	27.762	-175.983
Myriopathes cf. ulex	Myriopathidae	F-601	8/17/2009	D. Wagner	61	Pearl & Hermes	27.762	-175.983
Myriopathes cf. ulex	Myriopathidae	F-602	8/17/2009	D. Wagner	61	Pearl & Hermes	27.762	-175.983
Myriopathes cf. ulex	Myriopathidae	F-603	8/17/2009	D. Wagner	61	Hermes	27.762	-175.983
Myriopaines ci. uiex	wynopatiidae	r-004	8/23/2009	D. wagner	70	Hermes	27.704	-1/5.980
Myriopathes cf. ulex	Myriopathidae	F-605	8/25/2009	D. Wagner	70	Pearl & Hermes	27.764	-175.986
Myriopathes cf. ulex	Myriopathidae	F-617	8/30/2009	D. Wagner	58	Necker	23.634	-164.741
Myriopathes cf. ulex	Myriopathidae	F-002a	9/11/2004	HURL P5-570	58	Maui	20.879	-156.759
Myriopathes cf. ulex	Myriopathidae	USNM 99827	9/29/1970	R/V Cromwell	326	Oʻahu	21.298	-157.538
Myriopathes cf. ulex	Myriopathidae	USNM 99928	-	-	41	-	-	-
Myriopathes cf. ulex	Myriopathidae	USNM 1010727	9/12/2002	HURL P4-049	170	Brooks Bank	24.005	-166.676
Myriopathes cf. ulex	Myriopathidae	USNM 1010729	9/12/2002	HURL P4-049	120-260	Brooks Bank	24.004	-166.674
mynopunes ci. ulex	wrynopathidae	0.514141 1092057	//11/1902	IC V AIDAUOSS	150-209	11awal 1	20.008	-155.079

undulata (**Table 3.1**). For recently collected specimens, entire colonies were photographed *in situ*, and 5-10 tissue samples were clipped from each colony and preserved in 10% formaldehyde in seawater. Morphometric measurements of polyps and spines were made from photographs of preserved specimens as described by Wagner et al. (2010). Additionally, samples were prepared for SEM of skeletal spines, and viewed under a S-4800 Hitachi Field Emission SEM (Hitachi High-Technologies Corporation, Tokyo, Japan) at the University of Hawai'i at Mānoa (Wagner et al. 2010). Literature records of Hawaiian black corals were reviewed with the purpose of synonymizing different names that have previously been used for the same morphospecies. In cases were species assignments could not be verified from literature records alone, authors were contacted and species identifications were made using previously collected specimens, *in situ* photographs and/or collection information provided by authors.

Results

Based on the overall morphology of colonies, polyps and skeletal spines, the 161 examined samples belong to three families (Antipathidae, Aphanipathidae and Myriopathidae), six genera (*Antipathes, Cirrhipathes, Stichopathes, Aphanipathes, Acanthopathes* and *Myriopathes*), and eight different species (**Tables 3.1-3.2**). Five species were identified by directly comparing Hawaiian specimens to type material and included (1) *Antipathes griggi* Opresko, 2009, (2) *Antipathes grandis*, Verrill, 1928, (3) *Stichopathes echinulata* Brook, 1889, (4) *Aphanipathes verticillata* Brook, 1889, and (5) *Acanthopathes undulata* (Van Pesch 1914) (**Tables 3.1-3.2**). Additionally, specimens that

Table 3.2. Morphometric comparison of Hawaiian antipatharian species examined as part of this study. Unless otherwise noted, listed values represent means and ranges (in parentheses). (* = polyp density measured on one side of corallum only; ** = there is no distinction between polypar and abpolypar spines in *C*. cf. *anguina*; *** = polypar spine measurements of *A. undulata* include both hypostomal and circumpolypar spines; **** = forked spines are only present on the main stem and thicker branches of *M. ulex*).

	<i>Antipathes griggi</i> Opresko, 2009	Antipathes grandis Verrill, 1928	<i>Cirrhipathes</i> cf. <i>anguina</i> (Dana, 1846)	<i>Stichopathes</i> <i>echinulata</i> Brook, 1889	Stichopathes? sp.	Aphanipathes verticillata Brook, 1889	Acanthopathes undulata (Van Pesch, 1914)	<i>Myriopathes cf. ulex</i> (Ellis & Solander, 1786)
COLONY:					-			
Branching pattern	Bushy	Bushy	Unbranched	Unbranched	Unbranched	Bushy	Fan-shaped	Fan-shaped
Max. height (m)	3	3	2	1	5	1	0.5	3
Terminal branch diameter with tissue at midpoint (mm)	0.87 (0.46-1.66)	0.52 (0.31-0.79)	2.78 (1.39-6.12)	1 .00 (0.74-1.22)	3.21 (1.74-5.55)	0.90 (0.60-1.23)	0.67 (0.55-0.91)	0.36 (0.24-0.64)
POLYPS:								
Transverse diameter (mm)	1.12 (0.58-1.75)	0.84 (0.35-1.42)	2.03 (0.67-4.45)	0.98 (0.51-1.35)	1.82 (0.82-3.98)	1.35 (0.72-1.81)	0.87 (0.50-1.15)	0.56 (0.32-0.92)
Polyp spacing (mm)	1.43 (0.57-2.83)	1.12 (0.47-1.78)	2.39 (0.92-4.76)	1.33 (0.81-1.93)	1.82 (1.02-3.44)	1.71 (0.89-2.76)	1.26 (1.01-1.58)	0.84 (0.31-1.71)
Density (polyps/cm)	7 (5-10)	9 (6-14)	4 (3-7)*	8 (6-10)	6 (4-8)	6 (5-8)	8 (7-8)	12 (8-15)
SPINES:								
Forks or apical knobs present	Yes	No	Yes	No	Yes	No	No	Yes (on main stem)****
Secondary spines present	Yes	No	No	No	Yes	No	No	No
Polypar spine height (µm)	181 (105-382)	87 (49-168)	213 (110-380)**	139 (81-190)	352 (199-785)	163 (90-266)	249 (85-460)***	122 (76-196)
Abpolypar spine height (µm)	127 (68-243)	62 (31-110)	213 (110-380)**	89 (54-147)	212 (95-442)	115 (54-201)	204 (113-329)	92 (51-172)
Spine spacing (µm)	379 (209-654)	280 (131-469)	524 (167-1806)	367 (187-670)	666 (276-1246)	324 (200-507)	234 (155-361)	177 (70-366)
HABITAT:								
Depth range (m)	10-99	27-127	9-82	129-183	10-58	88-130	30-263	41-326

are consistent with the descriptions of *Cirrhipathes anguina* (Dana, 1846) and *Myriopathes ulex* (Ellis & Solander, 1786) were identified among the examined samples. However, because the type material of both *C. anguina* and *M. ulex* is lost and the original descriptions are very brief, Hawaiian specimens cannot be conclusively assigned to these species until neotypes are designated and a thorough taxonomic study is undertaken. Finally, the examined material included an undescribed wire coral species, which is tentatively assigned to the genus *Stichopathes*. The diagnostic characters of the Hawaiian morphospecies identified as part of this study are highlighted in **Figures 3.1-3.8** and **Table 3.2**, and discussed in the systematic section and taxonomic key below.

Systematic section

Family ANTIPATHIDAE Ehrenberg, 1834

The Antipathidae is characterized by polyps that (1) are usually larger than 1 cm in transverse diameter (range = 1-3 mm), (2) are not elongated in the transverse plane, (3) possess ten mesenteries (six primary and four secondary), and (4) have sagittal tentacles (the two tentacles that are perpendicular to the branch bearing the polyp) that are substantially longer than its lateral tentacles (the four tentacles that are nearly parallel to the branch bearing the polyp) when fully expanded (Opresko 2005b; Opresko & Sanchez 2005; Bo 2008; Moon & Song 2008a). However, this latter feature is frequently lost as part of the preservation process. The Antipathidae has historically been considered a taxonomic dumping ground, and is the oldest and most speciose antipatharian family (Daly et al. 2007; Bo 2008). Consequently, colony and skeletal spine morphology are very heterogeneous within in this family. Several taxa that formally belonged to the Antipathidae have been transferred to new families (Opresko 2001; Opresko 2002;

Opresko 2003b; Opresko 2004; Opresko 2005a; Opresko 2006); however, the family is still not monophyletic and future taxonomic revisions are needed (Daly et al. 2007).

Genus Antipathes Pallas, 1766

Antipathes is the oldest antipatharian genus and is distinguished by colonies that are all branched, with branching patterns varying from fan-shaped to bushy (Opresko 1972; Opresko & Sanchez 2005). Like the Antipathidae, *Antipathes* is also considered a taxonomic dumping ground that is morphologically heterogenous (Opresko & Baron-Szabo 2001; Daly et al. 2007; Bo 2008; Moon & Song 2008a). Even though many species have been removed from *Antipathes* and added to new genera (Opresko & Cairns 1994; Opresko 2001; Opresko 2002; Opresko 2003b; Opresko 2004; Opresko 2006), the genus still groups together many uncertain species and is in need of revision (Bo 2008).

Antipathes griggi Opresko, 2009

Antipathes dichotoma – (Bayer 1961: pg. 8). Antipathes grandis - (Grigg 1964: pg. 1-74, fig. 2-4, 7, 9, 11-13, 17, 22, 24). Antipathes grandis - (Grigg 1965: pg. 244-260, fig. 1, 3, 5-10). Antipathes dichotoma - (Grigg 1974: pg. 235-240). Antipathes dichotoma - (Grigg 1976: pg. 1-48, fig. 1, 4, 15). Antipathes dichotoma - (Grigg & Opresko 1977: pg. 242-261, fig. 9-10). Antipathes dichotoma - (Grigg 1984: pg. 57-74). Antipathes dichotoma – (Grigg 1993: pg. 50-60, fig. 5). Antipathes dichotoma – (Pyle & Chave 1994: pg. 92). Antipathes dichotoma – (Montgomery & Crow 1998: pg. 103-108). Antipathes dichotoma – (Montgomery 2002: pg. 157-164). Antipathes dichotoma – (Grigg 2001: pg. 291-299, fig. 2-3). Antipathes dichotoma – (Grigg 2002: pg. 13). Antipathes dichotoma – (Grigg et al. 2002: pg. 79, fig. 6-7). Antipathes sp. – (Opresko 2003a: pg. 491). Antipathes dichotoma – (Grigg 2003: pg. 121-122). Antipathes dichotoma – (Grigg 2004: pg. 1-6). Antipathes dichotoma - (Greenfield & Randall 2004: pg. 513). Antipathes dichotoma – (Boland & Parrish 2005: pg. 411-420). Antipathes dichotoma - (Kahng & Grigg 2005: pg. 556-562). Antipathes sp. - (Fenner 2005: pg. 96, 99, 3 unnumbered fig. on pg. 96 & 99). Antipathes sp. - (Hoover 2006: pg. 69, unnumbered fig. on pg. 69).

Antipathes dichotoma – (Roark et al. 2006: pg. 1-14).
Antipathes dichotoma – (Parrish & Baco 2007: pg. 159, 170).
Antipathes cf. dichotoma – (Parrish & Baco 2007: pg. 185).
Antipathes cf. curvata - (Parrish & Baco 2007: pg. 159, 162, 164, 170, 173, 185, fig. 4.5(right))
Antipathes dichotoma – (Kahng & Kelley 2007: pg. 684, 686).
Antipathes cf. curvata – (Baco 2007: pg. 112).
Antipathes griggi – (Opresko 2009b: pg. 277-291, fig. 1a-b, 2a-f, 3a-d, 4a-f).
Antipathes griggi – (Wagner et al. 2010: pg. 271-290, fig. 9e-h).
Antipathes griggi – (Grigg 2010: pg. 1-9).
Antipathes griggi – (Wagner et al. 2011a: pg. 249-255, fig. 2).
Antipathes griggi – (Wagner et al. 2011b: pg. 1323-1328, fig. 2a-b).
Antipathes griegi – (Wagner et al. 2011c: ng. 211-225 fig. 1c-d. 4a)

The Hawaiian species Antipathes griggi (Figure 3.1) was previously identified as A. dichotoma (Bayer 1961), a species originally described from off Marseilles in the Mediterranean Sea (Pallas 1766; Opresko 2003a). Subsequent comparisons between specimens from Hawai'i and the Mediterranean Sea revealed substantial morphological differences (Opresko 2003a). As a result, the Hawaiian "A. dichotoma" has been assigned the new name of Antipathes griggi (Opresko 2009b). Surveys for A. griggi have been particularly frequent in Hawai'i, because it is the main species targeted by the Hawaiian black coral fishery (Grigg 1993; Grigg 2001; Grigg 2004; Parrish & Baco 2007). Opresko (2009b) presented a detailed taxonomic description of A. griggi, and the main diagnostic features are briefly summarized here. A. griggi colonies can reach heights of up to 3 m, and are extensively branched with eight or more orders of branching (Figure 3.1e-f). Branches are arranged irregularly on all sides of the corallum on the lower part of the colony, and become more planar on the highest order branches (Figure 3.1e-f). Terminal branches reach up to 10 cm in length without becoming branched. Spines are conical, some have bifurcations towards their apex, and are covered with elongated tubercles over the biggest portion of their surface (Figure 3.1i). At midpoint, the terminal branches usually measure 0.46-1.66 mm in diameter with tissue, and contain polypar spines that are on average 181 μ m tall (range= 105-382 μ m), and abpolypar spines that are on average 127 µm tall (range= 68-243 µm). Smaller secondary spines, up to 40 µm tall, are

Figure 3.1a-d. *Antipathes griggi* holotype (USNM 52436) showing **a.** entire specimen, **b.** polyps on terminal branch under light microscopy (scale bar = 1mm), and **c-d**. skeletal spines on terminal branch under SEM (scale bars = 100 μ m). **e-g.** *A. griggi* colonies *in situ*; **h.** skeletal spines under light microscopy (scale bar = 100 μ m); **i.** close-up of polypar spine under SEM (scale bar = 50 μ m). (Photos courtesy of **e.** and **g.** Tony Montgomery, and **f.** HURL)



present on some portions of the corallum, especially on thicker branches (**Figure 3.1d**). On branchlets and smaller branches, spines are arranged in axial rows, with adjacent rows offset in a spiral pattern around the corallum (**Figure 3.1c-d**). Polyps average 1.12 mm in transverse diameter (range= 0.58-1.75 mm), and are typically spaced 1.43 mm apart (range= 0.57-2.83 mm), resulting in 7 polyps per cm (range= 5-10). The tissues of living colonies are colored brown to bright red (**Figure 3.1e-f**).

To date, specimens identified as *A. griggi* have only been reported from the Hawaiian Archipelago from the islands of Hawai'i to Laysan at depths ranging between 10-110 m (**Table 3.1**; Opresko 2009; Wagner et al. 2011a). However, colonies with similar morphologies, identified as *A. dichotoma*, have also been reported from other Indo-West Pacific locations including the Philippines, Indonesia, Palau, China, Guam and Johnston Atoll (Van Pesch 1914; Grigg 1975; Zhou & Zou 1984; Zou & Zhou 1984; Zhou & Zou 1992; Chave & Malahoff 1998; Paulay et al. 2003; Rogers et al. 2007; Qi et al. 2009). These locations are all outside the range of *A. dichotoma*, which is only known from the Mediterranean Sea and East Atlantic (Opresko 2003a; Bo 2008). Like the previous misidentification of *A. dichotoma* from Hawai'i (see above), these misidentified *A. dichotoma* records may also be *A. griggi*. However, detailed taxonomic investigations of specimens from the Indo-West Pacific will have to be undertaken to confirm this. Currently, there are no museum specimens of *A. griggi* that were collected in waters outside of Hawai'i.

Antipathes grandis Verrill, 1928

Antipathes grandis – (Verrill 1928: pg. 7, 9, fig. 1i-m, pl. IIc). Antipathes grandis - (Grigg 1974: pg. 235-240). Antipathes grandis - (Grigg 1976: pg. 1-48). Antipathes grandis - (Grigg & Opresko 1977: pg. 242-261, fig 1, 11). Antipathes grandis - (Grigg 1984: pg. 57-74). Antipathes grandis - (Grigg 1993: pg. 50-60). Antipathes grandis - (Grigg 2001: pg. 291-299). Antipathes grandis - (Grigg 2002: pg. 13). Antipathes grandis - (Grigg 2003: pg. 121-122). Antipathes grandis – (Grigg 2004: pg. 1-6). Antipathes grandis - (Fenner 2005: pg. 100, 2 unnumbered fig. on pg. 100). Antipathes grandis - (Boland & Parrish 2005: pg. 411-420). Antipathes grandis - (Kahng & Grigg 2005: pg. 556-562). Antipathes grandis - (Parrish & Baco 2007: pg. 159, 162, 164, 170, 185, fig.4.5(left)). Antipathes grandis - (Baco 2007: pg. 112). Antipathes grandis - (Kahng & Kelley 2007: pg. 684, 686). Antipathes grandis - (Wagner et al. 2010: pg. 271-290, fig. 2-7, 8a-b, 9a-d, 10). Antipathes grandis - (Grigg 2010: pg. 1-9). Antipathes grandis - (Wagner et al. 2011b: pg. 1323-1328, fig. 2c). Antipathes grandis - (Wagner et al. 2011c: pg. 211-225, fig. 1a-b, 2a).

Like its sympatric congener *Antipathes griggi*, *A. grandis* (Figure 3.2) is also commercially harvested in Hawai'i to supply the precious coral jewelry industry (Grigg 1984; Grigg 1993; Grigg 2001; Grigg 2004; Parrish & Baco 2007; Grigg 2010; Wagner et al. 2010). *A. grandis* was the first antipatharian species described from Hawaiian waters (Verrill 1928). A detailed taxonomic redescription of *A. grandis* is presented by Wagner et al. (2010), and briefly summarized here. Colonies can reach massive heights of over 3 m, and are extensively branched. Branches are long, distally-directed, and disposed irregularly on all sides of the corallum (Figure 3.2a-c). Terminal branchlets reach lengths of up to 10 cm without becoming subbranched and typically measure 0.52 mm in diameter with tissue at their midpoint (range = 0.31-0.79 mm). The spines on terminal branches are conical and never bifurcated towards their apex, and covered with circular to elongated oval-shaped tubercles over the distal half of their surface (Figure 3.2f-g). Polypar spines are slightly larger (range = $49-168 \mu$ m) than abpolypar spines (range = $31-110 \mu$ m) and both tend to be inclined distally (Figure 3.2e-f). There are no

Figure 3.2a. Antipathes grandis holotype (BPBM 102); **b-c.** colonies of A. grandis in situ; **d.** preserved polyps on terminal branch under light microscopy (scale bar = 1 mm); **e.** skeletal spines on terminal branch under light microscopy (scale bar = 100 μ m); **f.** skeletal spines on terminal branch under SEM (scale bar = 100 μ m); **g.** close-up of polypar spine under SEM (scale bar = 25 μ m). (**b-c.** Photos courtesy of HURL).



secondary spines present on any parts of the corallum. On branchlets and smaller branches spines are arranged in axial rows, with adjacent rows offset in a spiral pattern around the corallum (**Figure 3.2e-f**). On average, polyps are 0.84 mm in transverse diameter (range = 0.35-1.42 mm) and spaced 1.12 mm apart (range = 0.47-1.78 mm), resulting in 9 polyps per centimeter (range = 6-14). The color of living colonies ranges between red, pale-red and white (**Figure 3.2b-c**).

A. grandis was originally described from a specimen collected off Maui (Verrill 1928), and subsequently reported throughout the Main Hawaiian Islands from Hawai^ci to Ni^cihau at depths between 27-127 m (Grigg 1974; Grigg 1976; Grigg & Opresko 1977; Grigg 2001; Grigg 2004; Boland & Parrish 2005; Kahng & Grigg 2005; Wagner et al. 2010). Additionally, there are two reports of this species from the waters off China (Zhou & Zou 1984; Zou & Zhou 1984), however, these records cannot be confirmed until specimens from that locality are examined.

Genus *Cirrhipathes* (Blainville, 1834)

The genus *Cirrhipathes* was originally established to differentiate antipatharian taxa with unbranched colonies from those with branched colonies (Blainville 1834). Later, Brook (1889) created *Stichopathes*, another genus with unbranched colonies, and used polyp arrangement as the diagnostic feature to differentiate between *Cirrhipathes* and *Stichopathes*. Polyps are arranged irregularly on all sides of the corallum in *Cirrhipathes*, whereas polyps are positioned in a single row on one side of the corallum in *Stichopathes* (Brook 1889). More recently, a third genus, *Pseudocirrhipathes*, has been established for yet another group of antipathids with unbranched colonies (Bo et al.

2009a). Like Cirrhipathes, Pseudocirrhipathes also has polyps arranged irregularly on all

sides of the corallum, but differs by having spines with distinct tubercles that are

arranged in verticils, and tentacles that cannot completely contract (Bo et al. 2009a). As a

result, Cirrhipathes is now characterized by (1) unbranched colonies, (2) polyps that are

arranged irregularly on all sides of the corallum, and (3) spines that are not arranged in

verticils (Brook 1889; Silberfeld 1909; Summers 1910; Van Pesch 1914; Zou & Zhou

1982; Zou & Zhou 1984; Echeverria 2002; Moon & Song 2008a; Bo et al. 2009a).

Cirrhipathes cf. *anguina* (Dana, 1846)

Cirrhipathes sp. – (Davis & Cohen 1968: pg. 749-761, fig. 1(top)-2). *Cirrhipathes anguina* – (Grigg & Opresko 1977: pg. 242-261, fig. 4).

Cirrhipathes anguina – (Grigg 1993: pg. 50).

Antipathes anguina – (Grigg 1993: pg. 56).

Cirrhipathes anguina – (Montgomery & Crow 1998: pg. 103-108).

Cirrhipathes sp. - (Coles et al. 1998: pg. 24).

Cirrhipathes anguina - (Greenfield & Randall 2004: pg. 513-514, fig. 55).

Cirrhipathes sp. - (Maragos et al. 2004: pg. 230).

Cirrhipathes anguina – (Fenner 2005: pg. 97, unnumbered fig. on pg. 97).

- Cirrhipathes anguina (Hoover 2006: pg. 71, fig. a-b).
- Cirrhipathes anguina (Parrish & Baco 2007: pp. 159, 185).

Cirrhipathes sp. – (Wagner et al. 2010: pg. 270-291, fig. 10). *Cirrhipathes* cf. *anguina* – (Wagner et al. 2011b: pg. 1323-1328, fig. 2d).

Cirrhipathes cf. *anguina* – (Wagner et al. 20110, pg. 1523-1528, hg. 2d). *Cirrhipathes* cf. *anguina* – (Wagner et al. 2011c: pg. 211-225, fig. 1f-g).

Currinpaines ci. *anguina* – (wagner et al. 2011c. pg. 211-223, lig. 11-g).

Davis and Cohen (1968) published the first account of Cirrhipathes cf. anguina

from Hawai'i (**Figure 3.3**) as part of a description of the associated fauna of this wire coral: a gobiid fish and a palaemonid shrimp. Later descriptions of this species also highlighted these characteristic faunal associates of the wire coral (Greenfield & Randall 2004; Fenner 2005; Hoover 2006). Based on previous literature accounts and specimens examined as part of this study (**Table 3.1**), the following features characterize *C*. cf. *anguina*. Colonies are unbranched and can reach vertical heights of 2 m or more. The corallum is usually straight in small colonies, and becomes irregularly sinusoidal in large **Figure 3.3a.** Plate accompanying Dana's (1846) original description of *Cirrhipathes anguina*, a species for which the type material is now lost. **b-e.** *In situ* photographs of *Cirrhipathes* cf. *anguina* colonies from Hawaiian waters; **f.** preserved polyps of Hawaiian species under light microscopy (scale bar = 1 mm); **g.** spines of Hawaiian species under light microscopy (scale bar = 1 mm); **h-i.** spines of Hawaiian species under scanning electron microscopy (scale bars: h = 1 mm; $i = 50 \mu m$). (**b-e.** Photos courtesy of Jim Maragos).



colonies (**Figure 3.3b-e**). The corallum diameter is generally 1.39-6.12 mm at midheight. Polyps are of variable size, ranging from 0.67-4.45 mm in transverse diameter, and are arranged irregularly on all sides of the corallum (**Figure 3.3b-f**). The spacing between adjoining polyps varies between 0.92-4.76 mm. The color of coenenchyme is typically brown with yellow or green tentacles, but the coloration of tentacles varies between yellow, green, red, white and pink (**Figure 3.3b-e**). Skeletal spines are conical in shape, some of which have bifurcations towards the apex, and are covered with circular to elongated oval-shaped tubercles over the distal half of their surface (**Figure 3.3h**). Spines are generally 110-380 μm tall, and arranged in regular rows, with adjoining rows offset in a spiral pattern around the corallum (**Figure 3.3g-h**). Within a row, spines spacing is highly variable and ranges between 167-1806 μm.

This Hawaiian wire coral species has previously been identified as *Cirrhipathes anguina* Dana, 1846 (Grigg & Opresko 1977), a species originally described from the reefs off Vanua Lebu Island, Fiji (Dana 1846). The description of *C. anguina* is rather brief and highlights yellowish tentacles that are brownish-gray at their base, and spines that are laterally compressed and sub-acute, features that are also evident in the Hawaiian specimens examined here (**Figure 3.3**). Unfortunately, the type material of *C. anguina* is lost (D. Opresko pers. comm.), and therefore no further comparisons can be made until a neotype is designated. Pending such a taxonomic revision, the name *Cirrhipathes* cf. *anguina* is used to refer to the Hawaiian wire coral described here (**Figure 3.3**).

Specimens examined as part of this study were collected throughout the Hawaiian Islands including the islands of Maui, Oʻahu, Kauaʻi, Niʻihau, French Frigate Shoals,

Necker and Laysan at depths between 9-82 m, as well as in the Line Islands off Palmyra Atoll at 43 m (**Table 3.1**). *C. anguina* has previously been reported throughout the Indo-West Pacific at depths ranging between 2-158 m (Dana 1846; Gray 1857; Brook 1889; Cooper 1903; Cooper 1909; Van Pesch 1914; Pax 1932; Tsuda et al. 1977; Humes 1979; Bruce 1982; Zou & Zhou 1982; Zou & Zhou 1984; Heard 1986; Okiyama & Tsukamoto 1989; Montgomery & Crow 1998; Okuno 1998; Jones et al. 2000; Paulay et al. 2003; Greenfield & Randall 2004; Parrish & Baco 2007; Rogers et al. 2007; Bo 2008; Moon & Song 2008a). However, a thorough taxonomic survey will be needed to determine whether these Indo-West Pacific records correspond to the same Hawaiian species described here.

Genus *Stichopathes* Brook, 1889

Like *Cirrhipathes*, the genus *Stichopathes* is characterized by unbranched colonies (see above). Brook (1889) established polyp arrangement as the main diagnostic feature to distinguish between these two unbranched genera. Polyps are arranged irregularly on all sides of the corallum in *Cirrhipathes* (see above), whereas *Stichopathes* colonies have polyps that are arranged in a single row on one side of the corallum. However, the validity of these two genera has been questioned by several authors (Van Pesch 1914; Pax 1918; Pasternak 1977; Bo 2008). *Pseudocirrhipathes*, a third genus with unbranched colonies, was recently established for colonies with polyps that are arranged irregularly on all sides of the corallum, and spines that are positioned in verticills (Bo et al. 2009a; see above). Further taxonomic revisions among unbranched antipathids are, however, needed (Van Pesch 1914; Pax 1918; Pasternak 1977; Bo 2008). Pending such

revisions, polyp arrangement is the only character that distinguishes *Stichopathes* from other unbranched antipatharian genera (Blainville 1834; Brook 1889; Bo et al. 2009a).

Stichopathes echinulata Brook, 1889

Stichopathes cf. echinulata – (Brook 1889: pg. 92, Pl. XII fig. 9). Stichopathes cf. echinulata – (Grigg & Opresko 1977: pg. 242-261). Stichopathes cf. echinulata – (Wagner et al. 2011b: pg. 1325). Stichopathes echinulata – (Wagner et al. 2011c: pg. 211-225, fig. 1h, 2b).

Stichopathes echinulata was originally described from specimens collected off Mauritius (Brook 1889). The original species description is rather brief, but highlights spines that are short, triangular and distally inclined, and arranged in regular rows, with nine or ten rows visible in one aspect (Brook 1889). Based on comparisons with the original description of S. echinulata (Brook 1889), Grigg and Opresko (1977) reported a morphologically similar species from Hawaiian waters (Figure 3.4). At the time, Grigg and Opresko (1977) did not have S. echinulata type material available for comparisons, and because the original species description is rather brief (Brook 1889), they did not conclusively assign the Hawaiian species to S. echinulata. As part of this study, a small fragment of the S. echinulata holotype was examined under SEM (Table 3.1, Figure **3.4a-b**). The shape, size and arrangement of the spines of the holotype is very similar to the Hawaiian species examined here (Figure 3.4e-g). Consequently, the Hawaiian specimens are assigned to S. echinulata, and used to emend the description of the species as follows. Colonies are up to 1 m in height or more and coiled distally forming multiple spirals. At midheight, colonies typically measure 0.74-1.22 mm in diameter with tissue. Polyps are arranged in a single row on one side of the corallum, and spaced 0.81-1.93 mm apart, resulting in 6-10 polyps per cm (Figure 3.4d). Skeletal spines are arranged in regular rows, with adjoining rows offset in a spiral pattern around the corallum. Within a

Figure 3.4a-b. Skeletal spines of *Stichopathes echinulata* holotype (USNM 100371) under SEM (scale bars = 100 μ m). **c-g.** Hawaiian *S. echinulata* colonies **c.** *in situ*; **d.** preserved polyps under light microscopy (scale bar = 1 mm); **e.** skeletal spines under light microscopy (scale bar = 200 μ m); **f.** skeletal spines under SEM (scale bars = 100 μ m); and **g.** close-up of polypar spine under SEM (scale bar = 50 μ m). **h-j.** Hawaiian *Stichopathes* sp. with white tissues **h.** *in situ*; **i-j.** Skeletal spines under SEM (scale bars = 100 μ m). (**c,h.** Photos courtesy of HURL).



row, spines are typically spaced 187-670 µm apart. Spines are conical, inclined distally, never bifurcated towards their apex, and covered with oval-shaped tubercles over the biggest portion of their surface (Figure 3.4b,g). Polypar spines are generally 81-190 µm tall and abpolypar spines are typically 54-147 µm tall. The coloration of living colonies was only noted for a few samples that were recently collected for this study (Table 3.1), but all were light brown. Colonies with similar overall morphologies but with white tissues have also been reported from Hawaiian waters (Figure 3.4h; Chave & Malahoff 1998). Only a single colony with white tissues was examined as part of this study (Table **3.1**; Figure 3.4h). However, its skeletal spines are substantially different from S. echinulata, in that its spines are more triangular, and only covered by faint tubercles towards the very tip of spines (Figure 3.4i-j), whereas S. echinulata has distinct tubercles on the biggest portion of its spines (Figure 3.4b,g). Furthermore, the skeletal spines of the white morphotype are smaller than S. echinulata, with polypar spines ranging between 99-142 μ m and abpolypar spines varying between 42-137 μ m. Unfortunately only a single specimen of the white morphotype was available for comparisons, however, the substantial morphological differences in spine shape, most certainly indicate that it is a different species (Figure 3.4i-j).

S. echinulata was originally described from Mauritius (Brook 1889), but subsequently reported from Portuguese East Africa (Summers 1910), the Seychelles (Cooper 1909), and Madagascar (Humes 1967). All Hawaiian specimens examined as part of this study were collected from the Main Hawaiian Islands of Hawai'i, Lāna'i, Maui and Kaua'i in 108-198 m (**Table 3.1**).

Stichopathes? sp.

Unbranched species – (Grigg 1964: pg. 10) *Stichopathes* sp. – (Montgomery & Crow 1998: pg. 103-108). *Stichopathes* cf. *echinulata* – (Fenner 2005: pg. 98, unnumbered fig. on pg. 98). *Stichopathes* cf. *echinulata* – (Hoover 2006: pp. 71, unnumbered fig. on bottom of pg. 71). *Stichopathes* sp. – (Wagner et al. 2011c: pg. 211-225, fig. 1i).

Within depths accessible through regular SCUBA diving (< 40 m), two unbranched black corals can be found in Hawaiian waters in areas with high flow regimes and reduced light intensities: one with green or yellow polyps that are arranged irregularly on all sides of the corallum (*Cirrhipathes* cf. anguina; see above), and another with brown polyps that are arranged in a single row on one side of the corallum (Figure **3.5**) (Grigg 1964; Montgomery & Crow 1998; Fenner 2005; Hoover 2006). The latter represents an undescribed species that has been assigned to the genus *Stichopathes* based on the arrangement of its polyps, which are always positioned in a single row on one side of the corallum (Montgomery & Crow 1998; Fenner 2005; Hoover 2006). However, the skeletal spines of this Hawaiian wire coral are very different from other *Stichopathes* spp., which never have bifurcations or apical knobs towards their apex (Brook 1889; Schultze 1903; Roule 1905; Thomson 1905; Cooper 1909; Summers 1910; Van Pesch 1914; Goenaga 1977; Opresko & Genin 1990; Opresko & Sanchez 2005; Moon & Song 2008a). In contrast, apical bifurcations are common on most of the spines of this Hawaiian wire coral species (Figure 3.5e-g). Therefore, the assignment to the genus Stichopathes is very questionable, and this Hawaiian wire coral may therefore represent both an undescribed genus and species. Colonies of this species are unbranched and can attain extreme lengths of up to 5 m (Grigg 1964). The corallum of small colonies is relatively straight, and becomes more irregular sinusoidal or spiraled in large colonies (Figure 3.5a-c). At midheight, colonies generally measure 1.74-5.55 mm in diameter

Figure 3.5. *Stichopathes*? sp. **a-c.** *in situ*; **d.** preserved polyps under light microscopy (scale bar = 1 mm); **e.** skeletal spines under light microscopy (scale bar = 500 μ m); **f.** skeletal spines under SEM (scale bar = 500 μ m); and **g.** close-up of polypar spines under SEM (scale bar = 100 μ m).



with tissue. Polyps are arranged in a single row on one side of the corallum and are crowded together tightly (**Figure 3.5d**). On average, polyps measure 1.82 mm in transverse diameter (range=0.82-3.98 mm) and are spaced 1.82 mm apart (range=1.02-3.44 mm), resulting in 6 polyps per cm (range=4-8). Skeletal spines are covered by elongated tubercles over the largest portion of their surface and are usually bifurcated towards their apex (**Figure 3.5f-g**). Polypar spines are distinctly larger on the polypar side, where they range between 199-785 µm in height, whereas abpolypar spines vary between 95-442 µm in height. Smaller, secondary spines (<100 µm) are present throughout the corallum (**Figure 3.5g**). The color of living colonies is greenish brown (**Figure 3.5a-c**).

Specimens examined as part of this study were collected throughout the Hawaiian Archipelago from the islands of Maui to Necker at depths ranging between 10-58 m (**Table 3.1**). A morphologically similar species has also been reported from Indonesia (M. Bo pers. comm.), but specimens from that locality will have to examined to confirm those records.

Family APHANIPATHIDAE Opresko, 2004

The Aphanipathidae is characterized by polyps with 10 mesenteries (6 primary and four secondary), that are 0.5-1.3 mm in transverse diameter, and have short sagittal and lateral tentacles (shorted than the polyp diameter) that are nearly of the same length when fully expanded (Opresko 2004; Opresko & Sanchez 2005; Daly et al. 2007; Bo 2008). Furthermore, the skeletal spines of the Aphanipathidae often penetrate through the

soft tissues, are typically adorned with conical tubercles, and do not possess bifurcations towards their apex like many members of the Antipathidae (Opresko 2004; Opresko & Sanchez 2005; Daly et al. 2007; Bo 2008). The family Aphanipathidae is divided into the two subfamilies Aphanipathinae and Acanthopathinae based on the relative sizes of skeletal spines in the area underneath a polyp (Opresko 2004). The name of the family Aphanipathidae is derived from the Greek root *aphano* meaning invisible, in reference to its inconspicuous polyps which are often obscured through elongated spines that penetrate through the coenenchyme (Brook 1889).

Subfamily Aphanipathinae Opresko, 2004

The subfamily Aphanipathinae is distinguished by having skeletal spines of consistently similar heights on the side of the corallum bearing the polyps (Opresko 2004). In contrast, the subfamily Acanthopathinae (see below) has members whose skeletal spines are reduced in size in the areas directly below the oral opening (the hypostomal spines), and then give way to elongated spines in the areas underneath the outer edges of polyps (the circumpolypar spines). Spines of intermediate length are present between polyps in the Acanthopathinae (Opresko 2004).

Genus Aphanipathes Brook, 1889

The genus *Aphanipathes* is characterized by colonies that are irregularly branched like a bush or broom, and skeletal spines that penetrate through the coenenchyme (Brook 1889; Pax 1932; Opresko & Baron-Szabo 2001; Opresko 2004).

Aphanipathes verticillata Brook, 1889

Aphanipathes verticillata – (Brook 1889: pg. 125-126, Pl. XII fig. 25-25a). Undescribed Aphanipathidae – (Wagner et al. 2010: pg. 274, fig. 10). *Aphanipathes* sp. – (Wagner et al. 2011b: pg. 1325). *Aphanipathes verticillata* – (Wagner et al. 2011c: pg. 211-225, fig. 1j, 2c).

During black coral surveys conducted off West Maui in 2008-2009, numerous specimens superficially resembling Antipathes griggi were collected (Opresko et al. in prep.). Upon closer examination of the skeletal spines, these specimens proved to be morphologically very different from A. griggi, and similar to Aphanipathes verticillata Brook, 1889, a species never before reported from the Hawaiian Archipelago. Subsequent comparisons of the A. verticillata holotype to Hawaiian specimens revealed morphological similarities of the corallums and skeletal spines (Figure 3.6), and lead to the new report of A. verticillata from Hawaiian waters (Opresko et al. in prep.). A detailed taxonomic description of both the A. verticillata holotype and the Hawaiian specimens is currently in preparation (Opresko et al in prep.), and briefly summarized here. Colonies are up to 1 m in height or more, with up to 10 orders of branching. The branches are generally pointed straight upwards or slightly curved (Figure 3.6d-f). On terminal branchlets, polypar spines are typically 90-266 µm tall and abpolypar spines generally 54-201 µm in height. Skeletal spines are arranged in verticils with spines in the same row typically spaced 200-507 µm apart (Figure 3.6h-j). Spines are covered with distinct conical tubercles over the largest portion of their surface of both polypar and abpolypar spines. Polyps are on average 1.35 mm in transverse diameter (range=0.72-1.81 mm), arranged on a single side of the corallum on terminal branches, and spaced 0.89-2.76 mm apart, resulting in 6 polyps per cm (range=5-8) (Figure 3.6g).

Figure 3.6a-c. Aphanipathes verticillata holotype (MCZ 68) showing **a.** entire specimen, **b-c.** skeletal spines under SEM (scale bars: b = 100; μ m; $c = 50 \mu$ m). **d-j**. Hawaiian A. verticillata specimens showing **d-f.** colonies *in situ*, **g.** preserved polyps on terminal branch under light microscopy (scale bar = 1 mm), **h.** skeletal spines on terminal branch under light microscopy (scale bar = 100 μ m), **i.** skeletal spines on terminal branch under SEM (scale bar = 100 μ m), and **j.** close-up of polypar spine under SEM (scale bar = 50 μ m). (**d-f.** Photos courtesy of HURL).



A. verticillata was originally described from specimens collected off Mauritius (Brook 1889). Later, two other *A. verticillata* specimens were collected off Okinawa at a depth of 79 m (**Table 3.1**). All Hawaiian specimens examined as part of this study were collected at depths between 88-130 m in the Keyhole Pinnacle region of the Au'Au Channel, located between the islands of Maui and Lāna'i (**Table 3.1**).

Subfamily Acanthopathinae Opresko, 2004

The subfamily Acanthopathinae is characterized by skeletal spines of different heights in the areas underneath polyps. Hypostomal spines are reduced in size, whereas circumpolypar spines are substantially elongated. Spines of intermediate length are present between polyps in the Acanthopathinae (Opresko 2004). The name of this subfamily is derived from the Greek root *acantho* meaning spiny, in reference to the enlarged size of its circumpolypar spines (Opresko 2004).

Genus Acanthopathes Opresko, 2004

The genus *Acanthopathes* is characterized by colonies that are branched in a single plane like a fan, and spines that are either greatly reduced or absent in the areas directly below the oral cone (Opresko 2004).

Acanthopathes undulata (Van Pesch, 1914)

Aphanipathes undulata - (Van Pesch 1914: pg. 87-89, fig. 74-76, Pl. VIII fig. 8).

Antipathes undulata - (Grigg & Opresko 1977: pg. 242-261, fig. 5).

Acanthopathes undulata - (Opresko 2004: pg. 232).

Acanthopathes undulata – (Eldredge 2006: pg. 65).

Acanthopathes undulata - (Parrish & Baco 2007: pg. 186).

Acanthopathes undulata – (Wagner et al. 2011b: pg. 1325).

Grigg and Opresko (1977) were the first to identify Antipathes undulata (Van Pesch, 1914) from the Hawaiian Islands (Figure 3.7). In 2004, Opresko reassigned A. *undulata* to the newly established antipatharian family Aphanipathidae and the new genus Acanthopathes, resulting in the name Acanthopathes ulex (Opresko 2004; Eldredge 2006). Van Pesch's (1914) original description of this species emphasized (1) colonies that are fan-shaped and planar, (2) spines that are distally inclined, needle-like, covered with minute tubercles towards the distal half, generally 375-450 µm tall, spaced 150-225 μ m apart, and penetrated through the tissues of the polyps, and (3) polyps that are arranged on one side of the colony and spaced 1.1 mm apart. These features are all consistent with the Hawaiian specimens examined here (Figure 3.7). Additionally, a fragment of the holotype was examined under SEM, and its spines are also very similar to the Hawaiian specimens in terms of shape, arrangement and size (Figure 3.7d, j-k). Furthermore, this comparison also highlights the differences in relative sizes of the skeletal spines on the side of the branch bearing the polyp, being greatly reduced underneath the oral cone, and enlarged towards the outer edges of polyps (Figure 3.7i-j). Collectively, the comparison of A. undulata type material to Hawaiian specimens corroborates previous identifications of this species from Hawaiian waters (Grigg & Opresko 1977; Chave & Malahoff 1998; Eldredge 2006; Parrish & Baco 2007). Additionally, this comparison revealed several characteristic features of the species, which have previously not been described. Colonies are fan-shaped, typically smaller than 50 cm in height, and are extensively branched giving the appearance of a net (Figure 3.7e-h). Polyps are arranged on a single side of fan-shaped colonies, are typically 0.87 mm in transverse diameter (range=0.50-1.15 mm) and spaced 1.26 mm apart

Figure 3.7a-b. Plates accompanying the original description of *Acanthopathes undulata* (Van Pesch 1914); **c.** spines of schizoholotype (USNM 100409) under light microscopy (scale bar = 1 mm); **d.** spines of schizoholotype under SEM (scale bar = 100 μ m); **e-f.** *in situ* photographs of colonies from Hawaiian waters; **g-h.** specimens from Hawai'i (scale bars = 1 cm); **i.** spines and polyps on terminal branch under light microscopy (scale bar = 1 mm); **g.** spines on terminal branch under SEM (scale bar = 100 μ m); close-up of spine under SEM (scale bar = 30 μ m). (**e-f.** Photos courtesy of HURL).



(range=1.01-1.58 mm), resulting in 8 polyps per cm (range=7-8) (**Figure 3.7c, i**). The spines are needle-like in shape and penetrate through the soft tissues, except for the area underlying the oral cone (**Figure 3.7c, i**). On the side of the fan not bearing the polyps, spines are uniform in height and average 204 μ m (range=113-329 μ m). In contrast, the side of the colony bearing polyps contains skeletal spines of varying lengths (**Figure 3.7j**). The tallest spines are located in the area underneath the outer edges of polyps and reach heights of 270-459 μ m, whereas the shortest spines are situated in the area underneath the oral cone and reach heights of 85-257 μ m. Skeletal spines are smooth or gently adorned with fine papillae towards the distal portion of the spine (**Figure 3.7d, k**). Spines are arranged in regular rows with adjoining rows being offset in a spiral pattern around the corallum (**Figure 3.7j**). Within a row, spine spacing is typically variable and ranges between 155-361 μ m. The color of living colonies is grayish-white, and is influenced by the skeletal spines that penetrate through tissues and give colonies a brownish hint (**Figure 3.7e-f**).

Acanthopathes undulata was originally described from specimens collected at a depth of 113 m in the Solor Strait off Indonesia (Van Pesch 1914), and later reported from Hawai'i (Grigg & Opresko 1977; Chave & Malahoff 1998; Eldredge 2006; Parrish & Baco 2007) and the Mariana Islands (Paulay et al. 2003). All Hawaiian specimens examined as part of this study were collected throughout the Hawaiian Islands from Hawai'i to Laysan at depths ranging between 30-269 m (**Table 3.1**).

Family MYRIOPATHIDAE Opresko, 2001

The Myriopathidae are characterized by polyps with 10 mesenteries (six primary and four secondary), that are 0.5-1.0 mm in transverse diameter and possess short tentacles with rounded tips. The skeletal spines of the Myriopathidae are usually bladelike or needle-like on smaller branches, and frequently forked or antler-like on the main stem and larger branches (Opresko 2001; Opresko & Sanchez 2005; Daly et al. 2007; Bo 2008; Moon & Song 2008b). The name of the Myriopathidae is derived from the Greek word *myriophylla* meaning many branches, in reference to the extensive branching of colonies within this family.

Genus Myriopathes Opresko, 2001

The genus *Myriopathes* contains colonies whose highest order branches are pinnulated, i.e., they contain ramnifications that are arranged symmetrically in one plane like a fern. Furthermore, *Myriopathes* pinnules are themselves always branched giving rise to secondary and tertiary subpinnules (Opresko 2001; Moon & Song 2008b).

Myriopathes cf. ulex (Ellis & Solander, 1786)

Antipathella sp. – (Grigg 1964: pg. 11, 14, fig. 5) Antipathes ulex – (Grigg & Opresko 1977: pg. 244) Antipathes ulex - (Grigg 1993: pg. 50, 56). Antipathes ulex – (Montgomery & Crow 1998: pg. 103-108). Antipathes ulex - (Chave & Malahoff 1998: pg. 40, fig. 93). *Myriopathes ulex* – (Opresko 2001: pg. 349, 351-352). Antipathes ulex – (Montgomery 2002: pg. 157-164). Myriopathes ulex – (Fenner 2005: pg. 101, 2 unnumbered fig. on pg. 101). Antipathes ulex – (Boland & Parrish 2005: pg. 411-420). Myriopathes ulex – (Eldredge 2006: pg. 65). Myriopathes ulex – (Hoover 2006: pg. 70, unnumbered fig. on pg. 70). Myriopathes ulex – (Parrish & Baco 2007: pg. 162-163, 170, 186). Myriopathes ulex – (Kahng & Kelley 2007: pg. 684). Myriopathes ulex – (Bo 2008: unnumbered fig. in app. 1). Antipathes ulex – (Grigg 2010: pg. 3). Myriopathes ulex - (Wagner et al. 2011a: pg. 249-255, fig. 3). Myriopathes ulex – (Wagner et al. 2011b: pg. 1325). Myriopathes ulex - (Wagner et al. 2011c: pg. 212, 214).

Along with Antipathes griggi and A. grandis, Myriopathes cf. ulex (Figure 3.8) represents the third antipatharian species that has been targeted by the Hawaiian black coral fishery (Grigg 1993; Grigg 2010; Wagner et al. 2011a). However, in comparison to A. griggi and A. grandis, harvesting of M. cf. ulex is much less frequent, because the species is quite rare in the 40-75 m depth zone where black coral harvesting takes place in Hawai'i (Grigg 2001; Grigg 2002; Boland & Parrish 2005). Grigg (1964) presented the first published account of M. cf. ulex from Hawai'i (as Antipathella sp.). Since then, brief descriptions of this Hawaiian species were presented by Chave and Malahoff (1998), Fenner (2005) and Hoover (2006). The main distinguishing features of this species, are its large (up to 3 m), fan-shaped colonies that consist of small feather-like branchlets or pinnules (Figure 3.8a-c). This characteristic branching pattern gives rise to the common name of this species: feathery black coral. Polyps are on average 0.56 mm in transverse diameter (range= 0.32-0.92 mm), and generally spaced 0.84 mm apart (range=0.31-1.71), resulting in 12 polyps per cm (range 8-15). On the highest order branches, spines are blade- to needle-like in shape and inclined distally (**Figure 3.8f-h**), with polypar spines generally 122 μ m in height (range= 76-196 μ m), and abpolypar spines typically 92 μ m in height (range= $51-172 \mu m$). Spines are smooth or covered with faint papillae, and are arranged in regular rows on the highest order branches, with spines in the same row typically spaced 177 μ m apart (range= 70-366 μ m). On the main stem and thicker branches, many spines are forked at their apex.

Grigg and Opresko (1977) were the first to identify *Antipathes ulex* Ellis and Solander, 1786 from Hawaiian waters. In 2001, Opresko reassigned *A. ulex* to the newly established antipatharian family Myriopathidae and the new genus *Myriopathes*, resulting

Figure 3.8a-b. Plates accompanying the original description of *Myriopathes ulex* (Ellis & Solander 1786), a species for which the type material is now lost. **c-d.** *In situ* photographs of colonies from Hawaiian waters; **e.** preserved polyps of Hawaiian species under light microscopy (scale bar = 1 mm); **f.** spines on terminal branch under light microscopy (scale bar = 100 μ m); **g.** spines on terminal branch under SEM (scale bar = 200 μ m); close-up of polypar spine under SEM (scale bar = 50 μ m). (Photos courtesy of **c.** HURL, and **d.** Greg McFall).



in the name *Myriopathes ulex* (Opresko 2001; Eldredge 2006). The original species description is rather brief and highlighted short skeletal spines and numerous epibionts including barnacles, which Ellis and Solander (1786) incorrectly identified as the ovaries of the black coral. The two plates accompanying the species description show a planar and pinnulated branching pattern (Figure 3.8a-b), features that are also characteristic of the Hawaiian specimens examine here (Figure 3.8c-e). Unfortunately, type material of *M. ulex* has been lost (Opresko 2001), and therefore no further comparisons can be made until a neotype is designated. Pending such taxonomic revisions, the name *Myriopathes* cf. *ulex* is used to refer to the Hawaiian specimens examined here, which were collected throughout the Hawaiian Archipelago from Hawai'i Island to Pearl and Hermes Atoll at depths ranging between 41-326 m (Table 3.1). Myriopathes ulex was originally described from Indonesia (Ellis & Solander 1786), but subsequently reported throughout the Indo-West Pacific at depths ranging between 25-364 m (Blainville 1834; Gray 1857; Brook 1889; Van Pesch 1914; Grigg & Opresko 1977; Colin & Arneson 1995; Chave & Malahoff 1998; Parrish & Baco 2007; Rogers et al. 2007; Bo 2008; Moon & Song 2008b). However, a thorough taxonomic investigation is needed to verify whether these records correspond to the same species that is present in Hawaiian waters.

Species key of Hawaiian shallow-water antipatharians

1a. Colonies unbranched (wire like)	
1b. Colonies branched	
2a. Polyps in multiple rows	Cirrhipathes cf. anguina
2b. Polyps in a single row	
3a Polyps \sim 1 mm in diameter with adjacent poly	os separated by a well defined
internolypar space	Stichonathes echinulata
interportyput spuce	

3b. Polyps ~1.85 mm in diameter with adjacent polyps crowded to	ogether tightly Stichopathes? sp.
4a. Colonies bushy	5
4b. Colonies fan-shaped	
5a. Spines arranged in verticils around thinner branches<i>Aphar</i>5b. Spines not arranged in verticils around thinner branches	nipathes verticillata 6
6a. Some spines with bifurcation on apex and secondary spines (≤ on thicker branches	40 μm tall) present Antipathes griggi
parts of the corallum	Antipathes grandis
7a. Colonies small (<0.5 m) and densely reticulated giving the app <i>Acan</i>	bearance of a net athopathes undulata
7b. Colonies large (< 3m) with highest order branches forming synlike a fern	mmetric pinnules <i>Ayriopathes</i> cf. <i>ulex</i>

Conclusion

The use of traditional taxonomic characters, including branching pattern, polyp and skeletal spine morphology, provides a comprehensive basis for the classification of the shallow-water Hawaiian black coral fauna, an assemblage that has been previously grouped due to taxonomic constraints in ecological surveys. As a result, potential ecological differences amongst various antipatharian species have not been identified, which is information for the management of the Hawaiian black coral fishery. At least three different species with different habitat preferences have been targeted by the Hawaiian black coral fishery (*Antipathes griggi, A. grandis* and *Myriopathes* cf. *ulex*); however, the fishery has historically been managed as a single stock, in large part due difficulties in identifying the targeted species. In addition to fishery management applications, the combined use of various morphological characters may help in future
systematic studies among the Antipatharia, a taxonomic order that has been notoriously problematic (Opresko 1972; Molodtsova 2005; Daly et al. 2007; Bo 2008).

CHAPTER 4. SEXUAL REPRODUCTION STUDY

Introduction

Black corals are used to manufacture precious coral jewelry, and as a result are targeted by commercial fisheries in several regions around the globe including throughout Asia, Latin America, the Caribbean and Hawai'i (Grigg 1975; Grigg 1976; Noome & Kristensen 1976; Castorena & Metaca 1979; Humann 1983; Grigg 1984; Kenyon 1984; Kerstitch 1989; Grigg 1993; Romero 1997; Grigg 2001; Maldonado 2003; Padilla & Lara 2003; Huang & Ou 2010; Tsounis et al. 2010). Like fisheries targeting other precious corals, antipatharian fisheries have traditionally exhibited a cyclic pattern of discovery of a population, exploitation, depletion, followed by exploration for new harvesting grounds, a boom and bust cycle that resembles mining more than a fishery (Grigg 1976; Castorena & Metaca 1979; Grigg 1984; Grigg 1993; Romero 1997; Tsounis et al. 2010). In contrast to that typical pattern, the Hawaiian black coral fishery has maintained consistent landings for more than 50 years through a management program of catch quotas and minimum size limits of harvested colonies (Grigg 1976; Grigg 1984; Grigg 1993; Grigg 2001; Parrish & Baco 2007; Grigg 2010). However, recent declines in population densities of Hawaiian black corals have raised questions about whether regulations need to be redefined in order to regain a sustainable harvest (Grigg 2003; Grigg 2004; Kahng & Grigg 2005). Unfortunately very little is known about the basic life history of black corals, which complicates effective management of the fishery (Grigg 2001; Grigg 2004). In 2006, the Western Pacific Regional Fishery Management Council (WPRFMC) held a workshop to review the state of the Hawaiian black coral fishery and

to identify future research priorities (WPRFMC 2006). Among the established research objectives, studies on the reproduction of commercially valuable Hawaiian black corals were recognized as a top priority (WPRFMC 2006). The purpose of this chapter is to present the results of a study on the sexual reproduction of commercially valuable Hawaiian black corals, which addressed this research priority. The species *Antipathes griggi, Antipathes grandis* and *Myriopathes* cf. *ulex* have all been targeted by the Hawaiian precious coral fishery (Grigg 1976; Grigg 2001; Boland & Parrish 2005; WPRFMC 2006; Parrish & Baco 2007; Grigg 2010; Wagner et al. 2010; Wagner et al. 2011a). However, over 90% of the coral harvested in Hawaiian waters consists of *A. griggi* (Oishi 1990; Parrish & Baco 2007), and therefore this species was chosen as the focus of the study. Specific objectives were to obtain information on the following reproductive parameters of *A. griggi*: (1) reproductive strategy (gonochorism vs. hermaphroditism), (2) mode of reproduction (spawner vs. brooder), (3) reproductive cycle, (4) minimum size of sexual maturity, and (5) maximum depth of reproduction.

Materials and methods

Sample collections

Samples used for this study were collected on a series of cruises conducted from 2006-2010 (N = 220), and were obtained throughout the known range of *A. griggi*, from the islands of Hawai'i to Laysan at depths ranging between 10-100 m (**Figure 4.1**). The taxonomic identity of specimens was confirmed by examining skeletal spine morphology under scanning electron microscopy (SEM) as described by Wagner et al. (2010). Heights of all sampled colonies were measured to the nearest 10 cm by using a tape measure

Figure 4.1. Map showing the locations were *Antipathes griggi* colonies were sampled as part of this study. A total of 220 specimens were collected throughout the known range of *A. griggi*, from the islands of Hawai'i to Laysan at depths between 10-100 m. INSET: Study site off Port Allen Harbor, Kaua'i where monthly collections were performed for one year. (Base map and bathymetry data courtesy of HURL).



underwater, or by photographing colonies with parallel lasers projected onto them (Olsen & Wood 1980; Grigg 2004; Reed et al. 2005; Wagner et al. 2010). Samples consisting of 3-5 cm branches were clipped from each colony, preserved in 10% seawater buffered formalin, and transferred to 70% ethanol after 3-5 days. Additionally, monthly collections were performed for one year at a site located off Port Allen Harbor, Kaua'i (21°53.353'N 159°34.980'W) at depths ranging between 30-40 m (Figure 4.1). At the site, ten colonies were tagged with a label attached to the base, and sampled between July 2008 and July 2009 as described above. Temperature and photoperiod time-series data were obtained at the Port Allen site, and examined in relation to gametogenesis. Temperature measurements were taken once every 15 min for the duration of the study with the aid of a HOBO Pro v2 temperature logger ($\pm 0.2^{\circ}$ C; Onset Computer Corporation, Bourne, MA) anchored at the site. Photoperiods were calculated using sunrise and sunset data from the U.S. Naval Observatory Astronomical Applications Department (http://www.usno.navy.mil/USNO/astronomical-applications/data-services/rs-one-dayus).

Histology

A total of 10 polyps (selected to have a similar size) were dissected from the skeleton of each specimen, and subsequently dehydrated by sequential submersions in 70% ethanol for 30 min, 95% ethanol for 1.5 h and 100% ethanol for 6 h, followed by clearing in xylene for 4 h. Samples were then infiltrated with molten paraffin wax at 70°C for 16 h and poured into standard moulds. Serial histological cross-sections, spaced 50 µm apart, were cut at 5-10 µm using a Leica RM 2155 rotary microtome (Leica

Microsystems GmbH, Wetzlar, Germany). Slides were stained with Masson's Trichrome using the following staining steps: xylene for 5 min, 100% ethanol for 5 min, haematoxylin Z for 25 min, wash in running tap water for 15 min, phosphomolybic acid for 5 min, light green for 5 min, 100% ethanol for 5 min, 100% for 2 min and xylene for 5 min (Wagner et al. 2011b; Wagner et al. 2011c). Stained slides were viewed and photographed under an Olympus BX51 compound microscope with camera attachment (Olympus Corporation, Tokyo, Japan). Individual polyps were scored as either containing or lacking gametes, and reproductive output was measured as the percentage of polyps containing gametes (Ward 1995; Parker et al. 1997; Sakai 1998; Ward et al. 2000; Zakai et al. 2000; Bo 2008; Torres et al. 2008). For those individuals containing gametes, sex and reproductive stage was determined for a total of 100 gametes per specimen. Spermatogenesis was staged as described by Parker et al. (1997) (see Figure 4.2). Oocyte diameters were estimated for 100 oocytes per specimen using feret diameter measurements (Walton 1948) obtained using the image analysis software Image J (Wayne Rasband, National Institute of Health, Bethesda, MD). Only oocytes sectioned through the germinal vesicle were measured in order to standardize measurements to the widest axis of oocytes (Davis 1982; Parker et al. 1997; Waller et al. 2005; Waller & Baco 2007). Previtellogenic oocytes were differentiated from vitellogenic oocytes by being smaller in size ($< 70 \,\mu$ m) and by staining dark purple as opposed to bright red due to the absence of yolk (which is eosinophilic; Figure 4.2). Oocyte size-frequency distributions were graphed for female colonies by binning oocyte diameters in 10 µm increments.

Results

Reproductive strategy

All colonies were strictly gonochoric, as none of the examined specimens contained both oocytes and spermatocysts in different polyps either simultaneously or sequentially. Of the total of 220 *A. griggi* colonies that were sampled on a single date (**Figure 4.1**), 95 (43.2%) did not contain any gametes, whereas 64 (29.1%) contained oocytes and 61 (27.7%) contained spermatocysts. The ratio of male to female colonies was not significantly different from 1:1 at any of the total of 20 collection sites (one sample t-test, p > 0.796). Of the ten tagged colonies that were sampled on a monthly basis off South Kaua'i (**Figure 4.1**), five were males and five were females. The sex of each tagged colony stayed the same throughout the duration of the study (July 2008-July 2009). Externally, there were no apparent morphological differences between males and females in any of the samples, and the presence of oocytes or spermatocysts was the only character that allowed for the distinction between sexes. When gametes were present, these were always found in association with the primary transverse mesenteries, which extended into the cavity of lateral tentacles in many cases (**Figure 4.2**).

Mode of reproduction

No developing embryos or larvae were observed in any of the examined polyps, and none of the oocytes exhibited any signs of fertilization (**Figure 4.2**). Spawning was not observed *in situ* or in histological sections (e.g., rupture of mesenterial tissues and accumulation of gametes in the gastric cavity), and could therefore only be inferred by

Figure 4.2a. Scanning electron micrograph of *Antipathes griggi* polyp, and **b-j.** histological cross-sections through polyps of *A. griggi* showing, **b.** locations of primary transverse mesenteries which bear the filaments and gametes (M = mouth; PTM = primary transverse mesentery; LT = lateral tentacles; ST = sagittal tentacles); **c.** male polyp during non-reproductive season without gametes; **d.** female polyp during non-reproductive season without gametes; **e.** stage 3 spermatocysts along primary transverse mesentery extending into the cavities of lateral tentacles; **g.** vitellogenic and previtellogenic oocytes in close proximity to each other; **h.** stage1 spermatocysts; **i.** stage 2 spermatocysts; and **j.** stage 3 spermatocysts (scale bars =100 µm).



the disappearance of gametes during time-series collections (see below). Externally, none of the examined polyps contained brooded larvae or eggs on their surfaces.

Reproductive cycle

Oocyte size-frequency distributions were not significantly different among the five female colonies for any of the collection dates (one-way ANOVA, p > 0.05; Wallace 1985). Similarly, spermatocyst stage-frequency distributions were not significantly different among the five male colonies across sampling dates (one-way ANOVA, p >(0.05). Therefore frequency distribution data were pooled for both female and male colonies in each month. Reproductive output, measured as the proportion of polyps containing gametes, closely tracked seasonal temperature fluctuations (Figure 4.3). None of the samples collected in March-May contained any gametes, coinciding with the period of lowest mean temperatures (~23 °C; Figure 4.3). Reproductive output and mean temperatures increased between June-August, and then decreased between August-March (Figure 4.3). Both male and female colonies had a similar seasonal pattern of reproductive output, although there were slight temporal differences between sexes (Figures 4.3-4.4). All male polyps were completely void of spermatocysts by January, whereas a few female polyps (< 3%) still contained oocytes through February (Figures **4.3-4.4**). Gamete maturity stages generally increased from June through December (Figure 4.4). For male colonies, spermatocysts were mostly in early stages of development (stages 1 and 2) in June-August, and then progressively became dominated by spermatocysts in late developmental stages through December (stage 3; Figure 4.4). Similarly, female colonies had polyps containing a high proportion of previtellogenic

Figure 4.3a. Percentage of polyps containing gametes across time at the Port Allen site, expressed as a proportion of the contribution of both male and female colonies to the total amount. Error bars represent standard deviations. **b.** Photoperiod (grey lines) and mean daily temperature (red dots) measured at the Port Allen site.



Figure 4.4. Percentage of oocytes per size class for five female colonies that were tagged at the Port Allen site. Arrows point toward mean oocyte diameter. Error bars represent standard deviations. **b.** Percentage of spermatocysts per reproductive stage for five male colonies tagged at the Port Allen site.



oocytes in June-August, which gradually progressed to a higher proportion of vitellogenic oocytes of larger size classes in January-February (**Figure 4.4**). However, female colonies contained oocytes of a large range of size and maturity stage throughout the reproductive season (**Figure 4.4**), with immature oocytes often occurring within close proximity to mature oocytes even within the same mesentery (**Figure 4.2**).

Minimum size of sexual maturity

Of the total 128 colonies that were sampled during the reproductive season (June-December; see above), 39 (38.3%) did not contain any gametes. All colonies smaller than 40 cm (N=19) did not contain any gametes and were thus considered sexually immature (**Figure 4.5**). The proportion of mature colonies increased with increasing colony height, from 20% for colonies measuring 40-49 cm, to ~60% for colonies with a height of 50-59 cm, to ~ 80% for colonies measuring 60-69 cm (**Figure 4.5**). All colonies that were taller than 130 cm were sexually mature (**Figure 4.5**).

Maximum depth of sexual reproduction

Despite intense sampling of black coral colonies at depths ranging between 75-130 m (N=76), only five *A. griggi* colonies were sampled below 75 m, with the deepest colony occurring at 100 m. Below 75 m, most of the sampled colonies belonged to the species *Antipathes grandis* (68.4%) and *Aphanipathes verticillata* (25.0%). Despite being rare, all five *A. griggi* colonies that were sampled below a depth of 75 m contained mature gametes.

Figure 4.5. Proportion of colonies containing gametes during the reproductive season of *A. griggi* (June-December) as a function of **a.** colony height, and **b.** colony height and sex. Colony sizes represent lower bin limits of a particular size category.



Discussion

Reproductive strategy

Among samples containing gametes, all contained either oocytes or spermatocysts, but never both within the same individual (Figure 4.2). Additionally, all tagged colonies (N=10) were of the same sex throughout the duration of this study (July 2008 and July 2009), indicating that colony sex is relatively stable in A. griggi. Collectively, these observations suggest that A. griggi is a gonochoric species with a 1:1 sex ratio. However, because the sex of individual colonies was only monitored over one year, sex changes (i.e., sequential hermaphroditism) occurring over longer time periods cannot be excluded as a possible reproductive strategy for A. griggi. Nevertheless, if sex changes do occur in A. griggi, they are not related to size, because both males and females were identified among similarly sized colonies (Figure 4.5). Consistent with this, Parker et al. (1997) reported that there is no relationship between sex and colony size in Antipathella fiordensis populations from New Zealand. Unfortunately, both this study and that of A. fiordensis in New Zealand (Parker et al. 1997), only monitored sex of individual colonies over a single reproductive season, and therefore it is not possible to distinguish between gonochorism and sequential hermaphroditism unambiguously. To date only two studies have monitored the sex of antipatharian colonies over multiple reproductive seasons (Goenaga 1977; Bo 2008). Goenaga (1977) examined the sexual reproduction of two *Stichopathes* spp. in Puerto Rico over three years, and reported that both species were gonochoric. In contrast, Bo (2008) studied the sexuality of *Cirrhipathes* sp. in Indonesia over two years, and noted that some colonies changed sex over the course of the study and were thus sequential hermaphrodites. In addition to these

two studies that have monitored the sexuality of individual colonies over multiple years (Goenaga 1977; Bo 2008), numerous studies have examined the sexuality of antipatharian species using specimens that were collected over a shorter time span (< 1 month; Von Koch 1878; Brook 1889; Schultze 1903; Roule 1905; Cooper 1909; Van Pesch 1914; Pax 1932; Opreso & Genin 1990; Opresko 2003b; Molodtsova & Pasternak 2005; Opresko 2005a; Molodtsova 2006; Gaino et al. 2008; Gaino & Scoccia 2008; Moon & Song 2008b; Bo et al. 2009a; Gaino & Scoccia 2009; Gaino & Scoccia 2010; Wagner et al. 2011c). All of these studies report finding oocytes or spermatocysts but never both within the same individual. However, like the current study, sequential hermaphroditism cannot be ruled out in any of these cases, and it is therefore unknown whether gonochorism or sequential hermaphroditism is more widespread within the order Antipatharia.

While the results of this study do not allow us to determine conclusively whether *A. griggi* is gonochoric or sequentially hermaphroditic, they do indicate that A. *griggi* is not a simultaneous hermaphroditic species, because none of the examined specimens contained both oocytes and spermatocysts (**Figure 4.2**). Likewise, most previous examinations of antipatharians have failed to detect simultaneous hermaphroditic colonies (reviewed by Wagner et al. 2011c). The only exception to this trend is *Stichopathes saccula*, for which Pax et al. (1987) report finding mixed colonies with both male and female polyps. Collectively, these results indicate that simultaneous hermaphroditism is rare among antipatharian corals.

When gametes were present in *A. griggi*, they were always found in association with the primary transverse mesenteries, which reached into the cavity of lateral tentacles in many cases (**Figure 4.2**). While there has been some dispute over whether the transverse and sagittal planes have been correctly defined within the Antipatharia (Schultze 1896b), this chapter continues to use the terminology used by most previous authors (Brook 1889; Van Pesch 1914; Pax 1918; Hyman 1940; Opresko 1972; Schmidt 1972; Pax et al. 1987), in which the transverse plane lies parallel to the branch bearing the polyp, whereas the sagittal plane lies perpendicular to the branch bearing the polyp (**Figure 4.2**). All previous examinations of antipatharians have found gametes within the primary transverse mesenteries, which in some cases extend into the cavity of lateral tentacles (reviewed by Wagner et al. 2011c). These previous reports are consistent with the observations of this study, and collectively suggest that gamete location is evolutionary conserved among the order Antipatharia.

Mode of reproduction

No developing embryos or larvae were observed within any of the examined polyps and none of the oocytes exhibited any signs of fertilization. These results are consistent with all previous histological examinations of antipatharians, which have failed to detect any signs of internal fertilization (reviewed by Wagner et al. 2011c). Additionally, none of the samples examined as part of this study contained brooded larvae or eggs on their surfaces, thus indicating that *A. griggi* is not a brooding species. Consequently, *A. griggi* is a spawner and either (1) spawns both oocytes and spermatocysts into the water column with fertilization occurring externally (i.e.,

broadcast spawning), or (2) retains oocytes until they are fertilized internally and then rapidly spawns fertilized eggs (i.e., pseudo-brooding). However, distinguishing between these two fertilization strategies is difficult, because it requires sampling either right before or during a spawning event (Harrison & Wallace 1990; Vermeij et al. 2004; Kahng et al. 2008). Unfortunately, spawning of A. griggi was not observed in this study, and could therefore only be inferred by the disappearance of gametes during time-series collections (Figures 4.3-4.4). Unfortunately there are only few direct observations on the spawning behavior of antipatharians (Goenaga 1977; Miller 1996; Gaino & Scoccia 2009), and these do not allow us to determine whether female colonies spawn fertilized or unfertilized eggs. Goenaga (1977) observed the spawning of a single *Stichopathes* sp. male colony in an aquarium. On the following day all female colonies kept in the same aquarium spawned, and Goenaga (1977) concluded that females released oocytes in response to male pheromones and that fertilization is thus likely external. Several authors have studied the sexual reproduction of Antipathella fiordensis in New Zealand (Grange 1988; Miller & Grange 1995; Miller 1996; Parker et al. 1997), however, spawning has never been observed *in situ*, and has only been inferred by the disappearance of gametes. Spawning has, however, been artificially induced in *A. fiordensis* colonies raised in aquaria, with externally fertilized eggs developing into ciliated planulae (200 µm in length) within 36 hours of fertilization (Miller 1996). Also in aquarium cultures, Gaino and Scoccia (2009) observed male polyps of *Cupressopathes pumila* releasing buoyant spheres (consisting of sperm in various stages of sperm differentiation) from their mouths. Unfortunately, Gaino and Scoccia (2009) did not have any female C. pumila specimens for comparisons, and it is therefore unknown whether fertilization occurs

internally or externally in this species. In addition to these few direct observations on the spawning behavior of antipatharians, there is also indirect evidence of spawning from histological examinations (Cooper 1909; Opresko 2005a; Gaino et al. 2008; Gaino & Scoccia 2010). In histological sections of male *Cirrhipathes* cf. *anguina* polyps from Indonesia, Gaino et al. (2008) observed lysing of cells bordering the mesenteries and sperm accumulating in the gastric cavity. Gaino et al. (2008) hypothesized that C. cf. anguina polyps would subsequently release sperm through the mouth, as has been observed in preserved polyps of Antipathella subpinnata from the Mediterranean (Gaino & Scoccia 2010). Such signs of spawning were not apparent in any of the A. griggi polyps examined as part of this study, perhaps reflecting that none of the samples were collected close to spawning times. All A. griggi samples were collected during daytime surveys, and spawning may occur during the night, as is predominant among shallowwater (< 40 m) corals (Stimson 1978; Fadlallah 1983; Wallace 1985; Babcock et al. 1986; Szmant 1986; Harrison & Wallace 1990; Richmond & Hunter 1990; Glynn et al. 1991; Dahan & Benayahu 1997; Fautin 2002; Carroll et al. 2006; Harrison 2011). Future nighttime surveys, particularly around the months of November and December when the greatest decline in gamete-containing polyps is seen will be needed to confirm whether A. griggi spawns at night.

Few studies on antipatharians report external signs of polyp deterioration as a result of sexual maturation (Cooper 1909; Opresko 2005). Among *Bathypathes patula* specimens from the Indian Ocean, Cooper (1909) noted that colonies could be classified into three different stages of progressive sexual maturity. In the first stage, the gonad-

bearing parts of the polyp contained small oocytes and were well separated from the central mouth-bearing part by a longitudinal septum. In the second stage, the oocytes were enlarged around the longitudinal septum, causing the mouth-bearing part to appear degenerate. In the third stage, the mouth-bearing part and tentacles were missing altogether, and oocytes were clearly visible through the polyp's body wall. Cooper (1909) speculated that oocytes would be liberated in a subsequent stage through the rupture and death of the tissues of polyps. Such polyp deterioration as a result of sexual maturity has also been described more recently for specimens of *Heliopathes pacifica* from the North Pacific, where polyps filled with oocytes had either no tentacles or a single pair of tentacles (Opresko 2005a). No signs of polyp deterioration were observed in any of the *A*. *griggi* samples examined as part of this study, indicating that individual polyps do not deteriorate as a result of sexual maturity and therefore likely survive multiple spawning events.

Reproductive cycle

While time-series samples were only collected during a single reproductive season, the seasonal pattern in reproductive output and gametogenic stages strongly suggests that *Antipathes griggi* has an annual reproductive cycle (**Figures 4.3-4.4**). Additionally, spawning appears to occur repeatedly throughout the reproductive season of *A. griggi*, because the reproductive output dropped continuously between July and March (**Figures 4.3**). Consistent with this interpretation, immature oocytes were often observed in close proximity to mature oocytes even within the same mesentery (**Figure 4.2**), indicating that spawning occurs in successive events.

To date, few studies have examined the reproductive seasonality of black corals (Grigg 1976; Goenaga 1977; Schmidt & Zissler 1979; Parker et al. 1997; Bo 2008; Gaino & Scoccia 2008; Gaino & Scoccia 2010). All of these studies were conducted in shallow water (<70 m), and report a seasonality in the appearance and disappearance of gametes, which at least in some cases have been correlated to seasonal temperature fluctuations (Schmidt & Zissler 1979; Parker et al. 1997; Gaino & Scoccia 2010). Parker et al. (1997) report that Antipathella fiordensis has an annual gametogenic cycle that is highly synchronous both within and between colonies, and spawns in the month of March coinciding with the warmest temperatures in New Zealand. Gaino & Scoccia (2010) examined Antipathella subpinnata specimens collected from the Mediterranean, and found no fertile colonies in September-November when water temperatures were low (14°C), and fertile colonies in August when temperatures were higher (16°C). Schmidt and Zissler (1979) noted that several tropical Indo-Pacific antipatharians in the genera Antipathes and Cirrhipathes reproduced in the two mid-summer months. Like in all these previous antipatharian studies (Grigg 1976; Goenaga 1977; Schmidt & Zissler 1979; Parker et al. 1997; Bo 2008; Gaino & Scoccia 2008; Gaino & Scoccia 2010), the reproductive cycle of A. griggi coincided with seasonal temperature fluctuations, because periods of decreasing reproductive output coincided temporally with decreasing water temperatures, whereas periods of increasing reproductive output, coincided with increasing water temperatures (Figures 4.3). Seasonal changes in temperature have also been correlated to the reproductive seasonality of numerous species of shallow-water (<40 m) scleractinian corals (reviewed by Harrison & Wallace 1990; Wallace 2011). That said, none of these temporal correlations necessarily imply a causal relationship between

temperature and reproductive seasonality, and identifying whether such a causal relationship exists, would require manipulative experiments in laboratory cultures. Some controlled laboratory experiments have shown that the initiation of gametogenesis is not controlled by temperature, but rather by photoperiod in the sea star *Pisaster ochraceus* (Pearse & Eernisse 1982) and the sea urchin Eucidaris tribuloides (McClintock & Watts 1990). Similarly, a meta-analysis of twelve species of shallow-water (<40 m) scleractinian corals from the Caribbean, demonstrated that photoperiod is a better predictor than temperature in synchronizing reproductive seasonality, presumably by acting as a cue to initiate gametogenesis (Van Woesik et al. 2006). In this study, both A. griggi oocytes and spermatocysts first appeared in June, coinciding with the time of the year with longest photoperiods (Figures 4.3). However, determining whether these long photoperiods trigger the initiation of gametogenesis in A. griggi will require manipulating this variable in laboratory cultures. Regardless of what environmental variable actually causes the reproductive seasonality in A. griggi, the results of this study indicate that reproductive output is correlated to seasonal temperature fluctuations.

Minimum size of sexual maturity

The smallest *A. griggi* colony containing gametes was 40 cm in height, however, only a few colonies in this size class were mature (20%; **Figure 4.5**). The proportion of sexually mature colonies increased with increasing colony size from ~60% for colonies measuring 50-59 cm, to over 80% for colonies taller than 60 cm. These results are consistent with those of Grigg (1976), who found gametes in few *A. griggi* colonies as small as 40 cm, and sexually mature colonies in the majority of colonies measuring 64-80

cm. Current regulations prohibit commercial harvesting of *A. griggi* colonies that are smaller than 122 cm (Grigg 2010; Tsounis et al. 2010). The results of this study indicate that most (~90%), but not all, colonies that reach this legal harvesting limit are sexually mature (**Figure** 5). Therefore, a slight increase in the legal harvesting limit (130 cm) would ensure that all colonies have a chance to reproduce before being exposed to fishing mortality. Given the recent declines in population densities of *A. griggi* (Grigg 2003; Grigg 2004; Kahng & Grigg 2005), increasing the legal limit of harvested colonies may be a prudent strategy to ensure continued sustainability of the fishery.

Maximum depth of reproduction

Due to logistical constraints of conducting SCUBA diving a depths below 75 m, commercial divers have traditionally harvested Hawaiian black corals a depths between 40-75 m, primarily in the Au'Au channel between the islands of Maui and Lāna'i, and to a lesser extent in the waters off South Kaua'i (Gage 1962; Grigg 1964; Grigg 2001; Parrish & Baco 2007; Grigg 2010). However, dense black coral populations exist off the islands of Hawai'i, Maui and Kaua'i at depths down to 110 m (Grigg 1976; Grigg 2001; Grigg et al. 2002; Grigg 2004; Kahng & Grigg 2005; Kahng & Kelley 2007; Parrish & Baco 2007; Wagner et al. 2010), and it had previously been thought that that reseeding of fished populations may depend on large colonies below the harvesting depth zone (> 75 m) (Grigg 1976; Grigg 2001). The results of this study indicate that the depth refuge of *A. griggi* colonies below the harvesting zone has been greatly overestimated in the past. Despite intense sampling efforts at depths below 75 m, which included a total of 76 black coral colonies sampled during twelve separate submersible dives, only five *A. griggi*

colonies were collected (6.6%). Below 75 m, the majority of sampled colonies consisted of A. grandis (68.4%) and Aphanipathes verticillata (25.0%). While all A. griggi colonies collected below 75 m were sexually mature, the low population densities suggest that fertilization success is likely low at these depths. Numerous studies of diverse marine organisms, ranging from fish to snails to urchins and corals, have documented that fertilization success of isolated free-spawning individuals is negligible (Pennington 1985; Levitan 1991; Levitan et al. 1991; Levitan et al. 1992; Oliver & Babcock 1992; Babcock et al. 1994; Harrison & Jamieson 1999). Thus, the low occurrence of A. griggi colonies below 75 m suggests that while reproduction is possible at depths up to 100 m, it does not occur frequently, and these isolated colonies likely contribute little to the overall population. Alternatively, the low population densities of A. griggi at increasing depths may be due larvae preferentially settling in shallower water. Unfortunately there are no direct observations of larvae within the order Antipatharia (Wagner et al. 2011c), and therefore it is unknown whether A. griggi is absent from deeper reefs (> 100 m) due to the settlement behavior of its larvae.

Conclusion

In contrast to precious coral fisheries in other parts of the world, the Hawaiian black coral fishery has maintained steady catch levels for more than 50 years. However, recent declines in population densities have renewed scrutiny on the black coral fishery and raised questions about whether regulations need to be redefined to maintain a sustainable harvest. Complicating efforts to effectively manage the fishery is the limited knowledge on the basic life history of black corals, and in particular the lack of available

information on their reproductive processes. To address this knowledge gap, this study investigated the sexual reproduction of Antipathes griggi, which is the dominant species targeted by the Hawaiian black coral fishery. The results indicate that A. griggi is likely gonochoric with a 1:1 sex-ratio, although sequential hermaphroditism over successive reproductive seasons cannot be ruled out. Furthermore, both males and females were present among similarly sized colonies, indicating that if sex changes occur in A. griggi, they are not related to size. No larvae or fertilized eggs were observed in any of the samples, indicating that A. griggi is likely a broadcast spawner. As reported for other shallow-water (< 70 m) black corals, A. griggi has an annual reproductive cycle that is related to seasonal temperature fluctuations, with reproduction occurring between June-December when temperatures are highest. Furthermore, spawning occurs continuously throughout the reproductive season. The proportion of sexually mature colonies increased with increasing colony size, from 20% for 40 cm tall colonies, to 100% for colonies measuring 130 cm or more. Currently, fishing regulations prohibit commercial harvesting of colonies < 122 cm. This study indicates that most (~90%), but not all, colonies that can be legally harvested in Hawai'i are sexually mature. A slight increase in the legal harvesting limit (130 cm) would therefore ensure that all colonies have a chance to reproduce before being exposed to fishing mortality. Additionally, the results of this study indicate that the supposed depth refuge from harvest does not really exist. While A. griggi exists to depths of 100 m, it is rare deeper than the 75 m limit at which commercial harvest occurs in Hawai'i. There is reason to believe that reproductive success of isolated colonies at depths of 75-100 m is likely to be low. Given that the population size and depth refuge of A. griggi colonies below the harvesting zone appears to have been greatly

overestimated in the past, this study calls into question the population models used for the management of the fishery. Future studies will need to reevaluate the sizes of *A. griggi* populations that are exposed and protected from fishing mortality.

LIST OF ORIGINAL ARTICLES

Kahng SE, Garcia R, Spalding H, Brokovich E, **Wagner D**, Weil E, Hinderstein L & Toonen RJ (2010). Community ecology of mesophotic coral reef ecosystems. *Coral Reefs* 29: 255-275.

Wagner D, Brugler MR, Opresko DM, France SC, Montgomery AD & Toonen RJ (2010). Using morphometrics, *in situ* observations and genetic characters to distinguish among commercially valuable Hawaiian black coral species; a redescription of *Antipathes grandis* Verrill, 1928 (Antipatharia: Antipathidae). *Invertebrate Systematics* 24: 271-290

Wagner D, Pochon X, Irwin L, Toonen RJ & Gates RD (2011). Azooxanthellate? Most Hawaiian black corals contain *Symbiodinium*. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B* 278: 1323-1328.

Wagner D, Papastamatiou YP, Kosaki RK, Gleason KA, McFall GB, Boland RC, Pyle RL & Toonen RJ (2011). New records of commercially valuable black corals (Cnidaria: Antipatharia) from the Northwestern Hawaiian Islands at mesophotic depths. *Pacific Science* 65(2): 249-255.

Wagner D, Waller RG & Toonen RJ (2011). Sexual reproduction of Hawaiian black corals, with a review of reproduction of antipatharians (Cnidaria: Anthozoa: Hexacorallia). *Invertebrate Biology* 130(3): 211-225.

Wagner D, Toonen RJ, Papastamatiou YP, Kosaki RK, Gleason KA, McFall GB, Boland RC, & Pyle RL (in press). Mesophotic surveys of the Northwestern Hawaiian Islands with new records of black coral species. *Proceedings of the 2010 American Academy of Underwater Sciences Symposium*.

REFERENCES

- Aburto-Oropeza O & Balart EF. 2001. Community Structure of reef Fish in Several Habitats of a Rocky Reef in the Gulf of California. Marine Ecology 22(4):283-305.
- Aiello A, Fattorusso E & Menna M. 1991. Five new polar sterols from the black coral *Antipathes subpinnata*. Steroids 56:513-517.
- Aiello A, Fattorusso E & Menna M. 1992. Four new bioactive polyhydroxylated sterols from the black coral *Antipathes subpinnata*. Journal of Natural Products 55(3):321-325.
- Al-Lihaibi SS, Ayyad S-EN, Shaher F & Alarif WM. 2011. ChemInform abstract: antibacterial sphingolipid and steroids from the black coral *Antipathes dichotoma*. ChemInform 42(18):doi: 10.1002/chin.201118167.
- Angel MV & Boxhall GA. 1990. Life in the benthic boundary layer: connections to the mid-water and sea floor. Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London Series A, Mathematical and Physical Sciences 331(1616):15-25.
- Armstrong RA, Singh H, Torres J, Nemeth RS, Can A, Roman C, Eustice R, Riggs L & Garcia-Moliner G. 2006. Characterizing the deep insular shelf coral reef habitat of the Hind Bank marine conservation district (US Virgin Islands) using the Seabed autonomous underwater vehicle. Continental Shelf Research 26:194-205.
- Babcock RC, Bull GD, Harrison PL, Heyward AJ, Oliver JK, Wallace CC & Willis BL. 1986. Synchronous spawning of 105 scleractinian coral species on the Great Barrier Reef. Marine Biology 90:379-394.
- Babcock RC, Mundy CN & Whitehead D. 1994. Sperm diffusion models and *in situ* confirmation of long-distance fertilization in the free-spawning asteroid *Acanthaster planci*. Biological Bulletin 186:17-28.
- Baco AR. 2007. Exploration for deep-sea corals on North Pacific seamounts and islands. Oceanography 20(4):108-117.
- Bai X, Chen Y, Lei H & Shi G. 2011. Volatile constituents, inorganic elements and primary screening of bioactivity of black coral cigarette holders. Marine Drugs 9:863-878.
- Baker AC. 2003. Flexibility and specificity in coral-algal symbiosis: diversity, ecology, and biogeography of *Symbiodinium*. Annual Review of Ecology, Evolution, and Systematics 34:661-689.

- Bayer FM. 1961. Summary of black coral investigations to date. Hawaiian Shell News 9(12):8.
- Bell J. 1891. Contributions to our knowledge of the Antipatharian Corals. Transactions of the Zoological Society of London 13(7):87-92.
- Berntson EA, France SC & Mullineaux LS. 1999. Phylogenetic relationships within the class Anthozoa (Phylum Cnidaria) based on nuclear 18S rDNA sequences. Molecular Phylogenetics and Evolution 13(2):417-433.
- Blainville HMDd. 1834. Manuel d'actinologie ou de zoophytologie. Paris. 644 p.
- Bo M. 2008. Taxonomy and ecology of antipatharians. PhD Dissertation in Marine Biology and Ecology, Universita Politecnica Delle Marche, Ancona, Italy:212pp.
- Bo M, Baker AC, Gaino E, Wirshing HH, Scoccia F & Bavestrello G. 2011. First description of algal mutualistic endosymbiosis in a black coral (Anthozoa: Antipatharia). Marine Ecology Progess Series 435:1-11.
- Bo M, Barucca M, Biscotti MA, Canapa A, Lapian HFN, Olmo E & Bavestrello G. 2009a. Description of *Pseudocirrhipathes* (Cnidaria: Anthozoa: Hexacorallia: Antipathidae), a new genus of whip black coral from the Indo-Pacific. Italian Journal of Zoology 76(4):392-402.
- Bo M, Bavestrello G, Canese S, Giusti M, Salvati E, Angiolillo M & Greco S. 2009b. Characteristics of a black coral meadow in the twilight zone of the central Mediterranean Sea. Marine Ecology Progress Series 397:53-61.
- Bo M, Di Camillo CG, Addamo AM, Valisano L & Bavestrello G. 2009c. Growth strategies of whip black corals (Cnidaria: Antipatharia) in the Bunaken Marine Park (Celebes Sea, Indonesia). Biodiversity Records 2:e54.
- Bo M, Di Camillo CG, Puce S, Canese S, Giusti M, Angiolillo M & Bavestrello G. in press. A tubulariid hydroid associated with anthozoan corals in the Mediterranean Sea Italian Journal of Zoology:DOI: 10.1080/11250003.11252011.11568015.
- Bo M, Tazioli S, Spano N & Bavestrello G. 2008. *Antipathella subpinnata* (Antipatharia, Myriopathidae) in Italian seas. Italian Journal of Zoology 75(2):185-195.
- Boland GS & Sammarco PW. 2005. Observations of the antipatharian "black coral" *Plumapathes pennacea* (Pallas, 1766) (Cnidaria: Anthozoa), Norwhestern Gulf of Mexico. Gulf of Mexico Science 23(1):127-132.
- Boland RC & Parrish FA. 2005. A description of fish assemblages in the black coral beds off Lahaina, Maui, Hawai'i. Pacific Science 59(3):411-420.

- Bright JL. 2007. Abundance and distribution of structure-forming invertebrates and their association with fishes at the Channel Islands "Footprint" off the southern coast of California. MS Thesis in Earth and Environmental Science, Washington State University:76pp.
- Brito A & Ocaña O. 2004. Corales de las Islas Canarias. Lemus F, editor. La Laguna: Francisco Lemus. 477 p.
- Brook G. 1889. Report on the Antipatharia. Report of the scientific results of the voyage of the H.M.S. Challenger. Zoology 32(80):1-222.
- Bruce AJ. 1982. The pontoniine shrimp fauna of Australia. Australia Museum Memoir 18:195-218.
- Bruce AJ. 1983. *Mirpandalus hardingi*, new genus, new species, a bizarre commensal pandalid shrimp from the Marshall Islands. Journal of Crustacean Biology 3(3):482-490.
- Bruce AJ. 2010. *Periclimenes nevillei* sp. nov. (Crustacea: Decapoda: Pontoniinae) from Vanuatu. Zootaxa 2510:45-54.
- Bruckner AW. 2001. Tracking the trade in ornamental coral reef organisms: The importance of CITES and its limitations. Aquarium Sciences and Conservation 3:79-94.
- Buchner P. 1921. Tier und Pflanze in intrazellularer Symbiose. Berlin: Verlag von Gebrüder Borntraeger. 466 p.
- Buhl-Mortensen L & Mortensen PB. 2004. Symbiosi in deep-water corals. Symbiosis 37:33-61.
- Cairns SD. 2007. Deep-water corals: an overview with special reference to diversity and distribution of deep-water scleractinian corals. Bulletin of Marine Science 81(3):311-322.
- Campbell RD. 1974. Cnidaria. In: Giese AC, Pearse JS, editors. Reproduction of marine invertebrates Volume I Acoelomate and pseudocoelomate metazoans. New York: Academic Press. p 133-199.
- Carlgren O. 1895. Ueber die G. *Geradia* Lacaze-Duthiers. Öfversigt af Kongliga Vetenskaps-Akademiens Förhandlingar 5:319-334.
- Carlier A, Le Guilloux E, Olu K, Sarrazin J, Mastrototaro F, Taviani M & Clavier J.
 2009. Trophic relationships in a deep Mediterraean cold-water coral bank (Santa Maria di Leuca, Ionian Sea). Marine Ecology Progress Series 397:125-137.

- Carroll A, Harrison P & Adjeroud M. 2006. Sexual reproduction of *Acropora* reef corals at Moorea, French Polynesia. Coral Reefs 25:93-97.
- Castorena V & Metaca M. 1979. El coral negro, una riqueza en peligro. Tecnica Pesquera 139:22-27.
- Castro P. 1971. The natantian shrimps (Crustacea, Decapoda) assocaited with invertebrates in Hawaii. Pacific Science 25:395-403.
- Castro P. 1997a. Trapeziid crabs (Brachyura: Xanthoidea: Trapeziidae) of French Polynesia. In: Richer de Forges B, editor. Les fonds meubles des lagons de Nouvelle-Calédonie (Sédimentologie, Benthos) Études & Théses. Paris: Orstom. p 109-139.
- Castro P. 1997b. Trapeziid crabs (Brachyura: Xanthoidea: Trapeziidae) of New Caledonia, eastern Australia, and the Coral Sea. In: Richer de Forges B, editor. Les fonds meubles des lagons de Nouvelle-Calédonie (Sédimentologie, Benthos) Études & Théses. Paris: Orstom. p 59-107.
- Castro P. 1999. Results of the Rumphius Biohistorical Expedition to Ambon (1990). Part
 7. The Trapeziidae (Crustacea: Brachyura: Xanthoidea) of Indonesia. Zoologische Mededelingen Leiden 73(3):26-61.
- Chave EH & Jones AT. 1991. Deep-water megafauna of the Kohala and Haleakala slopes, Alenuihaha Channel, Hawaii. Deep-Sea Research 38(7):781-803.
- Chave EH & Malahoff A. 1998. In deeper waters: photographic studies of Hawaiian deep-sea habitats and life-forms. Honolulu: University of Hawai'i Press. 136 p.
- Chun MN. 1994. Native Hawaiian medicines. Translated and edited with an introduction by Malcolm Naea Chun. Honolulu: First People's Productions. 276pp. 276 p.
- Coles SL, DeFelice RC, Smith JE, Muir D & Eldredge LG. 1998. Determination of baseline conditions for introduced marine species in nearshore water of the island of Kaho'olawe, Hawaii. Bishop Museum Technical Report No. 14. Bernice Pauahi Bishop Museum, Hawaii Biological Survey. 30 p.
- Colin PL & Arneson C. 1995. Tropical Pacific invertebrates a field guide to the marine invertebrates occurring on tropical Pacific coralreefs, seagrass beds and mangroves. Beverly Hills, CA: Coral Reef Press. 296 p.
- Cooper CF. 1903. Antipatharia. In: Gardiner JS, editor. The Fauna and Geography of the Maldive and Laccadive Archipelagoes. Cambridge: University Press. p 791-796.

- Cooper CF. 1909. Reports of the Percy Sladen Trust Expedition on the Indian Ocean, 1905. Antipatharia. Transactions of the Linnean Society of London (Zoology, Series 2) 12:301-321.
- Cowie RH & Holland BS. 2006. Dispersal is fundamental to biogeography and the evolution of biodiversity on oceanic islands. Journal of Biogeography 33(2):193-198.
- Criales MM. 1984. Shrimps associated with coelenterates, echinoderms, and molluscs in the Santa Marta region, Colombia. Journal of Crustacean Biology 4(2):307-317.
- d'Udekem-d'Acoz C. 2001. Remarks on the genera *Balssia* Kemp, 1922 and *Acanthonyx* Latreille, 1828 in the Azores, and first record of *Calappa tuerkayana* Pastore, 1995 (Crustacea, Decapoda) in the Atlantic Ocean. Arquipelago 18A:53-59.
- d'Udekem-d'Acoz C & Wirtz P. 2002. Observations on some interesting coastal crustacea decapoda from the Azores, with a key to the genus *Eualus* Thallwitz, 1892 in the Northeastern Atlantic and the Mediterranean. Arquipelago 19A:67-84.
- Dahan M & Benayahu Y. 1997. Reproduction of *Dendronephthya hemprichi* (Cnidaria: Octocorallia): year-round spawning in an azooxanthellate soft coral. Marine Biology 129:573-579.
- Daly M, Brugler MR, Cartwright P, Collins AG, Dawson MN, Fautin DG, France SC, McFadden CS, Opresko DM, Rodriguez E, Romano SL & Stake JL. 2007. The phylum Cnidaria: A review of phylogenetic patterns and diversity 300 years after Linnaeus. Zootaxa 1668:127-182.
- Daly M, Fautin DG & Cappola VA. 2003. Systematics of the Hexacorallia (Cnidaria: Anthozoa). Zoological Journal of the Linnean Society 139:419-437.
- Dana JD. 1846. Zoophytes. U.S. Exploring Expedition during the years 1838-42. Vol 7. 740 p.
- Davis TLO. 1982. Maturity and sexuality in Barramundi, *Lates calcarifer* (Bloch), in the Northern Territory and south-eastern Gulf of Carpentaria. Australian Journal of Marine and Freshwater Research 33(3):529-545.
- Davis WP & Cohen DM. 1968. A gobiid fish and a paemonid shrimp living on an antipatharian sea whip in the tropical Pacific. Bulletin of Marine Science 18(4):749-761.
- De Grave S. 2000. Caridean shrimps (Crustacea, Decapoda) from Hansa Bay, Papua New Guinea: Palaemonidae and Gnathophyllidae. Biologie 70:119-148.

- De Grave S & Anker A. 2009. A new species of *Periclimenes* Costa from Utila, Honduras (Crustacea, Decapoda, Pontoniinae). Annalen des Naturhistorischen Museums in Wien 110(B):139-148.
- DeMartini EE & Friedlander AM. 2004. Spatial patterns of edemism in shallow-water reef fish populations of the Northwestern Hawaiian Islands. Marine Ecology Progess Series 271:281-296.
- Di Camillo CG, Bavestrello G, Valisano L & Puce S. 2008. Spatial and temporal distribution in a tropical hydroid assemblage. Journal of the Marine Biological Association of the United Kingdom 88(8):1589-1599.
- Donaldson TJ & Colin PL. 1989. Pelagic spawning of the hawkfish *Oxycirrhites typus* (Cirrhitidae). Environmental Biology of Fishes 24(4):295-300.
- Duris Z. 1990. Two new species of the commensal shrimp genus *Peridimenaeus* Borradaile, 1915, (Decapoda, Palaemonidae) from the Maidive Islands. Journal of Natural History 24:615-625.
- Echeverria CA. 2002. Black corals (Cnidaria: Anthozoa: Antipatharia): first records and a new species from the Brazilian coast. Revista de Biologia Tropical 50(3/4):1067-1077.
- Ehrenberg CG. 1834. Beiträge zur Kenntniß der Corallenthiere im allgemeinen, und besonders des rothen Meeres, nebst einem Versuche zur physiologischen Systematik derselben. Abhandlungen der Königlichen Akademie der Wissenschaften zu Berlin 1832:225-380.
- Eldredge LG. 2006. Numbers of Hawaiian species for 2003-2005. Bishop Museum Occasional Papers 88:62-79.
- Eldredge LG & Evenhuis NL. 2003. Hawaii's biodivesity: a detailed assessment of the numbers of species in the Hawaiian Islands. Bishop Museum Occasional Papers 76:1-28.
- Ellis J & Solander D. 1786. The Natural History of many curious and uncommon zoophytes collected by the late John Ellis, systematically arranged and described by the late Daniel Solander. London. 208 p.
- Encarnacion DR, Franzblau SG, Tapia CA & Cedillero-Rivera R. 2000. Screening of marine organisms for antimicrobial and antiprotozoal activity. Pharmaceutical Biology 38(5):379-384.
- Etnoyer P & Morgan LE. 2005. Habitat-forming deep-sea corals in the Northeast Pacific Ocean. In: Freiwald A, Roberts CM, editors. Cold-water Corals and Ecosystems. Heidelberg: Springer-Verlag. p 331-343.

- Fabricius KE, Benayahu Y & Genin A. 1995a. Herbivory in asymbiotic soft corals. Science 268(5207):90-92.
- Fabricius KE, Genin A & Benayahu Y. 1995b. Flow-dependent herbivory and growth in zooxanthellae-free soft corals. Limnology and Oceanography 40(7):1290-1301.
- Fabricius KE, Yahel G & Genin A. 1998. *In situ* depletion of phytoplankton by an azooxanthellate soft coral. Limnology and Oceanography 43(2):354-356.
- Fadlallah YH. 1983. Sexual reproduction, development and larval biology in scleractinian corals. Coral Reefs 2:129-150.
- Fautin DG. 2002. Reproduction of Cnidaria. Canadian Journal of Zoology 80(10):1735-1754.
- Fautin DG & Mariscal RN. 1991. Cnidaria: Anthozoa. In: Harrison FW, Westfall JA, editors. Microscopic Anatomy of Invertebrates Volume 2: Placozoa, Porifera, Cnidaria, and Ctenophora. New York: Wiley-Liss Inc. p 267-358.
- Fenner D. 2005. Corals of Hawai'i. Honolulu, Hawai'i: Mutual Publising. 144 p.
- Fletcher CH, Bochicchio C, Conger CL, Engels MS, Feirstein EJ, Frazer N, Glenn CR, Grigg RW, Grossman EE, Harney JN, Isoun E, Murray-Wallace CV, Rooney JJ, Rubin KH, C.E. S & Vitousek S. 2008. Geology of Hawaii Reefs. In: Riegl BM, Dodge RE, editors. Coral Reefs of the USA. Heidelberg: Springer. p 435-488.
- Fransen CHJM & Wirtz P. 1997. Contributions to the knowledge of decapod crustaceans from Madeira and the Canary Islands. Zoologische Mededelingen Leiden 71(19):215-230.
- Fraser SB & Sedberry GR. 2008. Reef morphology and invertebrate distribution at continental shelf edge reefs in the South Atlantic Bight. Southeastern Naturalist 7(2):191-206.
- Gage JD. 1962. Two black coral stories from Maui but with vastly different sequels. Hawaiian Shell News 9(1):1 & 6.
- Gaino E, Bo M, Boyer M & Scoccia F. 2008. Sperm morphology in the black coral *Cirrhipathes* sp. (Anthozoa, Antipatharia). Invertebrate Biology 127(3):249-258.
- Gaino E & Scoccia F. 2008. Female gametes of the black coral *Cirrhipathes* cfr. *anguina* (Anthozoa, Antipatharia) from the Indonesia Marine Park of Bunaken. Invertebrate Reproduction and Development 51(3):119-126.

- Gaino E & Scoccia F. 2009. Release of sperm clusters in spheres by the black coral *Cupressopathes pumila* (Anthozoa, Antipatharia). Coral Reefs 28(4):851-857.
- Gaino E & Scoccia F. 2010. Gamete spawning in *Antipathella subpinnata* (Anthozoa, Antipatharia): a structural and ultrastructural investigation. Zoomorphology 129(4):213-219.
- Genin A, Dayton PK, Lonsdale PF & Spiess FN. 1986. Corals on seamount peaks provide evidence of current acceleration over deep-sea topography. Nature 322:59-61.
- Glasby CJ. 1994. A new genus and species of polychaete, Bollandia antipathicola (Nereidoidea: Syllidae), from black coral. Proceedings of the Biological Society of Washington 107(4):615-621.
- Glynn PW. 1980. Defense by symbiotic crustacea of host corals elicited by chemical cues from pedator. Oecologia 47(3):287-290.
- Glynn PW, Gassman NJ, Eakin CM, Cortes J, Smith DB & Guzman HM. 1991. Reef coral reproduction in the eastern Pacific: Costa Rica, Panama, and Galapagos Islands (Ecuador). I. Pocilloporidae. Marine Biology 109:355-368.
- Goenaga C. 1977. Two new species of *Stichopathes* (Zoantharia; Antipatharia) with observations on aspects of their biology. Thesis in Marine Sciences University of Puerto Rico, Puerto Rico:101pp.
- Goldberg WM. 1976. Comparative study of the chemistry and structure of gorgonian and antipatharian coral skeletons. Marine Biology 35:253-267.
- Goldberg WM. 1978. Chemical changes accompanying maturation of the connective tissue of gorgonin and antipatharian corals. Marine Biology 49:203-210.
- Goldberg WM. 1991. Chemistry and structure of skeletal growth rings in the black coral *Antipathes fiordensis* (Cnidaria, Antipatharia). Hydrobiologia 216/217:403-409.
- Goldberg WM, Grange KR, Taylor GT & Zuniga AL. 1990. The structure of sweeper tentacles in the black coral *Antipathes fiordensis*. Biological Bulletin 179:96-104.
- Goldberg WM, Hopkins TL, Holl SM, Schaefer J, Kramer KJ, Morgan TD & Kim K. 1994. Chemical composition of the sclerotized black coral skeleton (Coelenterata: Antipatharia): a comparison of two species. Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology 107B(4):633-643.
- Goldberg WM & Taylor GT. 1989a. Cellular structure and ultrastructure of the black coral *Antipathes aperta*: 1. Organization of the tentacular epidermis and nervous system. Journal of Morphology 202:239-253.

- Goldberg WM & Taylor GT. 1989b. Cellular structure and ultrastructure of the black coral *Antipathes aperta*: 2. The gastrodermis and its collar cells. Journal of Morphology 202:255-269.
- Gonzalez E, Guitart B & Garcia M. 1997. Sown black coral in the Cuban southwest. Proceedings of the 5th Congress on Marine Science:73.
- Gonzalez JA, Quiles JA & Santana JI. 2000. The Family Calappidae (Decapoda, Brachyura) around the Canary Islands. Crustaceana 73(8):1007-1014.
- Goreau TF & Goreau NI. 1973. The ecology of Jamaican coral reefs. II. Geomorphology, zonation, and sedimentary phases. Bulletin of Marine Science 23(2):399-464.
- Grange KR. 1985. Distribution, standing crop, population structure, and growth rates of black coral in the southern fiords of New Zealand. New Zealand Journal of Marine and Freshwater Research 19:467-475.
- Grange KR. 1988. Redescription of *Antipathes aperta*, Totton, (Coelenterata: Antipatharia), an ecological dominant in the southern fiords of New Zealand. New Zealand Journal of Zoology 15:55-61.
- Grange KR. 1990. *Antipathes fiordensis*, a new species of black coral (Coelenterata: Antipatharia) from New Zealand. New Zealand Journal of Zoology 17:279-282.
- Grange KR. 1991. Mutualism between the antipatharian *Antipathes fiordensis* and the ophiuroid *Astrobrachion constrictum* in New Zealand fjords. Hydrobiologia 216/217:297-303.
- Grange KR & Goldberg WM. 1993. Chronology of black coral growth bands: 300 years of environmental history? Proceedings of the Second International Temperate Reef Symposium:169-174.
- Grange KR & Singleton RJ. 1988. Population structure of black corals, *Antipathes aperta*, in the southern fiords of New Zealand. New Zealand Journal of Zoology 15:481-489.
- Grasshoff M. 1981a. Die Gorgonaria, Pennatularia und Antipatharia des Tiefwassers der Biskaya (Cnidaria, Anthozoa). Ergebnisse der französichen Expedition Biogas, Polygas, Geomanche, Incal, Noratlante und Fahrten der "Thalassa". I. Allgemeiner Teil. Bulletin du Museum d'Histoire Naturelle, Paris S.4. T.3. Section A(3):731-766.
- Grasshoff M. 1981b. Die Gorgonaria, Pennatularia und Antipatharia des Tiefwassers der Biskaya (Cnidaria, Anthozoa). Ergebnisse der französichen Expedition Biogas, Polygas, Geomanche, Incal, Noratlante und Fahrten der "Thalassa". II.

Taxonomischer Teil. Bulletin du Museum d'Histoire Naturelle, Paris S.4. T.3. Section A(4):941-978.

- Grasshoff M. 1985. Die Gorgonaria und Antipatharia der Großen Meteor-Bank und der Josephine-Bank (Cnidaria: Anthozoa). Seckenbergiana maritima 17(1/3):65-87.
- Grasshoff M. 1989. Die Meerenge von Gibraltar als Faunen-Barriere: Die Gorgonaria, Pennatularia und Antipatharia der BALGIM-Expedition (Cnidaria: Anthozoa). Seckenbergiana maritima 20(5/6):201-223.
- Gray JE. 1857. Synopsis of the families and genera of axiferous zoophytes or barked corals. Proceedings of the Zoological Society of London 25:278-294.
- Green EP & Hendry H. 1999. Is CITES an effective tool for monitoring trade in corals? Coral Reefs 18:403-407.
- Greenfield DW & Randall JE. 2004. The marine gobies of the Hawaiian Islands. Proceedings of the California Academy of Sciences 55(27):498-549.
- Grigg RW. 1964. A contribution to the biology and ecology of the black coral, *Antipathes grandis* in Hawai'i. MS Thesis in Zoology, University of Hawai'i, Honolulu:74pp.
- Grigg RW. 1965. Ecological studies of black coral in Hawai'i. Pacific Science 19:244-260.
- Grigg RW. 1972. Orientation and growth form of sea fans. Limnology and Oceanography 17(2):185-192.
- Grigg RW. 1974. Distribution and abundance of precious corals. Proceedings of the Second International Coral Reef Symposium 2:235-240.
- Grigg RW. 1975. The commercial potential of precious corals in the western Caroline Islands, Micronesia. Sea Grant Technical Report. UNIHI-SEAGRANT-AR-75-03. 16 p.
- Grigg RW. 1976. Fishery management of precious and stony corals in Hawai'i. Sea Grant Technical Report. UNIHI-SEAGRANT-TR-77-03. 48 p.
- Grigg RW. 1984. Resource management of precious corals: a review and application to shallow water reef building corals. Marine Ecology 5(1):57-74.
- Grigg RW. 1988a. Paleoceanography of coral reefs in the Hawaiian-Emperor Chain. Science 240(4860):1737-1743.
- Grigg RW. 1988b. Recruitment limitation of a deep benthic hard-bottom octocoral population in the Hawaiian Islands. Marine Ecology Progress Series 45:121-126.
- Grigg RW. 1993. Precious coral fisheries of Hawai'i and the U.S. Pacific Islands. Marine Fisheries Review 55(2):50-60.
- Grigg RW. 1997. Paleoceanography of coral reefs in the Hawaiian-Emperor Chain revisited. Coral Reefs 16, Suppl.:S33-S38.
- Grigg RW. 2001. Black coral: history of a sustainable fishery in Hawai'i. Pacific Science 55(3):291-299.
- Grigg RW. 2002. Precious corals in Hawai'i: discovery of a new bed and revised management measures for existing beds. Marine Fisheries Review 64(1):13-20.
- Grigg RW. 2003. Invasion of a deep coral bed by an alien species, *Carijoa riisei*, off Maui, Hawai'i. Coral Reefs 22:121-122.
- Grigg RW. 2004. Harvesting impacts and invasion by an alien species decrease estimates on black coral yield off Maui, Hawai'i. Pacific Science 1:1-6.
- Grigg RW. 2010. The precious corals fishery management plan of the Western Pacific Regional Fishery Management Council. Pacific Islands Fishery Monographs 1:1-9.
- Grigg RW, Grossman EE, Earle SA, Gittings SR, Lott D & McDonough J. 2002. Drowned reefs and antecedent karst topography, Au'au Channel, S.E. Hawaiian Islands. Coral Reefs 21:73-82.
- Grigg RW & Opresko DM. 1977. Order Antipatharia, black corals. In: Devaney DM, Eldredge LG, editors. Reef and Shore Fauna of Hawaii Section 1: Protozoa through Ctenophora. Honolulu: Bishop Museum Press. p 242-261.
- Grigg RW, Polovina JJ, Friedlaner AM & Rohmann SO. 2008. Biology of coral reefs in the Northwestern Hawaiian Islands. In: Riegl BM, Dodge RE, editors. Coral Reefs of the USA. Heidelberg: Springer. p 573-594.
- Grygier MJ. 1983. Revision of the *Synagoga* (Crustacea: Maxillopoda: Ascothoracida). Journal of Natural History 17:213-239.
- Guerriero A, D'Ambrosio M & Pietra F. 1988. Leiopathic acid, a novel optically active hydroxydocosapentaenoic acid, and related compounds, from the black coral *Leiopathes* sp. of Saint Paul Island (S. Indian Ocean). Helvetica Chimica Acta 71:1094-1100.

Harriott VJ. 2003. Can corals be harvested sustainably? Ambio 32(2):130-133.

- Harrison PL. 2011. Sexual reproduction of scleractinian corals. In: Dubinsky Z, Stambler N, editors. Coral reefs: an ecosystem in transition. Dordrecht, Heidelberg, London, New York: Springer. p 59-85.
- Harrison PL & Jamieson BG. 1999. Cnidaria and Ctenophora. In K G Adiyodi & RG Adiyodi (eds), Reproductive Biology of Invertebrates Volume IX, Part A: Progress in Male Gamete Ultrastructure and Phylogeny Wiley-Intersience, Chichester:21-95.
- Harrison PL & Wallace CC. 1990. Reproduction, dispersal and recruitment of scleractinian corals. In: Coral Reefs (Vol. 25). Ecosystems of the world. Dubinsky Z, editor. Amsterdam, Oxford, New York, Tokyo: Elsevier. 133-207 p.
- Häussermann V & Försterra G. 2007. Large assemblages of cold-water corals in Chile: a summary of recent findings and potential impacts. In: George RY, Cairns SD, editors. Conservation and adaptive management of seamount and deep-sea coral ecosystems. Miami, FL: Rosenstiel School of Marine and Atmospheric Science, University of Miami. p 195-207.
- Hayashi K-I. 1975. *Anachlorocurtis commensalis* gen. nov., sp. nov. (Crustacea, Decapoda, Pandalidae), a New Pandalid Shrimp Associated with Antipatharian Corals from Central Japan. Annotationes Zoologicae Japonenses 48(3):172-182.
- Heard R, W. 1986. Pontoniine Shrimps (Decapoda: Caridea: Palaemonidae) of the Northwest Atlantic. I. The Genus *Neopontonides* Holthuis, 1951, with the description of *N. chacei*, new species, and the erection of *Pseudopontonides*, new genus, to receive *N. principis* Criales, 1980. Journal of Crustacean Biology 6(3):471-484.
- Heard R, W., Spotte S & Bubucis PM. 1993. Pontoniine Shrimps (Decapoda: Caridea: Palaemonidae) of the Northwest Atlantic. III. *Neopericlimensis thornei*, new genus, new species, from Pine Cay, Turks and Caicos Islands, British West Indies. Journal of Crustacean Biology 13(4):793-800.
- Heifetz J. 2002. Coral in Alaska: distribution, abundance, and species associations. Hydrobiologia 471:19-28.
- Heifetz J, Wing BL, Stone RP, Malecha PW & Courtney DL. 2005. Corals of the Aleutian Islands. Fisheries Oceanography 14(Suppl. 1):131-138.
- Henry L-A, Nizinski MS & Ross SW. 2008. Occurrence and biogeography of hydroids (Cnidaria: Hydrozoa) from deep-water coral habitats off the southeastern United States. Deep-Sea Research I 55:788-800.

- Herler J. 2007. Microhabitats and ecomorphology of coral- and coral rock-associated gobiid fish (Teleostei: Gobiidae) in the northern Red Sea. Marine Ecology 28(Suppl. 1):82-94.
- Hickson SJ. 1907. The Alcyonaria, Antipatharia, and Madreporaria collected by the "Huxley" from the North Side of the Bay of Biscay in August, 1906. Journal of the Marine Biolical Association of the United Kingdom 8:6-14.
- Hinderstein LM, Marr JCA, Martinez FA, Dowgiallo ML, Puglise KA, Pyle RL, Zawada DG & Appeldoorn R. 2010. Theme section "mesophotic coral ecosystems: characterization, ecology, and management". Coral Reefs 29(2):247-251.
- Hobson KA, Piatt JF & Pitocchelli J. 1994. Using stable isotopes to determine seabird trophic relationships. Journal of Animal Ecology 63:786-798.
- Holl SM, Schaefer J, Goldberg WM, Kramer KJM, Thomas D. & Hopkins TL. 1992. Comparison of black coral skeleton and insect cuticle by a combination of carbon-13 NMR and chemical analyses. Archives of Biochemistry and Biophysics 292(1):107-111.
- Hoover JP. 2006. Hawai'i's sea creatures a guide to Hawai'i's marine invertebrates (revised edition). Honolulu, Hawai'i: Mutual Publishing.
- Huang M-H & Ou C-H. 2010. Precious coral fisheries management in Taiwan Past, present & future. Marine Policy 34:1002-1009.
- Humann P. 1983. Ocean realm guide to corals of Florida, Bahamas and the Caribbean. Miami, FL: Ocean Realm Publishing Corporation. 80 p.
- Humes AG. 1967. *Wahinius petax* n. gen., n. sp., a cyclopoid copepod parasitic in an antipatharian coelenterate in Madagascar. Crustaceana 12(3):233-242.
- Humes AG. 1969. Cyclopod copepods associated with antipatharian coelenterates in Madagascar. Zoologische Mededelingen 44(1):1-30.
- Humes AG. 1979. Poecilostome copepods associated with antipatharian coelenterates in the Moluccas. Beaufortia 28(347):113-120.
- Humes AG. 1990. Sabelliphilid copepods (Poecilostomatoida) associated with cnidarians in the Philippines. Bulletin of Marine Science 47(3):581-597.
- Humes AG. 1992. Copepoda associated with the thorny coral *Antipathes* (Antipatharia) in the Indo-Pacific. Journal of Natural History 26:709-744.

- Humes AG & Goenaga C. 1978. *Calonastes imparipes*, new genus, new species (Copepoda, Cyclopoida), associated with the antipatharian coral genus *Stichopathes* in Puerto Rico. Bulletin of Marine Science 28(1):189-197.
- Humes AG & Stock JH. 1973. A revision of the family Lichomolgidae Kossmann, 1877, cyclopoid copepods mainly associated with marine invertebrates. Smithsonian Contributions to Zoology 127:1-380.
- Hyman LH. 1940. Order Antipatharia, the black or thorny corals. New York and London: McGraw-Hill Book Company. 625-628 p.
- Johnson JY. 1899. Notes on the antipatharian corals of Madeira, with descriptions of a new species and a new variety, and remarks on a specimen from the West Indies in the British Museum. Proceedings of the Zoological Society of London 53:813-824.
- Jones DS. 2003. The biogeography of Western Australian shallow-water barnacles. In: Wells FE, Walker DI, Jones DS, editors. The Marine Flora and Fauna of Dampier, Western Australia. Perth: Western Australian Museum. p 479-496.
- Jones DS, Hewitt MA & Sampey A. 2000. A checklist of the Cirripedia of the south China Sea. The Raffles Bulletin of Zoology 8(Supplement):233-307.
- Juarez-de la Rosa BA, Ardisson PL, Azamar-Barrios JA, Quintana P & Alvarado-Gil JJ. 2007. Optical, thermal, and structural characterization of the sclerotized skeleton of two antipatharian coral species. Materials Science and Engineering C 27:880-885.
- Kaaiakamanu DM & Akina JK. 1922. Hawaiian herbs of medicinal value found among the mountains and elsewhere in the Hawaiian Islands, and known to the Hawaiians to possess curative and palliative properties most effective in removing physical ailments. Translated by A. Akana. Honolulu: Honolulu Star-Bulletin. 74 p.
- Kahng SE, Benayahu Y, Wagner D & Rothe N. 2008. Sexual reproduction in the invasive octocoral *Carijoa riisei* in Hawaii. Bulletin of Marine Science 82(1):1-17.
- Kahng SE, Garcia-Sais JR, Spalding HL, Brokovich E, Wagner D, Weil E, Hinderstein L & Toonen RJ. 2010. Community ecology of mesophotic coral reef ecosystems. Coral Reefs 29(2):255-275.
- Kahng SE & Grigg RW. 2005. Impact of an alien octocoral, *Carijoa riisei*, on black corals in Hawai'i. Coral Reefs 24:556-562.

- Kahng SE & Kelley CD. 2007. Vertical zonation of megabenthic taxa on a deep photosynthetic reef (50-140 m) in the Au'au Channel, Hawaii. Coral Reefs 26(3):679-687.
- Kenyon J. 1984. Black coral off Cozumel. Sea Frontiers 30(8):267-272.
- Kerstitch A. 1989. Sea of Cortez marine invertebrates a guide for the Pacific Coast, Mexico to Ecuador. Hashagen K, editor. Monterrey, CA: Sea Challengers. 120 p.
- Kim IH & Je JG. 2000. Two New Species of Asterocheridae (Copepoda, Siphonostomatoida) from Korea. Korean Journal of Biological Science 4:304-314.
- Kim K, Goldberg WM & Taylor GT. 1992. Architectural and mechanical properties of the black coral skeleton (Coelenterata: Antipatharia): a comparison of two species. Biological Bulletin 182:195-209.
- Kirkendale L & Messing CG. 2003. An annotated checklist and key to the Crinoidea of Guam and the Commonwealth of the Northern Marianas Islands. Micronesica 35-36:523-546.
- Kling GW, Fry B & O'Brien WJ. 1992. Stable isotopes and planktonic trophic structure in arctic lakes. Ecology 73(2):561-566.
- Knowlton N & Rowder F. 2003. Multispecies Microbial Mutualisms on Coral Reefs: The Host as a Habitat. The American Naturalist 162(4):S51-S62.
- Koslow JA, Gowlett-Holmes K, Lowry JK, O'Hara T, Poore GCB & Williams A. 2001. Seamount benthic macrofauna off southern Tasmania: community structure and impacts of trawling. Marine Ecology Progress Series 213:111-125.
- Kregting LT & Gibbs MT. 2006. Salinity controls the upper depth limit of black corals in Doubtful Sound, New Zealand. New Zealand Journal of Marine and Freshwater Research 40:43-52.
- Kuehlmann DHH. 1983. Composition and ecology of deep-water coral associations. Helgolaender Meeresuntersuchungen 36:183-204.
- Lam K & Morton B. 2008. Soft corals, sea fans, gorgonians (Octocorallia: Alcyonacea) and black and wire corals (Ceriantipatharia: Antipatharia) from submarine caves in Hong Kong with a checklist of local species and a description of a new species of *Paraminabea*. Journal of Natural History 42(9-12):749-780.
- Lapian HFN, Barucca M, Bavestrello G, Biscotti MA, Bo M, Canapa A, Tazioli S & Olmo E. 2007. A systematic study of some Black Corals species (Antipatharia,

Hexacorallia) based on rDNA internal transcribed spacers sequences. Marine Biology 151:785-792.

- Le Guilloux E, Hall-Spencer JM, Söffker MK & Olu K. 2010. Association between the squat lobster *Gastroptychus formosus* and the cold-water corals in the North Atlantic. Journal of the Marine Biological Association of the United Kingdom 90(7):1363-1369.
- Levitan DR. 1991. Influence of body size and population density on fertilization success and reproductive output in a free-spawning invertebrate. Biological Bulletin 181:371-378.
- Levitan DR, Sewell MA & Chia FS. 1991. Kinetics of fertilization in the sea urchin *Strongylocentrotus franciscanus*: interaction of gamete dilution, age and contact time. Biological Bulletin 181:371-378.
- Levitan DR, Sewell MA & Chia FS. 1992. How distribution and abundance influence fertilization success in the sea urchin *Strongylocentrotus franciscanus*. Ecology 73:248-254.
- Lewis JB. 1978. Feeding mechanisms in black corals (Antipatharia). Journal of Zoology 186:393-396.
- Linnaeus C. 1758. Systema naturae per regna tria naturae, secundum classes, ordines, genera, species, cum characteribus, differentiis, synonymis, locis. Tomus I. Editio decima, reformata. Holmiae: Laurentii Salvii. 824 p.
- Loiola LL & Castro CB. 2005. *Tanacetipathes* Opresko, 2001 (Cnidaria: Antipatharia: Myriopathidae) from Brazil, including two new species. Zootaxa 1081:1-31.
- Lopez-Gonzalez PJ & Cunha MR. 2010. Two new species of *Dendrobrachia* Brook, 1889 (Cnidaria: Octocorallia: Dendrobrachiidae) from the north-eastern Atlantic and western Mediterranean. Scientia Marina 74(3):423-434.
- Love MS, Yoklavich MM, Black BA & Andrews AH. 2007. Age of black coral (*Antipathes dendrochristos*) colonies, with notes on associated invertebrate species Bulletin of Marine Science 80(2):391-400.
- Lütken CF. 1872. *Antipathes arctica*, a new species of black coral (Antipathidae) from polar seas. Annals and Magazine of Natural History (Series 4) 10:77-83.
- Maldonado A. Cuba's environment: today and tomorrow an action plan; 2003; Coral Gables, Florida. p 63-73.
- Maragos JE, Potts DC, Aeby G, Gulko D, Kenyon J, Siciliano D & VanRavenswaay D. 2004. 2000–2002 rapid ecological assessment of corals (Anthozoa) on shallow

reefs of the Northwestern Hawaiian Islands. Part 1: species and distribution. Pacific Science 58(2):211-230.

- Mariani-Costantini R, Catalano P, di Gennaro F, di Tota G & Angeletti LR. 2000. New light on cranial surgery in ancient Rome. Lancet 355:305-307.
- Marin I. 2006. Description of *Crinotonia anastasiae*, new genus, new species, anew crinoid associated pontoniine shrimp (Crustacea: Caridea) from Nha Trang Bay, with inclusion of *Periclimenes attenuatus* Bruce, 1971, in the new genus. The Raffles Bulletin of Zoology 54(2):321-340.
- Marsilli LF. 1725. Histoire physique de la mer: ouvrage enrichi de figures dessinees d'apres le naturel. Amsterdam. 173 p.
- Martin D & Britayev TA. 1998. Symbiotic polychaetes review of known species. Oceanography and Marine Biology: an Annual Review 36:217-340.
- Mastrototaro F, D'Onghia G, Corriero G, Matarrese A, Maiorano P, Panetta P, Gherardi M, Longo C, Rosso A, Sciuto F, Sanfilippo R, Gravili C, Boero F, Taviani M & Tursi A. 2010. Biodiversity of the white coral bank off Cape Santa Maria di Leuca (Mediterranean Sea): an update. Deep-Sea Research II 57:412-430.
- McClintock JB & Watts SA. 1990. The effects of photoperiod on gametogenesis in the tropical sea urchin *Eucidaris tribuloides* (Lamarck) (Echinodermata: Echinoidea). Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology 139:175-184.
- Menza C, Kendall M & Hile S. 2008. The deeper we go the less we know. Revista de Biologia Tropical 56:11-24.
- Miller K. 1996. Piecing together the reproductive habits of New Zealand's endemic black corals. Water & Atmosphere 4(2):18-19.
- Miller K & Grange KR. 1995. Population genetic studies of antipatharian black corals from Doubtful and Nancy Sounds, Fiordland, New Zealand. Proceedings of the 6th International Conference on Coelenterate Biology:353-363.
- Miller KJ. 1997. Genetic structure of black coral populations in New Zealand's fiords. Marine Ecology Progress Series 161:123-132.
- Miller KJ. 1998. Short-distance dispersal of black coral larvae: inference from spatial analysis of colony genotypes. Marine Ecology Progress Series 163:225-233.
- Milne Edwards H & Haime J. 1857. Histoire naturelle des coralliaires ou polypes proprement dits. Vol. 1. Paris: Libraire Encyclopedique de Roret. 326 p.

- Moffitt RB, Parrish FA & Polovina JJ. 1989. Community structure, biomass and productivity of deepwater artificial reefs in Hawaii. Bulletin of Marine Science 44(2):616-630.
- Molodtsova TN. 2005. A new species of Saropathes (Cnidaria, Anthozoa, Antipatharia) from the Norfolk Ridge (south-west Pacific, New Caledonia). Zoosystema 27(4):699-707.
- Molodtsova TN. 2006. New species of *Hexapathes* Kinoshita, 1910 (Anthozoa, Antipatharia, Cladopathidae) from the South-West Pacific. Zoosystema 28(3):597-606.
- Molodtsova TN & Budaeva N. 2007. Modifications of corallum mophology in black corals as an effect of associated fauna. Bulletin of Marine Science 81(3):469-479.
- Molodtsova TN & Pasternak FA. 2005. Redescription of *Parantipathes euantha* (Pasternak, 1958) (Anthozoa: Antipatharia) from Kurile-Kamchatka Trench. Invertebrate Zoology 2(2):169-179.
- Molodtsova TN, Sanamyan NP & Keller NB. 2008. Anthozoa from the northern Mid-Atlantic Ridge and Charlie-Gibbs fracture zone. Marine Biology Research 4:112-130.
- Monteiro J, Almeida C, Freitas R, Delgado A, Porteiro F & Santos RS. 2008. Coral assemblages of Cabo Verde: preliminary assessment and description. Proceedings of the 11th International Coral Reef Symposium:1416-1419.
- Montgomery A. 2006. Black coral growth. pp. 26. In: 2006 black coral science and management workshop report Honolulu, HI: Western Pacific Regional Fishery Management Council. 46 p.
- Montgomery AD. 2002. The feasibility of transplanting black coral (Order Antipatharia). Hydrobiologia 471:157-164.
- Montgomery AD & Crow GL. 1998. Collection and husbrandry techniques for black coral at the Waikiki Aquarium. American Zoo and Aquarium Association Regional Conference Proceedings:103-108.
- Moon HW & Song JI. 2005. Three new records of Antipatharia (Anthozoa: Ceriantipatharia) from Korea. The Korean Journal of Systematic Zoology 21(2):259-272.
- Moon HW & Song JI. 2008a. Taxonomy of the black coral family Antipathidae (Anthozoa: Antipatharia) from Korea. Korean Journal of Systematic Zoology 24(2):209-214.

- Moon HW & Song JI. 2008b. Taxonomy of the black coral family Myriopathidae (Anthozoa: Antipatharia) from Korea. Korean Journal of Systematic Zoology 24(3):251-263.
- Morgan LE. 2005. What are deep-sea corals? The Journal of Marine Education 21(4):2-4.
- Morse DE, Kayne M, Tidyman M & Anderson S. 1978. Capacity for biosynthesis of prostaglandin-related compounds: distribution and properties of the rate-limiting enzyme in hydrocorals, gorgonians, and other coelenterates of the Caribbean and Pacific. Biological Bulletin 154:440-452.
- Mortensen PB, Buhl-Mortensen L, Gebruk AV & Krylova EM. 2007. Occurrence of deep-water corals on the Mid-Atlantic Ridge based on MAR-ECO data. Deep-Sea Research II 55:142-152.
- Murillo FJ, Duran Muñoz P, Altuna A & Serrano A. 2010. Distribution of deep-water corals of the Flemish Cap, Flemish Pass, and the Grand Banks of Newfoundland (Northwest Atlantic Ocean): interaction with fishing activities. ICES Journal of Marine Science 68(2):319-332.
- Nagata KM. 1971. Hawaiian medicinal plants. Economic Botany 25(3):245-254.
- Neudecker S & Lobel PS. 1982. Mating systems of chactodontid and pomacanthid fishes at St. Croix. Zeitschrift für Tierpsychologie 59:299-318.
- Newman WA. 1972. An Oxynaspid (Cirripedia, Thoracica) from the eastern Pacific. Crustaceana 23(2):202-208.
- Noome C & Kristensen I. 1976. Necessity of conservation of slow growing organisms like black coral. CCA Ecology Conference Bonaire 11:76-77.
- Nowak D, Florek M, Nowak J, Kwiatek W, Lekki J, Chevallier P, Hacura A, Wrzalik R, Ben-Nissan B, Van Grieken R & Kuczumow A. 2009. Morphology and the chemical make-up of the inorganic components of black corals. Materials Science and Engineering C 29(3):1029-1038.
- Nowak D, Florek M, Nowak J, Kwiatek W, Lekki J, Zieba E, Romero PG, Ben-Nissan B & Kuczumow A. 2005. Micro-spectrometric investigations of inorganic components of the black corals for biomedical applications. Key Engineering Materials 284-286:297-399.
- Oakley SG. 1988. Settlement and growth of *Antipathes pennacea* on a shipwreck. Coral Reefs 7:77-79.

- Ocaña O, Opresko DM & Brito A. 2006. First record of the black coral *Antipathella wollastoni* (Anthozoa: Antipatharia) outside of Macaronesian waters. Revista de la Academia Canaria de Ciencias 18(4):125-138.
- Oishi FG. 1990. Black coral havesting and marketing activities in Hawaii 1990. Division of Aquatic Resources, State of Hawaii. 1-9 p.
- Okamura SI & Habe T. 1976. The strange habit of *Rhizochilus teramachii* Kuroda. Venus 35(2):91-92.
- Okiyama M & Tsukamoto Y. 1989. Sea whip goby, *Bryaninops yongei*, collected from outer shelf off Miyakojima, East China Sea. Japanese Journal of Ichthyology 36(3):369-370.
- Okuno J. 1998. *Miopontonia yongei* Bruce, 1985 (Decapoda, Caridea, Palaemonidae): new host record and colour pattern. Crustaceana 71(3):349-353.
- Oliver JK & Babcock RC. 1992. Aspects of the fertilization ecology ofbroadcast spawning corals: sperm dilution effects and *in situ* measurements of fertilization. Biological Bulletin 183:409-417.
- Olsen DA & Wood RS. 1980. Investigations on black coral in Salt River Submarine Canyon St. Croix, U.S. Virgin Islands. FINAL SCIENTIFIC REPORT 80-12. Division of Fish and Wildlife U.S. Virgin Islands NULS-I Mission 79-5 and 80-12. 25pp. p.
- Opresko DM. 1972. Redescriptions and reevaluations of the antipatharians described by L.F. de Pourtales. Bulletin of Marine Science 22(4):950-1017.
- Opresko DM. 1976. Redescription of *Antipathes panamensis* Verrill (Coelenterata, Antipatharia). Pacific Science 30(3):235-240.
- Opresko DM. 1997. Review of the genus *Schizopathes* (Cnidaria: Antipatharia: Schizopathidae) with a description of a new species from the Indian Ocean. Proceedings of the Biological Society of Washington 110(2):157-166.
- Opresko DM. 1998. Three new species of *Leiopathes* (Cnidaria: Anthozoa: Antipatharia) from southern Australia. Records of the South Australian Museum 31(1):99-111.
- Opresko DM. 2001. Revision of the Antipatharia (Cnidaria: Anthozoa). Part I. Establishment of a new family, Myriopathidae. Zoologische Mededelingen Leiden 75(17):343-370.
- Opresko DM. 2002. Revision of the Antipatharia (Cnidaria: Anthozoa). Part II. Schizopathidae. Zoologische Mededelingen Leiden 76(22):411-442.

- Opresko DM. 2003a. Redescription of *Antipathes dichotoma* Pallas, 1766 (Cnidaria: Anthozoa: Antipatharia). Zoologische Mededelingen, Leiden 77:481-493.
- Opresko DM. 2003b. Revision of the Antipatharia (Cnidaria: Anthozoa). Part III. Cladopathidae. Zoologische Mededelingen Leiden 77(31):495-536.
- Opresko DM. 2004. Revision of the Antipatharia (Cnidaria: Anthozoa). Part IV. Establishment of a new family, Aphanipathidae. Zoologische Mededelingen Leiden 78(11):209-240.
- Opresko DM. 2005a. New genera and species of antipatharian corals (Cnidaria: Anthozoa) from the North Pacific. Zoologische Mededelingen Leiden 79-2(7):129-165.
- Opresko DM. 2005b. A new species of antipatharian coral (Cnidaria: Anthozoa: Antipatharia) from the southern California Bight. Zootaxa 852:1-10.
- Opresko DM. 2006. Revision of the Antipatharia (Cnidaria: Anthozoa). Part V. Establishment of a new family, Stylopathidae. Zoologische Mededelingen Leiden 80-4(11):109-138.
- Opresko DM. 2009a. Antipatharia (Cnidaria) of the Gulf of Mexico. In: Tunnell Jr. JW, Felder DL, Earle SA, editors. Gulf of Mexico origin, waters, and biota Vol 1, Biodiversity. Corpus Christi, TX: Texas A&M University Press. p 359-363.
- Opresko DM. 2009b. A new name for the Hawaiian antipatharian coral formerly known as *Antipathes dichotoma* (Cnidaria: Anthozoa: Antipatharia). Pacific Science 63(2):277-291.
- Opresko DM & Baron-Szabo RC. 2001. Re-descriptions of the antipatharian corals described by E. J. C. Esper with selected English translations of the original German text (Cnidaria, Anthozoa, Antipatharia). Seckenbergiana biologica 81(1/2):1-21.
- Opresko DM & Bayer FM. 1991. Rediscovery of the enigmatic coelenterate *Dendrobranchia* (Octocorallia: Gorgonacea) with descriptions of two new species. Transactions of the Royal Society of South Australia 115(1):1-19.
- Opresko DM & Cairns SD. 1994. Description of the new genus *Allopathes* (Cnidaria: Antipatharia) and its type species *Cirripathes desbonni*. Proceedings of the Biological Society of Washington 107(1):185-192.
- Opresko DM & Genin A. 1990. A new species of antipatharian (Cnidaria: Anthozoa) from seamounts in the eastern North Pacific. Bulletin of Marine Science 46(2):301-310.

- Opresko DM & Sanchez JA. 1997. A new species of antipatharian coral (Cnidaria: Anthozoa) from the Caribbean coast of Colombia. Caribbean Journal of Science 33(1-2):75-81.
- Opresko DM & Sanchez JA. 2005. Caribbean shallow-water black corals (Cnidaria: Anthozoa: Antipatharia). Caribbean Journal of Science 41(3):492-507.
- Osawa M. 2007. A new species of *Chirostylus* Ortmann, 1892 (Crustacea: Decapoda: Anomura: Chirostylidae) from the Ryukyu Islands, southwestern Japan, with a supplemental description of *Chirostylus ortmanni* Miyake & Baba, 1968. Zootaxa 1450:31-43.
- Padilla C & Lara M. 2003. Banco Chinchorro: the last shelter for black coral in the Mexican Caribbean. Bulletin of Marine Science 73(1):197-202.
- Pallas PS. 1766. Elenchus zoophytorum sistens generum adumbrationes generaliores et specierum cognitarum succinctas descriptiones cum selectis auctorum synonymis. Frankfurt am Main: Hagae-Comitum. 451 p.
- Park SH, Kwon KK, Lee D-S & Lee HK. 2002. Morphological diversity of marine microorganisms on different isolation media. The Journal of Microbiology 40(2):161-165.
- Parker NR, Mladenov PV & Grange KR. 1997. Reproductive biology of the antipatharian black coral *Antipathes fiordensis* in Doubtful Sound, Fiordland, New Zealand. Marine Biology 130:11-22.
- Parrish FA. 2006. Precious corals and subphotic fish assemblages. Atoll Research Bulletin 543:425-438.
- Parrish FA, Abernatry K, Marshall GA & Buhleier BM. 2002. Hawaiian Monk Seals (*Monachus schauinslandi*) foraging in deep-water coral beds. Marine Mammal Science 18(1):244-258.
- Parrish FA & Baco AR. 2007. State of deep coral ecosystems: in the U.S. Pacific Islands region: Hawaii and the U.S. Pacific territories. pp. 159-194. In: Lumsden SE, Hourigan TF, Bruckner AW, Dorr G, editors. The state of deep coral ecosystems in the United States. Silver Spring, MD: NOAA Technical Memorandum CRCP -3. p 365.
- Pasternak FA. 1977. Antipatharia. Galathea Report Scientific Reports of the Danish Deep-Sea Expedition round the World 1950-1952 Vol. 14:157-164.
- Paulay G, Puglisi MP & Starmer JA. 2003. The non-scleractinian Anthozoa (Cnidaria) of the Mariana Islands. Micronesica 35-36:138-155.

- Pax F. 1914. Beiträge zur Histologie des Antipatharienkörpers. Zoologische Jahrbücher Abteilung für Anatomie und Ontogenie der Thiere 38:585-592.
- Pax F. 1918. Die Antipatharien. Zoologische Jahrbücher Abteilung für Systematik, Ökologie und Geographie der Thiere 41:419-479.
- Pax F. 1932. Beitrag zur Kenntnis der japanischen Dörnchenkorallen. Zoologische Jahrbücher - Abteilung für Systematik, Ökologie und Geographie der Thiere 63:407-450.
- Pax F, Van-Praët M & Doumenc D. 1987. Ordre des antipathaires. In: Traité de zoologie
 anatomie, systématique, biologie. Vol 3(Fasc. 3). Cnidaires anthozoaires. Paris: Masson. 189-210 p.
- Pearse JS & Eernisse DJ. 1982. Photoperiodic regulation of gametogenesis and gonadal growth in the sea star *Pisaster ochraceus*. Marine Biology 67:121-125.
- Peccini M & MacDonald IR. 2008. Correspondence of sea fan orientations with measured currents on hard bottom habitats of the Mississippi/Alabama continental shelf. Continental Shelf Research 28:302-308.
- Penn K, Wu D, Eisen JA & Ward N. 2006. Characterization of bacterial communities associated with deep-sea corals on Gulf of Alaska seamounts. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 72(2):1680-1683.
- Pennington JT. 1985. The ecology of fertilization of echinoid eggs: the consequences of sperm dilution, adult aggregation, and synchronous spawning. Biological Bulletin 169:417-430.
- Pettibone MH. 1989. A new species of Benhamipolynoe (Polychaeta: Polynoidae: Lepidastheniinae) from Australia, associated with the anattached stylasterid coral *Conopora adeta*. Proceedings of the Biological Society of Washington 102(2):300-304.
- Pettibone MH. 1991. Polynoid polychaetes commensal with antipatharian corals. Proceedings of the Biological Society of Washington 104(4):714-726.
- Poorman LH. 1981. Rhizochilus in the Gulf of California. The Veliger 24(2):165-166.
- Post DM. 2002. Using stable isotopes to estimate trophic position: models, methods, and assumptions. Ecology 83(3):703-718.
- Pourtales LFd. 1871. Deep-sea corals. Illustrated catalogue of the museum of comparative zoology at Harvard College 4:52-55.

- Pourtales LFd. 1874. Crinoids and corals. Zoological results of the "Hassler" expedition. Illustrated catalogue of the museum of comparative zoology at Harvard College 8:25-50.
- Pratchett MS. 2001. Influence of coral symbionts on feeding preferences of crown-ofthorns starfish *Acanthaster planci* in the western Pacific. Marine Ecology Progess Series 214:111-119.
- Probert PK, McKnight DG & Grove SL. 1997. Benthic invertebrate bycatch from a deepwater trawl fishery, Chatham Rise, New Zealand. Aquatic Conservation: Marine and Freshwater Ecosystems 7:27-40.
- Prouty NG, Roark EB, Buster NA & Ross SW. 2011. Growth rate and age distribution of deep-sea black corals in the Gulf of Mexico. Marine Ecology Progess Series 423:101-115.
- Puglise K, Hinderstein L, Marr J, Dowgiallo M & Martinez F. 2009. Mesophotic coral ecosystems research strategy: international workshop to prioritize research and management needs for mesophotic coral ecosystems, Jupiter, Florida, 12-15 July 2008. SilverSpring, MD: NOAA National Centers for Coastal Ocean Science, Center for Sponsored Coastal Ocean Research, and Office of Ocean Exploration and Research, NOAA Undersea Research Program. NOAA Technical Memorandum NOS NCCOS 98 and OAR OER 2. 24 p.
- Pyle RL. 1996. Exploring deep coral reefs: how much biodiversity are we missing? Global Biodiversity 6(1):3-7.
- Pyle RL & Chave EH. 1994. First record of the chaetodontid genus *Prognathodes* from the Hawaiian Islands. Pacific Science 48(1):90-93.
- Qi SH, Su GC, Wang YF, Liu QY & Gao CH. 2009. Alkaloids from the South China Sea black coral *Antipathes dichotoma*. Chemical and Pharmaceutical Bulletin 57(1):87-88.
- Ralph PM. 1958. New Zealand Thecate Hydroids Part II.-Families Lafoeidae, Lineolariidae, Haleciidae and Syntheciidae. Transactions of the Royal Society of New Zealand 85(2):301-356.
- Ramsay PJ & Mason TR. 1990. Development of a type zoning model for Zululand coral reefs, Sodwana Bay, South Africa. Journal of Coastal Research 6(4):829-852.
- Reed JK, Pomponi SA, Weaver D, Paull CK & Wright AE. 2005. Deep-water sinkholes and bioherms of south Florida and the Pourtales Terrace - habitat and fauna. Bulletin of Marine Science 77(2):267-296.

- Rees WJ. 1969. A brief survey of the symbiotic associations of cnidaria with mollusca. Proceedings of the Malacological Society of London 37:213-231.
- Rehder H & Wilson BR. 1975. New species of marine mollusks from Pitcairn Island and the Marquesas. Smithsonian Contributions to Zoology 203:1-16.
- Reimer JD, Sinninger F & Hickman Jr. CP. 2008. Zoanthid diversity (Anthozoa: Hexacorallia) in the Galapagos Islands: a molecular examination. Coral Reefs 27:641-654.
- Reyes J & Santodomingo N. 2002. Manual de identificacion CITES de Invertebrados Marinos de Colombia. Medellin: Servigraficas. 97 p.
- Rezak R, Gittings SR & Bright TJ. 1990. Biotic assemblages and ecological controls on reefs and banks of the Northwest Gulf of Mexico. American Zoologist 30:23-35.
- Richmond RH & Hunter CL. 1990. Reproduction and recruitment of corals: comparisons among the Caribbean, the Tropical Pacific, and the Red Sea. Marine Ecology Progress Series 60:185-203.
- Risk MJ, Sherwood OA, Nairn R & Gibbons C. 2009. Tracking the record of sewage discharge off Jeddah, Saudi Arabia, since 1950, using stable isotope records from antipatharians. Marine Ecology Progress Series 397:219-226.
- Roark EB, Guilderson TP, Dunbar RB, Fallon SJ & Mucciarone DA. 2009. Extreme longevity in proteinaceous deep-sea corals. PNAS 106(13):5204-5208.
- Roark EB, Guilderson TP, Dunbar RB & Ingram BL. 2006. Radiocarbon-based ages and growth rates of Hawaiian deep-sea corals. Marine Ecology Progress Series 327:1-14.
- Roberts CM & Hawkins JP. 1999. Extinction risk in the sea. Tree 14(6):242-246.
- Roberts CM, McClean C, Veron JEN, Hawkins JP, Allen GR, McAllister DE, Mittermeier CG, Schueler FW, Spalding M, Wells F, Vynne C & Werner TB. 2002. Marine biodiversity hotspots and conservation priorities for tropical reefs. Science 295:1280-1284.
- Rogers AD, Baco A, Griffiths H, Hart T & Hall-Spencer JM. 2007. Corals on seamounts. Supplementary material (including Appendix 8.1). In: Pitcher TJ, Morato T, Hart PJB, Clark MR, Haggan N, Santos RS, editors. Seamounts: Ecology, Conservation and Management Fish and Aquatic Resources Series. Oxford, United Kingdom: Blackwell.
- Romero XM. 1997. Ecuador's vanishing black corals. Aquaticus: Journal of the Shedd Aquarium 26(2):21-25.

- Rooney J, Donham E, Montgomery A, Spalding H, Parrish F, Boland R, Fenner D, Gove J & Vetter O. 2010. Mesophotic coral ecosystems in the Hawaiian Archipelago. Coral Reefs 29(2):361-367.
- Rosell NC. 1981. Crustacea: Cirripedia. In: Crosnier A, editor. Résultats des Campagnes Musorstom I - Philippines (18-28 Mars 1976). Paris: Orstom. p 277-307.
- Rossi S & Snyder MJ. 2001. Competition for space among sessile mrine invertebrates: changes in HSP70 expression in two Pacific enidarians. Biological Bulletin 201:385-393.
- Roule L. 1905. Description des Antipathaires et Cérianthaires recueillis par S.A.S. le Prince de Monaco dans L'Atlantique nord (1886-1902). Fascicule XXX. Monaco: Imprimerie de Monaco.
- Sakai K. 1998. Effect of colony size, polyp size, and budding mode on egg production in a colonial coral. Biological Bulletin 195:319-325.
- Sammarco PW. 1982. Polyp bail out: an escape reponse to environmental stress and a new means of reproduction in corals. Marine Ecology Progess Series 10:57-65.
- Sammarco PW & Coll JC. 1992. Chemical adaptations in the Octocorallia: evolutionary considerations. Marine Ecology Progess Series 88:93-104.
- Sanchez JA. 1999. Black coral-octocoral distribution patterns on Imelda Bank, a deepwater reef, Colombia, Caribbean Sea. Bulletin of Marine Science 65(1):215-225.
- Sanchez JA, Zea S & Diaz JM. 1998. Patterns of octocoral and black coral distribution in the oceanic barrier reef-complex of Providencia Island, Southwestern Caribbean. Caribbean Journal of Science 34(3-4):250-264.
- Santiago-Vazquez LZ, Brück TB, Brück WM, Duque-Alarcon AP, McCarthy PJ & Kerr RG. 2007. The diversity of the bacterial communities associated with the azooxanthellate hexacoral *Cirrhipathes lutkeni*. The ISME Journal 1:654-659.
- Schiaparelli S, Barucca M, Olmo E, Boyer M & Canapa A. 2005. Phylogenetic relationships within Ovulidae (Gastropoda: Cypraeoidea) based on molecular data from the 16S rRNA gene. Marine Biology 147:411-420.
- Schiaparelli S & Metivier B. 2000. On the identity of "*Vermetus*" *roussaei* Vaillant, 1871 (Mollusca, Caenogastropoda, Vermetidae), with the description of a new species. Zoosystema 22(4):677-687.

- Schmidt H. 1972. Die Nesselkapseln der Anthozoen und ihre Bedeutung für die phylogenetische Systematik. Helgoländer Wissentschaftliche Meeresuntersuchungen 23:422-458.
- Schmidt H & Zissler D. 1979. Die Spermien der Anthozoen und ihre phylogenetische Bedeutung. Zoologica 44(129):1-97.
- Schultze L. 1896a. Antipathiden von Ternate nach den Sammlungen Prof. W. Kükenthal's. Zoologischer Anzeiger 19:89-92.
- Schultze L. 1896b. Beitrag zur Systematik der Antipatharien. Abhandlungen der Senckenbergischen naturforschenden Gesellschaft 23(1):1-39.
- Schultze LS. 1902. Die Antipatharien der deutschen Tiefsee-Expedition 1898-1899.
 Wissentschaftliche Ergebnisse der Deutschen Tiefsee-Expedition auf dem Dampfer "Valdivia" 1998-1899. p 87-100.
- Schultze LS. 1903. Die Antipatharien der deutschen Tiefsee-Expedition 1898-1899. In: Chun C, editor. Wissentschaftliche Ergebnisse der Deutschen Tiefsee-Expedition auf dem Dampfer "Valdivia" 1998-1899. Jena, Germany: Verlag von Gustav Fischer. p 87-100.
- Schwartzman G & Opresko DM. 1992. Infrared spectrum of the skeletal axis of antipatharian corals (Cnidaria: Anthozoa). Bulletin of Marine Science 50(2):352-356.
- Scoccia F & Gaino E. 2010. Mesenterial filaments of the black coral *Cirrhipathes* cfr. *anguina* provide a home to developing nauplii. Symbiosis 50:151-156.
- Seminoff JA, Jones TT & Marshall GJ. 2006. Underwater behaviour of green turtles monitored with video-time-depth recorders: what's missing from dive profiles? Marine Ecology Progess Series 322:269-280.
- Seminoff JA, Resendiz A & Nichols WJ. 2002. Diet of East Pacific Green Turtles (Chelonia mydas) in the Central Gulf of California, Mexico. Journal of Herpetology 36(3):447-453.
- Sherwood OA & Edinger EN. 2009. Ages and growth rates of some deep-sea gorgonian and antipatharian corals of Newfoundland and Labrador. Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences 66(1):142-152.
- Sherwood OA, Jamieson RE, Edinger EN & Wareham VE. 2008. Stable C and N isotopic composition of cold-water corals from the Newfoundland and Labrador continental slope: Examination of trophic, depth and spatial effects. Deep-Sea Research I 55:1392-1402.

- Shick JM & Dykens JA. 1985. Oxygen detoxification in algal-invertebrate symbioses from the Great Barrier Reef. Oecologia 66:33-41.
- Shick JM, Hoffmann RJ & Lamb AN. 1979. Asexual reproduction, population structure, and genotype-environment interactions in sea anemones. American Zoologist 19(3):699-713.
- Shih HT & Mok HK. 1996. *Quadrella maculosa* Alcock, 1898, a Genus and Species of Shallow-water Xanthid Crab (Brachyura: Xanthoidea: Trapeziidae) New to Taiwan. Zoological Studies 35(2):146-148.
- Silberfeld E. 1909. Diagnosen neuer japanischer Antipatharien aus der Sammlung von Herrn Prof. Doflein (München). Zoologischer Anzeiger 34:760-763.
- Singh H, Armstrong R, Gilbes F, Eustice R, Roman C, Pizarro O & Torres J. 2004. Imaging Coral I: Imaging Coral Habitats with the SeaBED AUV. Subsurface Sensing Technologies and Applications 5(1):25-42.
- Sink KJ, Boshoff W, Samaai T, Timm PG & Kerwath SE. 2006. Observations of the habitats and biodiversity of the submarine canyons at Sodwana Bay. South African Journal of Science 102:466-474.
- Sinninger F, Montoya-Burgos JI, Chevaldonne P & Pawlowski J. 2005. Phylogeny of the order Zoantharia (Anthozoa, Hexacorallia) based on the mitochondrial ribosomal genes. Marine Biology 147:1121-1128.
- Sinninger F, Reimer JD & Pawlowski J. 2008. Potential of DNA sequences to identify zoanthids (Cnidaria: Zoantharia). Zoological Science 25:1253-1260.
- Snijders N & Fransen CHJM. 2010. *Pseudopontonides plumosus* sp. nov., a new cnidarian-associated pontoniine shrimp (Crustacea, Decapoda, Palaemonidae) from Curacao. Zootaxa 2372:7-14.
- Soule DF & Soule JD. 1972. Ancestrulae and body wall morphogenesis of some Hawaiian and eastern Pacific Smittinidae (Bryozoa). Transactions of the American Microscopical Society 91(3):251-260.
- Spotte S. 1996. New records of association for the anemone shrimp *Periclimenes pedersoni* Chace, 1958 (Decapoda, Caridea): the bivalve mollusk *Lima scabra* and the black coral *Antipathes pennacea*. Crustaceana 69(4):545-547.
- Spotte S, Heard R, W. & Babucis PM. 1994. Pontoniine Shrimps (Decapoda: Caroidea: Palaemonidae) of the Northwest Atlantic. IV. *Periclimensis antipathophilus* New Species. A Black Coral Associate from the Turks and Caicos Islands and Eastern Honduras. Bulletin of Marine Science 55(1):212-227.

- Stewart B. 1996. Growth dynamics of the radial shields of the euryalid snake star *Astrobrachion constrictum* (Echinodermata: Ophiuroidea). Invertebrate Biology 115(4):321-330.
- Stewart B. 1998. Can a snake star earn its keep? Feeding and cleaning behaviour in Astrobrachion constrictum (Farquhar) (Echinodermata: Ophiuroidea), a euryalid brittle-star living in association with the black coral, Antipathes fiordensis (Grange, 1990). Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology 221:173-189.
- Stewart BG & Mladenov PV. 1997. Population structure, growth and recruitment of the euryalinid brittle-star *Astrobrachion constrictum* (Echinodermata: Ophiuroidea) in Doubtful Sound, Fiordland, New Zealand. Marine Biology 127:687-697.
- Stimson JS. 1978. Mode and timing of reproduction in some common hermatypic corals of Hawaii and Enewetak. Marine Biology 48:173-184.
- Strychar KB, Hamilton LC, Kenchington EL & Scott DB. 2007. Genetic circumscription of deep-water coral species in Canada using 18S rRNA. pp. 679-690. In: Freiwald A, Roberts JM, editors. Cold-water Corals and Ecosystems. Berlin Heidelberg: Springer-Verlag.
- Summers SLM. 1910. Antipatharians from the Indian Ocean. Journal of the Royal Microscopical Society 1910(June):272-281.
- Szmant AM. 1986. Reproductive ecology of Caribbean reef corals. Coral Reefs 5:43-54.
- Tazioli S, Bo M, Boyer M, Rotinsulu H & Bavestrello G. 2007. Ecological observations of some common antipatharian corals in the marine park of Bunaken (North Sulawesi, Indonesia). Zoological Studies 46(2):227-241.
- Thompson JV. 1835. Discovery of the metamorphosis in the second type of the cirripedes, Viz. the *Lepades*, completing the natural history of these singular animals, and confirming their affinity with the crustacea. Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London 125:355-358.
- Thomson JA. 1905. Scotia Collections: Scottish Antarctic Expedition Report on the Antipatharians. Proceedings of the Royal Physical Society of Edinburgh 16:76-79.
- Thomson JA & Rennet N. 1931. Alcyonaria, Madreporaria, and Antipatharia. Australasian Antaractic Expedition 1911-14 Scientific Reports Series C-Zoology and Botany 9(3):46pp.
- Thomson JA & Simpson JJ. 1905. Report on the Antipatharia collected by Professor Herdman, at Ceylon, in 1902. pp 93-106. Report to the Government of Ceylon on

the Pearl-Oyster Fisheries of the Gulf of Manaar Supplementary Report 25. London: Royal Society.

- Tirmizi NM & Khan B-u-N. 1979. Two species of *Chirostylus* from the Indian Ocean with observations on the generic characters (Decapoda, Chirostylidae). Crustaceana Supplement 5:77-88.
- Tissot BN, Yoklavich MM, Love MS & Amend M. 2006. Benthic invertebrates that form habitat on deep banks off southern California, with special reference to deep sea coral. Fishery Bulletin 104(2):167-181.
- Torres JL, Armstrong RA & Weil E. 2008. Enhanced ultraviolet radiation can terminate sexual reproduction in the broadcasting coral species *Acropora cervicornis* Lamarck. Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology 358:39-45.
- Totton AK. 1923. Coelenterata. Part III-Antipatharia (and their cirripede commensals). British Antarctic ("Terra Nova") Expedition, 1910, Natural History Report Zoology 5(3):97-120.
- Tsounis G, Rossi S, Grigg RW, Santangelo G, Bramanti L & Gili JM. 2010. The exploitation and conservation of precious corals. Oceanography and Marine Biology: an Annual Review 48:161-212.
- Tsuda RT, Amesbury SS & Moras SC. 1977. Preliminary observations on the algae, corals, and fishes inhabiting the sunken ferry "Fujikawa Maru" in Truk lagoon. Atoll Research Bulletin 212:1-6.
- Van Pesch AJ. 1914. The Antipatharians of the Siboga Expedition. Siboga-Expeditie, 17. Leyden: E.J. Bill. 258 p.
- Van Woesik R, Lacharmoise F & Köksal S. 2006. Annual cycles of solar insolation predict spawning times of Caribbean corals. Ecology Letters 9:390-398.
- Vargas R. 2000. *Periclimenes murcielagensis*, a new species of shrimp (Crustacea: Decapoda: Palaemonidae) living on black coral from the Pacific coast of Costa Rica. Proceedings of the Biological Society of Washington 113(1):17-23.
- Vega R, Vega R & Luque AA. 2002. Coralliophila kaofitorum, a new species (Gastropoda: Coralliophilidae) from the Canary Islands living on Antipathes wollastoni (Cnidaria: Anthozoa: Antipatharia). The Nautilus 116(2):50-55.
- Vermeij MJA, Sampayo E, Broeker K & Bak RPM. 2004. The reproductive biology of closely related coral species: gametogenesis in *Madracis* from the southern Caribbean. Coral Reefs 23:206-214.

- Verrill AE. 1869. Review of the corals and polyps of the west coast of America. Transactions of the Connecticut Academy of Arts and Sciences 1(2):377-570.
- Verrill AE. 1928. Hawaiian shallow water Anthozoa. Bernice P Bishop Museum Bulletin 49:3-30.
- Von Koch G. 1878. Zur Phylogenie der Antipatharia. Morphologisches Jahrbuch 4(Suppl.):74-86.
- Wagner D, Brugler MR, Opresko DM, France SC, Montgomery AD & Toonen RJ. 2010. Using morphometrics, *in situ* observations and genetic characters to distinguish among commercially valuable Hawaiian black coral species; a redescription of *Antipathes grandis* Verrill, 1928 (Antipatharia : Antipathidae). Invertebrate Systematics 24:271-290.
- Wagner D, Papastamatiou YP, Kosaki RK, Gleason KA, McFall GB, Boland RC, Pyle RL & Toonen RJ. 2011a. New records of commercially valuable black corals (Cnidaria: Antipatharia) from the Northwestern Hawaiian Islands at mesophotic depths. Pacific Science 65(2):249-255.
- Wagner D, Pochon X, Irwin L, Toonen RJ & Gates RD. 2011b. Azooxanthellate? Most Hawaiian black corals contain *Symbiodinium*. Proceedings of the Royal Society B 278:1323-1328.
- Wagner D, Waller RG & Toonen RJ. 2011c. Sexual reproduction of Hawaiian black corals, with a review of reproduction of antipatharians (Cnidaria: Anthozoa: Hexacorallia). Invertebrate Biology 130(3):211-225.
- Wakefield TS, Farmer MA & Kempf SC. 2000. Revised description of the fine structure of *in situ* "zooxanthellae" genus *Symbiodinium*. Biological Bulletin 199:76-84.
- Wakefield TS & Kempf SC. 2001. Development of host- and symbiont-specific monoclonal antibodies and confirmation of the origin of the symbiosome membrane in a cnidarian-dinoflagellate symbiosis. Biological Bulletin 200:127-143.
- Wallace CC. 1985. Reproduction, recruitment and fragmentation in nine sympatric species of the coral genus *Acropora*. Marine Biology:217-233.
- Waller RG & Baco AR. 2007. Reproductive morphology of three species of deep-water precious corals from the Hawaiian Archipelago: *Gerardia* sp., *Corallium secundum*, and *Corallium lauuense*. Bulletin of Marine Science 81(3):533-542.
- Waller RG, Tyler PA & Gage JD. 2005. Sexual reproduction in three hermaphroditic deep-sea *Caryophyllia* species (Anthozoa: Scleractinia) from the NE Atlantic Ocean. Coral Reefs 24:594-602.

- Walton WH. 1948. Feret's statistical diameter as a measure of particle size. Nature 162:329-330.
- Ward S. 1995. The effect of damage on the growth, reproduction and storage of lipids in the scleractinian coral *Pocillopora damicornis* (Linnaeus) Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology 187(2):193-206.
- Ward S, Harrison P & Hoegh-Guldberg O. 2000. Coral bleaching reduces reproduction of scleractinian corals and increases susceptibility to future stress. Proceedings of the 9th International Coral Reef Symposium 2:1123-1128.
- Warner GF. 1981. Species descriptions and ecological observations of black corals (Antipatharia) from Trinidad. Bulletin of Marine Science 31(1):147-163.
- Warner GF. 2005. The occurrence of black corals in Jamaican reef environments, with special reference to *Stichopathes lutkeni* (Antipatharia: Antipathidae). Revista de Biologia Tropical 53(Suppl. 1):61-66.
- Weaver CS. 1961. Black coral tree and swimmer. Hawaiian Shell News 9(7):1 & 3.
- Wienberg C, Beuck L, Heidkamp S, Hebbeln D, Freiwald A, Pfannkuche O & Monteys X. 2008. Franken Mound: facies and biocoenoses on a newly-discovered "carbonate mound" on the western Rockall Bank, NE Atlantic. Facies 54(1):1-24.
- Williams B & Grottoli AG. 2010. Stable nitrogen and carbon isotope (∂^{15} N and ∂^{13} C) variability in shallow tropical Pacific soft coral and black coral taxa and implications for paleoceanographic reconstructions. Geochimica et Cosmochimica Acta 74:5280-5288.
- Williams B, Risk MJ, Ross SW & Sulak KJ. 2006. Deep-water antipatharians: proxies of environmental change. Geology 34(9):773-776.
- Williams B, Risk MJ, Ross SW & Sulak KJ. 2007. Stable isotopes data from deep-water antipatharians: 400-year records from the southeastern coast of the United States of America. Bulletin of Marine Science 81(3):437-447.
- Williams BB. 1991. Acrorhagi catch tentacles and sweeper tentacles: a synopsis of 'aggression' of actinarian and scleractinian Cnidaria. Hydrobiologia 216/217:539-545.
- Wilsanand V, Wagh AB & Bapuji M. 1999. Antibacterial activities of anthozoan corals on some marine microfoulers. Microbios 99:137-145.

- Wirtz P. 1998. Twelve invertebrate and eight fish species new to the marine fauna of Madeira, and a discussion of the zoogeography of the area. Helgoländer Meeresuntersuchungen 52:197-207.
- Wirtz P, Araujo R & Southward AJ. 2006. Cirripedia of Madeira. Helgoland Marine Research 60:207-212.
- Wirtz P & d'Udekem-d'Acoz C. 2001. Decapoda from Antipatharia, Gorgonaria and Bivalvia at the Cape Verde Islands. Helgoland Marine Research 55:112-115.
- WPRFMC. 2006. 2006 black coral science and management workshop report. Honolulu, HI. 48pp. p.
- Yoklavich M & Love MS. 2005. Christmas tree corals: a new species discovered off Southern California. The Journal of Marine Education 21(4):27-30.
- Zakai D, Levy O & Chadwick-Furman NE. 2000. Experimental fragmentation reduces sexual reproductive output by the reef-building coral *Pocillopora damicornis*. Coral Reefs 19:185-188.
- Zann LP. 1987. A review of macrosymbiosis in the coral reef ecosystem. International Journal of Parasitology 17(2):399-405.
- Zhou J & Zou R. 1984. Studies on the antipatharians of China. II. The genus *Antipathes* Tropic Oceanology 3(2):56-61.
- Zhou J & Zou R. 1987. Studies on the antipatharians of China. III. The genus *Stichopathes*. Tropic Oceanology 6(3):63-70.
- Zhou J & Zou R. 1992. Studies on the antipatharians from Zhongsha Islands waters. Tropic Oceanology 11(3):45-52.
- Zou R & Zhou J. 1982. Studies on the antipatharians of China. I. The genus *Cirrhipathes* with the description of a new species. Tropic Oceanology 1(1):82-91.
- Zou R & Zhou J. 1984. Antipatharians from Hong Kong waters with a description of a new species. Asian Marine Biology 1:101-105.